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KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.
THE DIRECTORS' REPORT
PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2008

The directors have pleasure In presenting their report and the financial statements of the company for
the period from 15 December 2008 to 12 December 2009

Principal activities and business review

Until April 2009 the principal activity of the company was the manufacture and distribution of food
products to the retall, foodservice and vending beverage market places After the business
restructuning in Apnl 2009, as detalled below, the company now operates as a sales and distnibution
company

The business performance for the period reflects the operating environment across the group's key
categories of coffee, cheese, confectionery, biscuits and other fcods

The company's resuits show a profit after tax for the period of £4 5§ millon (2008 - £6 5 milion} and
sales of £564 4 mithon (2008 - £538 2 milion) The net assets of the company decreased to £817
miflion (2008 - £203 7 million) primanly due to a dividend payment of £100 0 million and an increase in
the pension hatility of £23 8 million during the period

tn April 2009, a reorganisation of the Kraft group of companies was completed to facilitate the group
delivering its strategic goals and achieving sustainable and profitable growth by managing its business
by category across Its European markets

On 18 March 2009 Kraft Foods UK Ltd acquired 100% of the equity share capital of Kraft Foods
Internationat (EU) Limited from a fellow Kraft group subsidiary company and this company was
renamed Kraft Foods UK R&D Limited on 20 Apnit 2009

On the 19 Apni 2009 the directors approved the sale of Kraft Foods UK Ltd's stock with a book value
of £48 4 million to Kraft Foods Europe GmbH for £50 5 millon which the directors consider to be a
market value consideration

On the 20 Apnl 2009 the directors approved the sale of assets of the company's research and
development actvity to Kraft Foods UK R&D Limited and those of the food manufacturing activities to
Kraft Foods UK Production Limited for £10 mihon and £73 million respectively, the net book value of
the assets and habilties in each business The consideration was satisfied by the assumption of the
relevant habilities by each company together with an 1ssue of 10 million £1 shares by Kraft Foods UK
R&D Limited and 73 million £1 shares by Kraft Foods UK Production Limited to Kraft Foods UK Ltd
The directors also approved the sale of the assets and habilities associated with Kraft Foods UK Ltd's
service and procurement functions to the UK Branches of the Swiss entiies namely Kraft Foods
Europe Procurement GmbH and Kraft Foods Europe Services GmbH

Certain trademarks and other intellectual property held by Kraft Foods UK Ltd have been gifted to
Kraft Foods UK Intellectual Property Limited for £Nil consideration

After the completion of the restructuring Kraft Foods UK Ltd acts as a sales and distributton company
selling Kraft Foods products into the existing United Kingdom markets and customers



KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

THE DIRECTORS' REPORT (cantinued)

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009
Key performance indicators

The key performance indicators during the period, together with historical trend data, are set out in the
table below

2009 2008
Continuing operations
Growth In Sales 4 7% 6 0% Period on penod sales growth expressed
as a percentage Sales growth increased
in 2009 due to successful new product
launches and higher pricing
Gross margin 16 1% 31 8% Gross margin 1s the ratio of gross profit

to sales expressed as a percentage
Decrease due to costs of new product
launches, increased promotional activity
and the business reorganisation

Strategy and future outtook
The outlook for 2010 remains challenging as the company continues to strive for rehiable, consistent
growth The key elements to the company's strategy for growth are its sales strategy, people, values

and viston The company aims to achieve this by

1 Continuing to focus on core power brands and sales strategy where a competitive advantage can
be achieved

2 Recruiting talented and dedicated employees who are focused and passionate about their work

3 Maintaining specific values of innovation, qualty, safety, respect for communities and the
environment, integnity and openness

4 Sharning the global vision of its parent company, Kraft Foods Inc , to help people around the world
eat and live better

Business environment, principal nsks and uncertainties

The business environment in which the company operates 1s highly competitive, particularly around
product pricing, quality and health and wellness issues

In order to mitigate this nsk the company continues to monitor market prices, sell more nutntional
products, improve the quality and quantity of consumer information, market products responsibly and
to encourage healthy Iifestyles for people and their communities

Results and dividends

The profit for the period, after taxation, amounted to £5,100,000 (2008 - £6,455,000) Particulars of
dividends paid are detaiied in note 9 to the financial statements




KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

THE DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009
Financial risk management

The company's operations expose It to a variety of financial nsks that include price risk, the effects of
foreign currency exchange rates, credit nsks, lquidity, interest rates and cash flow The directors
have not delegated the responsibility of monitoring financial sk management to a sub-committee of
the board The sk management procedures are implemented by the company’s finance department
and approved by the parent company The department has specific guidehines to manage financial
nsk The company does not use financial instruments speculatively

Price nisk and foreign currency exchange risk
Following the Kraft group re-organisation in Apnl 200€ the company has imited exposure to price risk
and foreign currency exchange rnisk

Credit risk

The company has implemented policies that require appropriate credit checks on potential and
existing customers, before sales are made The amount of any exposure to any individual
counterparty 1s subject to a imit which 1s reassessed regularly

Liqurchty nsk

The company managed hquidity nsk by monitoring the balance sheet position, net intercompany
balance and funding requirements from group to ensure that the company has access to sufficient
available funds for operations and planned expansions

Interest rate and cash flow nsk

The company has interest bearing assets and interest bearing habiliies  The interest bearing assets
are cash balances and inter-company loans Interest 1s earned at vartable rates  The only interest
bearing habilities are finance lease agreements which are at fixed rates

Research and development

As previously noted the company's research and development activities were transferred to Kraft
Foods UK R&D Limited, a subsidiary company, in April 2009 From this date the company 1s now
charged by the subsidiary for research and development activities undertaken in respect of its core
products

Dtrectors
The directors who served the company durnng the penod were as follows

N Bunker
J Cook

D Courage
A Jennings
L Stigant
M Stanton
J Pipe

L Stigant was appointed as a director on 18 May 2009
M Stanton was appointed as a director on 18 May 2008
J Pipe was appointed as a director on 1 June 2009

J Cocek resigned as a director on 1 June 2009
D Courage resigned as a director on 20 April 2009



KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

THE DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009
Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors' Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that
law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law)
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affars of the company and of the profit or loss of the
company for that pericd In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistentty,
. make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

. state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements,

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s iInappropnate to presume
that the company will continue 1n business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are suffictent to show and
explain the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
posttion of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the

Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detechion of fraud and other irregularities

in so far as the directors are aware
. there 1s no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor 1s unaware, and

. the directors have taken alt steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor 1s aware of that information

Donations

Duning the period the company made the following contributions

2009 2008

£ £

Charitable donations 90,000 99 000
2009 2008

£ £

Commumty 15,000 23,000
Healthy lifestyle 73,000 76,000
Hunger 2,000 -
90,000 99,000




KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

THE DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009
Post balance sheet event

In May 2010, following its acquisition of Cadbury in February 2010, Kraft Foods Inc announced
proposals to integrate its office network in the UK  Further details of this are given in Note 31 to the
financial statements

Disabled employees

The company gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the
requirements of the job can be adequately fulfiled by a handicapped or disabled person Where
existing employees become disabled, it 1s the company's policy wherever practicabie to provide
continuing employment under normal terms and conditons and to provide traning and career
development and promotion to disabled employees wherever approprate

Employee pohicies and involvement

It 1s the company's policy to ensure that no employee or job applicant 1s treated less favourably than
another on the grounds of religion, sexual onientation, disability, race, creed, colour, nationality, ethnic
or national orngins, sex or mantal status

The company recognises the need to create and support a flexible working environment, incorporating
where possible, family fnendly policies

The company believes in and supports the development of a working environment which encourages
employee involvement in the business  Information about the company and its business 1s provided
to all employees on matters likely to be of concern to them in team briefings, a company newsletter,
an annual report and by other communications Trade Union representatives and other employee
groups regularly receive information about the business

There are formal agreements with Trade Urions regarding consultation, discussion and negotiation
Joint consultative committees discuss safety and pension matters Ad hoc consultative working parties
consider particular 1ssues

Auditor

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated therr willingness to continue in office and
a resolution to re-appoint them will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting

Registered office Signed on behalf of the directors

St George's House

Bayshil} Road

Cheltenham

Gloucestershire

GL50 3AE o,éQ‘ ;
Director
M Bare KEA

Approved by the directors on | YEPTEMSRR 20w



KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF KRAFT FOODS UK LTD
PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

We have audited the financial statements of Kraft Foods UK Lid for the penod ended
12 December 2009 which compnise the Profit and Loss Account, the Balance Sheet, the Accounting
Policies and the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been applied in ther

preparation 1s appiicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (Untted Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibiiies Statement set out on page 4, the directors
are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view Our responsibility 1s to audit the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and ireland) Those standards require us to comply
with the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors

Thus report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's member as a
body In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Compames Act 2006 and for no other purpose
We do not, In giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any
other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the
accounting polcies are appropriate to the company's circumstances and have been consistently
apphed and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements




KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF KRAFT FOODS UK LTD

(continued)
PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements

. gve a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 12 December 2009 and of its
profit for the perod then ended,

. have been properly prepared In accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, and

. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given n the Directors’ Report for the financial period for which the
financial statements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report In respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires
us to report to you If, in our opinion

. adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us, or

. the financial statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting recerds and returns, or
. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

. we have not receved all the information and explanations we require for our audit

@'&JJL GL—

STEVE FISH (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditor

31 Great George Street
Bristol
BS1 5QD

3 S‘wa 1010



KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

2009 2008
Note £000 £000
Turnover 2 564,369 539,266
Cost of sales (473,680) (367,978)
Gross profit 90,689 171,288
Distribution costs (11,413) (38,056)
Administrative expenses {67,474) (126,288)
Operating profit 3 11,802 6,944
Attnbutable to
Operating profit before exceptional items 11,802 13,535
Exceptional items 3 - (6,591)
11,802 6,944
Interest recevable and similar iIncome ] 478 7,574
Interest payable and similar charges 7 {2,312} (1,258)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 9,968 13,260
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 8 (4,868) (6,805)
Profit for the financial period 5,100 6,455

All of the operations of the company are classed as continuing

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial statements.




KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.
STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

Profit for the financial period

aftrihutable to the shareholder
Actuanal gain/(loss) in respect of defined benefit pension scheme
Deferred tax in respect of defined benefit pension scheme

Total recognised gains and losses relating to the period
Prior year adjustment

Total gains and losses recognised since the last annual report

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial statements,

.9.

2009 2008
£000 £000
5,100 6,455
(39,028) (46,972)
10,928 13,152
(23,000) (27,365)
- (321)
(23,000) (27,686)




KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.
BALANCE SHEET

12 DECEMBER 2009

12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08

Note £000 £000
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 10 25,862 32,106
Tangible assets 11 25,589 118,357
Investments 12 84,072 -

135,523 150,463

Current assets

Stocks 13 - 45,038
Debtors 14 154,708 167,760
Cash at bank 7,592 18,871
162,300 231,769
Creditors. Amounts falling due within one year 15 (172,380) (142,011)
Net current (habilities}/assets {10,080) 89,758
Total assets less current habilities 125,443 240,221
Creditors Amounts falling due after more than one year 16 (2,106) (3,382)
Provisions for habilities
Deferred taxation 18 (6,970) (23,010)
Net assets excluding pension liability 116,367 213,829
Defined benefit pension scheme liability 20 {33,973) (10,130
Net assets including pension hability 82,394 203,699

Capital and reserves

Called-up equity share capital 24 1,581 81
Share premium account 25 42,311 42,311
Profit and loss account 26 38,502 161,307
Shareholder's funds 27 82,394 203,699

These financial statements were approved by the directors and authonsed for issue on
"} SEPTEAR 20\ and are signed on their behalf by

A St /7

Director
» Riee M872

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial statements

-10 -




KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

1

Accounting policies
Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and In
accordance with applicable accounting standards

The financial statements are alsc prepared on the going concern basis and in accordance with
the Companies Act 2006 The principal accounting policies which have been applied consistently
throughout the period are set out below

Consolidation

The company was, at the end of the penod, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ancther company
incorporated outside the EEA and in accordance with Section 401 of the Companies Act 2006, 1s
not required to produce, and has not published, consoldated accounts

Cash flow statement

The directors have taken advantage of the exemption in Financial Reporting Standard No 1
{Revised 1986) from including a cash flow statement in the financial statements on the grounds
that the company 1s wholly owned and its parent publishes a consolidated cash flow statement
Turnover

Turnover comprises the selling value, after deduction of any allowances and taxes, of goods sold
in the ordinary course of business

Research and development
Research and development expenditure 1s written off in the year in which it 1s incurred
Goodwill

Goodwill anses where the purchase censideration exceeds the value of the underlying net
assets

Amortisation

Amortisation 1s calculated so as to wnite off the cost of an asset, less its estimated residual value,
over the useful economic Iife of that asset as follows

Goodwill - 20 years

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at historic cost less depreciation  Cost includes the onginal
purchase price of the asset and the costs attnbutable to bringing the asset to its working
condition for its intended use

Depreciation

Depreciation 1s calculated so as to write off the cost of an asset, less its estmated residual value,
over the useful economic life of that asset as follows

Buildings - 25to 40 years
Leasehold assets - shorter of useful economic life and lease term
Plant & Machinery - 3to 20 years

-11-



KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

1.

Accounting policies (continued)
Capital work in progress and freehold land are not depreciated
Investments in subsidiary undertakings

Investments In subsidiary undertakings are recorded at cost plus incidental expenses less any
provision for impairment Impairment reviews are performed by the directors when there has
been an indication of potentiat impairment

Impairment

The company carrnes out an imparment review of its intangible assets when a change in
circumstances or situation indicates that those assets may have suffered an impairment loss
Impairment 1s measured by comparing the carrying amount of the asset with the recoverable
amount of the associated income generating unit on a value-in-use basis Value-in-use 1s
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows

Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost compnises the direct cost of
materials and labour, and a proportion of relevant overheads Net realisable value 1s the price at
which stocks can be sold in the normal course of business, after allowing for the cost of
realisation and, where appropnate, the cost of conversion from their existing state to a finished
condition Provision 1s made where necessary for obsolete, slow moving and defective stocks

Work In progress

Work 1n progress I1s valued on the basis of direct costs plus attnbutable overheads based on
normal level of activity Provision 1s made for any foreseeable losses where appropnate No
element of profit 1s Included in the valuation of work in progress

Finance lease agreements

Where the company enters into a lease which entails taking substantially all the nsks and
rewards of ownership of an asset, the lease 1s treated as a finance lease The asset s recorded
in the balance sheet as a tangible fixed asset and i1s depreciated in accordance with the above
depreciation policies Future instalments under such leases, net of finance charges, are included
within creditors Rentals payable are apportioned between the finance element, which 1s charged
to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis, and the capital element which reduces the
outstanding oblhigation for future instalments

Operating lease agreements
Rentals applicable to operating leases where substanhally all of the benefits and nsks of

ownership remain with the lessor are charged against profits on a straight ine basis over the
period of the lease

-12 -




KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

1.

Accounting policies (continved)
Pension costs and other post-retirement benefits

The company operates a defined benefit type pension plan for the benefit of the majonty of its
employees, the assets of which are held separately from those of the company in independently
administered funds The assets of the plan are measured at market value at the balance sheet
date and the habilities are measured using the Projected Unit method The increase in the
present value of the abilities of the company's defined benefit pension scheme expected to arise
from empioyee service in the period 1s charged to operating profit The expected return on the
schemes' assets and the increase dunng the period in the present value of the schemes'
llabilities ansing from the passage of time are included in other finance income Actuanal gains
and losses are recognised In the consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses
The resuling pension scheme surplus or deficit 1s recogmised immediately on the balance sheet
net of the related deferred tax

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation 1s recognised in respect of all iming differences that have onginated but not
reversed at the balance sheet date, where transactions or events that result in an obligation to
pay more tax in the future or a nght to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance
sheet date A net deferred tax asset 1s not recognised to the extent that the transfer of economic
benefits in the future 1s uncertan Deferred tax 1s measured at the average tax rates that are
expected to apply in the penods in which iming differences are expected to reverse based on tax
rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date
Deferred tax 1s measured on an undiscounted basis

Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated In foreign currencies are translated into sterling at average exchange
rates In operation when the transaction occurred Exchange gamns and losses on settled
transactions are reported in the profit and loss account Monetary assets and habilities in foreign
currencies have been expressed n sterling at the rates ruling at the end of the penod, except
when covered by an open foreign exchange contract in which case the rate of exchange
specified in the contract ts used, and any gains or losses reported in the profit and loss account

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions for employee services received are measured
at farr value and recognised as an expense spread over the service periods for share awards
expected to vest The far value 1s measured by reference to the number and market value of the
equity instruments at the date of grant At each balance sheet date the company revises its
estimates of the number of awards that are expected to vest and recognises the impact in the
income statement with a corresponding adjustment to equity

Recharges made to the company when the share awards have vested are recognised when paid
and accounted for as a decrease 1n equity

Provision 1s also made for the cost of stock option awards, granted by the ultmate parent
company before November 2002, based on the market value of outstanding stock options at the
end of the period The costs of stock options exercised during the perod are recharged to the
company based on the spread between the 1ssue and exercise price of those options

-13-



KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FRCM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

2

Segmental information

Up until April 2009 the company undertock one class of business, being the manufacture and
distribution of food products to the retail, foodservice and vending beverage market places After
that date the company operated as a sales and distnbution company The geographical analysis
of turnover, profit on ordinary activities before taxation and net assets has been omitted as in the
opinion of the directors it would be serously prejudiciat te the interests of the company

Operating profit

Operating profit 1s stated after charging

2009 2008

£000 £000

Amortisation of intangible assets 6,244 14,484

Research and development expenditure written off 615 2,167

Depreciation of owned fixed assets 4,244 13,032

Deprectation of assets held under finance lease agreements 1,922 2,636

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 1,409 3,706

Operating lease costs

- Plant and equipment 471 2,047

- Other 383 813

Exceptional item - impairment - 6,591

2009 2008

£000 £000

Auditor's remuneration - audit of the financial statements - 292
Auditor's remuneration - other fees

- Audit of company pension scheme 38 42

Audit fees for the company are now borne on behalf of the UK group by a feliow subsidiary
undertaking and not recharged to the company An estimated allocation of the audit fee for the
penecd 1s £310,000

The company's auditor acted as auditor to the Kraft Foods Retrement Benefits Plan The
appointment of auditors to the pension scheme and the fees paid in respect of this audit are
agreed by the trustees of the scheme who act independently of the company

Depreciation of £nil (2008 £392,000) 1s included in the stock valuation at the period end This
Increased the depreciation charge in the profit and loss account

Exceptional item

In 2008 an impawment review was carried out to reflect current cashflow forecasts under FRS10
{Goodwill and intangible Assets) and FRS11 {Impairment of Fixed Assets and Goodwill) This
led to an impairment of the value of the goodwill ansing on the purchase of Terry's Suchard Ltd in
1993 by £6,591,000 This amount was included in amortisation of intangible assets

-14 -




KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009
4. Particulars of employees

The average number of staff employed by the company dunng the financial penod amounted to

2009 2008
No No
Producticn 186 649
Distribution 9 57
Sales and marketing 243 365
Administration 94 121
532 1,192

The aggregate payroll costs of the above were
2009 2008
£000 £000
Wages and salaries 26,858 51,404
Soclal security costs 2,493 4,403
Other pensicn costs 5,714 14,077
Equity-settled share-based payments 1,059 523
36,124 70,407

Other pension costs are amounts charged to operating profit and do not include amounts
credited to finance Income (see note 6), charged to finance costs (see note 7), and amounts
reccgnised in the statement of recognised gains and losses

5 Directors' remuneration

The directors’ aggregate remuneration and other payments in respect of qualifying services were

2009 2008
£000 £000
Remuneration receivable 1,119 1,260
Amounts recevable under long-term
incentive schemes
Money receivable - 130
Compensation for loss of directorship - 469
1,119 1,859

-15 -




KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

5

Directors' remuneration (centinued)

Remuneration of highest paid director

2009 2008
£000 £000
Total remuneration (excluding pension contributions) 426 314

Benefits are accruing under a defined benefits pension scheme and, at the year end the accrued
pension amounted to £31,000 (2008 - £38,000)

The number of directors who accrued benefits under company pension schemes was as follows

2009 2008
No No
Defined benefit schemes 7 7

The number of directors who received shares under a long term incentive scheme durning the
pericd were as follows

2009 2008
No No
Directors who exercised share options - 2
Directors who received shares under a long term incentive scheme 4 5

interest receivable and similar iIncome
2009 2008
£000 £000
Interest receivable on loans to fellow subsidiary companies 478 3,263
Net finance income Iin respect of defined benefit pension schemes - 4,311
478 7,574

Interest payable and similar charges

2009 2008
£000 £000
Finance charges 753 1,191
Other interest payable and similar charges 49 67
Net finance costs in respect of defined benefit pension schemes 1,510 -
2,312 1,258

-16 -




KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

NOTES TOQ THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009
8. Taxation on ordinary activities

(a) Analysis of charge in the period

2009 2008
£000 £000
Current tax
In respect of the period
UK Ceorporation tax based on the results for the period at 28%
{2008 - 28 57%) 4,049 1,086
Over/under provision In prior year 902 (193)
Total current tax 4,951 893
Deferred tax
Ornigination and reversal of iming differences (1,875) 3,240
Other deferred tax movement relating to pension scheme 1,656 2,882
Under / (Over) provision In pricr year 136 (210)
Total deferred tax (note 18) (83) 5,912
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 4,868 6,805

(b) Factors affecting current tax charge

The tax assessed on the profit on ordinary activities for the period 1s higher than the standard
rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28% (2008 - 28 57%)

2009 2008

£000 £000
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 9,968 13,260
Profit on ordinary activiies by rate of tax 2,791 3.788
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,978 4,459
Capital allowances for period less than / (In excess of) depreciation 629 3,276
Utihsation of tax losses - (5,745)
Other timing differences {417) (1,323)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous periods 902 {(193)
Non taxable stems {(112) (429)
Pension contribution relsef in excess of pension cost charge (1,656) (2,940)
Chargeable gains 836 -
Total current tax (note 8(a)) 4,951 893

(c) Factors that may affect future tax charges

No provision has been made for deferred tax on gains rolled over net of unrelieved capital tosses
Rollover relief 1s avallable provided the proceeds arising on the relevant sales, giving nse to the
gains, are remnvested in qualfying assets in a period one year before and three years after the
sale
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KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009
9 Dwvidends

Equity dividends

2009 2008
£000 £000
Paid during the year
Dividends on ordinary shares 100,000 -
10 Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill
£000
Cost
At 15 December 2008 and 12 December 2009 154,208
Amortisation
Al 15 December 2008 122,102
Charge for the period 6,244
At 12 December 2009 128,346
Net book value
At 12 December 2009 25,862
At 14 December 2008 32,106

———

Goodwill 1s being amortised on a straight-line basis over twenty years, being the period over
which the directors estimate that the values of the underlying businesses acquired are expected
to exceed the values of the underlying assets
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KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

1

12

Tangible fixed assets

Freehold Short Construction
land and leasehold Plant and work in
buildings assets machinery progress Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 15 December 2008 36,512 1,722 233,212 12,800 284,246
Additions - - 867 1,482 2,349
Disposals (3,144) - (217,433) (8,029) (228,606)
Transfers 28 - 896 {924) -
At 12 December 2009 33,396 1,722 17,542 5,329 57,989
Depreciation
At 15 December 2008 17,415 1,391 147,083 - 165,889
Charge for the penod 907 - 5,256 - 6,163
On disposals (995) - {138,657) - (139,652)
Transfers 112 - (112) - -
At 12 December 2009 17,439 1,331 13,570 - 32,400
Net book value
At 12 December 2009 15,957 331 3,972 5,329 25,589
At 14 December 2008 19,087 331 86,129 12,800 118,357

Finance lease agreements

Included within the net book value of £25,689,000 1s £2,837,000 (2008 - £4,918,000) relating to
assets held under finance lease agreements The depreciation charged to the financial
statements In the peniod In respect of such assets amounted to £1,922,000 (2008 - £2,536,000)

Capital commitments

Contracted but not provided for in the financial statements

Investments

Cost
Additions

At 12 December 2009
Net book value

At 12 December 2009
At 14 December 2008

-19 -

12 Dec 09

£000

14 Dec 08
£000
2,224

Total
£000

84,072
84,072
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KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

12

Investments (continued)
Subsidiary undertakings
All held by the company

% of voting

Country of rnghts and

incorporation Holding shares held Nature of business
Kraft Foods Middle Ordinary
East & Africa Ltd England shares 100% Darmant
Kenco Coffee Ordinary
Company Ltd England shares 100% Dormant
Kraft Foods UK Ordinary Food and beverage
Production Ltd England shares 100% production
Kraft Foods UK R&D Ordinary
Ltd England shares 100% Research & development
Kraft Foods UK
Intellectual Property Ordinary
Ltd England shares 100% Trademark owner

The investments in Kraft Foods Middle East & Africa Lid and The Kenco Coffee Company
Limited have been fully written off in previous periods and have a net book value of £Nil

On 20 April 2009 the company acquired further share capital in Kraft Foods UK Production Ltd
and Kraft Foods UK R&D Ltd for £73 mithon and £10 mullion respectively

12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08

£000 £000
Aggregate capital and reserves
Kraft Foods Middle East & Africa Ltd {(dormant) 1,050 1,050
Kenco Coffee Company Ltd {dormant) 87 87
Kraft Foods UK Production Ltd 73,661 -
Kraft Foods UK R&D Ltd 33,741 22,753
Kraft Foods UK Intellectual Property Ltd 817 -
Profit for the year
Kraft Foods Middle East & Africa Ltd (dormant) - -
Kenco Coffee Company Ltd (dormant) - -
Kraft Foods UK Production Lid 1,114 -
Kraft Foods UK R&D Ltd 2121 2,029
Kraft Foods UK Intellectual Property Ltd 817 -

Under the provision of section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 the company 1s exempt from
preparing consolidated accounts and has not done so, therefore the accounts show information
about the company as an individual entity
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KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

13 Stocks
12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08
£000 £000
Raw matenals - 9,957
Work in progress - 7,863
Finished goods - 27,218
- 45,038
On 19 Apnl 2009 the company sold its entire stock to Kraft Foods Europe GmbH
14 Debtors
12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08
£000 £000
Trade debtors 96,702 71,905
Amounts owed by group underiakings 53,941 92,564
Other debtors 103 -
Prepayments and accrued income 3,962 3,291
154,708 167,760

Amounts owed by fellow subsidiary companies include non trading balances which are

unsecured, earn interest at LIMEAN less 0 25% and are repayable on demand

15. Creditors- Amounts faling due within one year

12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08

£000 £000

Trade creditors 1,766 24,979
Amounts owed to group undertakings 92,600 22,786
Corporation tax 3,643 786
Finance lease agreements 1,590 2,212
Other creditors 1,209 9,285
Accruals and deferred income 71,572 81,963
172,380 142,011

16. Creditors Amounts falling due after more than one year

12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08

£000 £000

Finance lease agreements 2,106 3,382

.21 -




KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009
17. Commitments under finance lease agreements
Future commitments under finance lease agreements are as follows

12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08

£000 £000
Amounts payable within 1 year 1,590 2212
Amounts payable between 1 and 2 years 1,156 1,577
Amounts payable between 3 and 5 years 950 1,805

3,696 5,594

18. Deferred taxation

The movement in the deferred taxation provision during the period was

2009 2008

£000 £000
Provision brought forward 23,010 19,980
Transfer to fellow group subsidiaries (14,301) -
Profit and loss account movement anising during the period (1,739) 3,030
Provision carried forward 6,970 23,010

The provision for deferred taxation consists of the tax effect of iming differences in respect of

12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08

Provided Unprovided Provided Unprovided
£000 £000 £000 £000

Excess of taxation allowances over
deprectation on fixed assets 2,022 - 16,735 -
Chargeable gains - held over 5,810 - 6,794 -
Other timing differences (862) - {519) -
Chargeable gains - rolled over - 6,358 - 5,432
6,970 6,358 23,010 5,432

As part of the 2009 reorganisation and the transfer of assets to other fellow subsidiary entities the
company transferred the associated deferred tax hability, ansing in respect of accelerated capital
allowances, to the relevant entity at net bock value

A number of changes to the UK Corporation tax system were announced in the June 2010
Budget Statement The Finance (No 2) Act 2010, which was substantively enacted in July 2010,
includes legislation reducing the main rate of corporation tax from 28 per cent to 27 per cent from
1 April 2011 Further reductions to the main rate are proposed to reduce the rate by 1 per cent
per annum to 24 per cent by 1 April 2014 The changes had not been substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date and, therefore, are not included in these financial statements

If 1t had been enacted at the balance sheet date, the estimated effect of the changes enacted in
the Finance (No 2) Act 2010 would be tc decrease the deferred tax liabiity prowvided at 12
December 2009 by £242 000, to decrease the deferred tax asset ansing on the pension liability
by £472,000 and to decrease profit by £230,000
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KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

19 Share-based payments

Performance Incentive Plan

Under a Performance Incentive Plan eligible employees of the company are granted a "Deferred
Stock Unit Award" {the "Award") with respect to a number of shares (the "Deferred Shares”) of
the Common Stock of Kraft Foods Inc  The employee does not have the nght to vote the
Deferred Shares or receive dividends but 1s entitled to receive cash payments in heu of dvidends
otherwise payable The Awards are non transferable and may not be assigned, hypothecated or
otherwise pledged The Awards granted to eligible employees have no performance cntena
attached to them other than the requirement that the employee remains in employment of the
Kraft Foods Inc group from award date to vesting date If an employee moves within the Kraft
Foods Inc group then an inter-group reallocation 1s made and the charge for the Award 1s ime
apportioned The Awards generally vest on the third anniversary of the grant date

Movements in the total number of deferred shares and therr weighted-average grant date fair
values (WAFV) are as follows

2009 2008
Number Number
of shares WAFV of shares WAFV
Opening balance 135,580 £16 36 199,337 £17 07
Granted 47,640 £17 25 42,040 £15 39
Vested (60,283) £16 40 {76,704) £17 58
Forfeited (1,077) £15 39 (22,903) £14 54
Inter-group reallocation (85,530) £1672 (6,190) £16 74
Closing balance 36,330 £16 74 135,580 £16 36

The farr value of deferred stock 1s determined based on the number of shares granted and the
market value at date of grant  The total charge for the period relating to employee share-based
payments under this plan was £992,000 (2008 - £389,000), all of which related to equity-settled
share-based payment transactions
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KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

19 Share-based payments (continued)

Executive share option scheme

The company has a share option scheme for eligible employees {including directors) Options are
granted at an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying stock on the date of
grant Share options generally become exercisable one-third each year on the first anniversary of
the grant date and have a maximum term of ten years The options are settled in equity once
exercised

if the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the options
expire Options are not transferrable and are forfeited if the employee leaves the company before
the options are exercised If an employee moves within the Kraft group then an inter-group
re-allocation 1s made on a time apporttoned basis

Details of the number of share options and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP) during
the period are as follows

2009 2008
Number Number
of shares WAEP of shares WAEP
Opening balance 267,569 £17 18 352,705 £17 30
Options exercised {36,972) £17 23 {34,675) £20 94
Options cancelled/forfeited {61,060) £21 80 {24,076) £1573
New options 1ssued in period 154,000 £16 52 158,361 £14 89
Altna group adjustment - (159,599)
Inter-group reallocation (126,272) (25,417)
Closing balance 197,265 £17 31 267,569 £17 18
Exercisable at the end of the penod 144,498 £17 83 188,447 £18 14

In February 2008 options were granted at an exercise price of £16 52 (2008 £14 89) The
estimated far value of the options granted was £1 87 (2008 £2 27) The far values were
calculated by Kraft Foods Inc using a modified Black Scholes methodology

The weighted-average Black-Scholes farr value assumptions were as follows

Risk-free interest rate 2 46%
Expected lfe 6 years
Expected volatiity 21 36%
Expected dividend yield 4 90%
Farr value at grant date £188
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

19,

20,

Share-based payments (continued)

For options outstanding at the end of the period the range of exercise prices and ther weighted
average remaining life in years (WARL} are as follows

2009 2008
Number Number

Range of exercise prices of shares WARL of shares WARL
£001 -£500 10,537 013 6,373 112
£501 -£1000 - - 17,829 0355
£1001-£1500 66,543 556 140,815 7 86
£1501-£2000 55,880 920 - -
£2001-£2500 64,305 150 102,552 250
Closing balance 197,265 478 267,569 4 87

The weighted average share price dunng the period for options exercised over the period was
£16 3B (2008 £2149) The total charge for the period relating to employee share-based
payments under this plan was £67,000 (2008 - £143,000), all of which related to equity-settled
share-based payment transactions

Pensions and other post retirement benefits

The company 1s the sponsoring employer to the Kraft Foods Retirement Benefits Plan ("the
Plan"), a UK contributory pension scheme This plan 1s of a defined benefit type and 1s funded
with the assets being held in a separate trustee administered fund  The Plan provides benefits
to employees of the company, its subsidiaries and UK branches of other Kraft entities

The amounts recognised n the profit and loss account are as follows
12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08

£000 £Q00
Amounts charged to operating profit
Current service cost 5,261 11,382
Past service cost 453 3,795
Gains on settlements and curtallments - (1,100)
Total operating charge 5,714 14,077
Amounts included in other finance cost/{income)
Expected return on scheme assets (26,348) (32,291)
Interest on scheme liabilities 27,858 27,980
Cther finance cost/(income) 1,510 (4,311)
Total charge to the profit and loss account 7,224 9,766
Actual return on scheme assets 60,399 (78,434)

Other finance cost I1s included in the profit and loss account within interest payable and similar
charges

At 12 December 2009 the cumulative amount of actuanal losses recognised in the statement of
total recognised gains and losses 1s £78 4 million (2008 - £39 3 million)
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KRAFT FOODS UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009
20. Pensions and other post retirement benefits (continued)

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows
12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08

£000 £000

Present value of funded obligations (507,671) (424 683)
Fair value of scheme assets 460,486 410,614
(47,185) (14,069)

Related deferred tax asset 13,212 3,939
Net pension habilty (33,973) {10,130)

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation scheme are as follows
12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08

£000 £000
OCpening defined benefit obligation 424,683 472,608
Current service cost 5,261 11,382
Past service cost 453 3,795
Gains on curtallments - (1,100)
Interest on scheme lLiabilities 27,858 27,980
Actuanal loss/(gain) 73,079 (63,753)
Contrnibutions by scheme participants 294 441
Benefits paid (23,958) {26,670)
Closing defined benefit cbigation 507,670 424 683

Changes n the farr value of scheme assets are as follows
12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08

£000 £000
Opening fair value of scheme assets 410,614 495,219
Expected return on scheme assets 26,348 32,291
Contrnbutions by employer 13,137 20,058
Contnbutions by scheme participants 294 441
Actuanal gain/{loss) 34,051 (110,725)
Benefits paid (23,958) (26,670)
Closing fair value of scheme assets 460,486 410,614

The Imited company expects to contribute £8,352,000 to the defined benefit pension scheme n
2010

The far value of the major categaries of scheme assets and the expected rate of return at the
balance sheet date are as follows

Expected return Fair value of assets
12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08 12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08
% % £000 £000
Equities 4 80 825 207,219 160,139
Bonds 6 00 530 253,267 250,475
Fair value of scheme assets 460,486 410,614
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

20 Pensions and other post retirement benefits (continued)

The Scheme assets do not include any of Kraft Foods UK Limited's own financial instruments, or
any property occupied by Kraft Foods UK Limited

The expected return on assets 1s determined by considering the expected returns available on
the assets underlying the current investment portfollo  Expected returns on equity investments
reflect a 10 year median return  For bonds the expected yield has been calculated based on the
redemption yield

Actuanal assumptions

The full actuanal valuation of the Plan carned out as at 1 April 2007 by Mercers, actuanal
consultants to the Plan, has been updated to 14 December 2008 by Watson Wyait Limited,
actuarial consultants to the company

The monrtality assumptions used have been aligned with those adopted at the 2007 funding
valuation The tables used and life expectancies for a male aged 65 are

Table Life expectancy
Current pensioners PA92 medium cohort (Year of birth} +2 years 19 8 years
Other members PAS2 medium cohort {Year of birth) +1 year 22 2 years

The principal actuarial assumphons as at the balance sheet date were
12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08

% %
Discount rate 575 675
Expected return on scheme assets 6.50 6 50
Rate of iIncrease n salaries 375 375
Rate of increase In deferred pensions 3.00 300
Inflation 3.00 300
Rate of increase in pensions in payment - LP| 5% 3.00 300
Rate of increase 1n pensions in payment - LPI 2 5% 2.25 225

Actuanal valuation

The latest full actuanal valuation of the pension Plan was carned out as at 1 Apnl 2007 using the
projected unit method At that date the market value of the assets was £483,5600,000 and the
actuarial value of those assets represented 96% of the value of the benefits that had accrued to
members, after allowing for expected future increases In earnings  Following the valuation, as
advised by the Plan actuary and agreed by the Trustees, contributions to the Plan are being
made at 20% of pensionable salanes, plus annual contributions of £5 5 miilion for the penod from
1 Apnil 2008 to 30 September 2012 to enable the Plan to meet its habilities as they falldue  The
assets were taken at market value and no allowance was made for discretionary pension
increases

The next actuanal valuation of the Plan i1s currently being undertaken with an effective date of 1
April 2010
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20

21,

22,

23.

24,

Pensions and other post retirement benefits (continued)

Amounts for the current and previcus four periods are as follows
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Defined benefit cbligation (507,670) (424,683) {472,608) (478,297) (464,448)
Fair value of scheme assets 460,486 410614 495219 415,188 360,203
(Deficit)/surplus in the scheme (47,184) (14,089) 22611 (63,109) (104,245)
Experience adjustments on scheme

habilities {(1,768) 20,000 (8,421) 2,343 3,113

Expernience adjustments on scheme assets  (34,051) 110,725 16,646 (11,783) (42,088)

Commitments under operating leases

At 12 December 2009 the company had annual commitments under non-canceliable operating
leases as set out below

12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08
Land and Other Land and Other
buildings ltems buildings Items
£000 £000 £000 £000

Operating leases which expire

Within 1 year 112 - - 440
Within 2 to 5 years 575 - - 1,013
After more than 5 years - - 735 -
687 - 735 1,453

Guarantees

The company has provided guarantees of £1,400,000 (2008 - £1,296,000) to HMRC n respect of
the import of goods There are no ather guarantees In place at 12 December 2008 (2008 - £Nil)

Related party transactions

The company undertakes transactions with subsidiaries and fellow subsidianes which are
eliminated on consolidation In the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate parent
company The company has taken advantage of the exemption under Financial Reporting
Standard No 8 not to disclose such transactions

There were no other transactions during the period, which were matenal either to the group or
the counterparty, and which are required to be disclosed under the provisions of Financial
Reporting Standard No 8
Share capital
Authorised share capital:

12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08

£000 £000
10,000,000 (2008 - 410,000} Ordinary shares of £1 each 10,000 410
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PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

24

25.

26.

27

28

Share capital (continued)

Allotted, called up and fully paid.

12 Dec 09

No
Ordinary shares of £1 each 1,581,234

14 Dec 08
No £000
81,234 81

During the period the company i1ssued 1,500,000 ordinary £1 shares to its immediate parent
company, Kraft Foods Schweiz Holdings GmbH, in exchange for 1,500,000 shares in Kraft Foods

UK R&D Ltd

Share premium account

There was no movement on the share premium account during the financial period

Profit and loss account

Balance brought forward as previously reported
Prior year adjustment

Balance brought forward restated
Profit for the financial penod

Equity dividends

Defined pension benefit scheme
Mcvement in share-based payments

Balance carned forward

Reconciliation of movements in shareholder's funds

Profit for the financial period

New ordinary share capital subscrbed

Equity dividends

Actuanal (loss) / gain on defined benefit pension scheme
Movement in share-based payments

Net reduction to shareholder's funds
Opening shareholder's funds
Prior year adjustment

Closing shareholder's funds

Post balance sheet events

2009 2008
£000 £000
161,307 189,649
- (321)
161,307 189,328
5,100 6,455
(100,000) -
{28,100) (33,820}
195 (656)
38,502 161,307
12 Dec 09 14 Dec 08
£000 £000
5,100 6,455
1,500 -
(100,000} -
(28,100) (33,820)
195 (656)
(121,305) (28,021)
203,699 232,041
- (321)
82,394 203,699

In May 2010, following its acquisition of Cadbury n February 2010, Kraft Foods Inc announced
proposals to integrate its office network in the UK As a result, subject to employee consultation,
Kraft Foods UK Ltd would move from its office in Cheltenham in 2011 and management and staff

would transition to new offices over the next 18 months

quantify any financial mpact of this change
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERIOD FROM 15 DECEMBER 2008 TO 12 DECEMBER 2009

29. Ultimate parent company

At 12 December 2009 the immediate parent company 1s Kraft Foeds Schweiz Holdings GmbH, a

company Iincorporated in Switzerland  This 1s the parent company of the smallest group to
consolidate these financial statements

At 12 December 2009 the company's ulimate parent company and controlling party is Kraft
Foods Inc, incorporated in the United States of Amernica This 1s the parent company of the
largest group to consolidate these financial statements Coples of the consolidated financial
statements of Kraft Foods Inc are available on applcation from the Company Secretary, St
George's House, Bayshill Road, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, GL50 3AE

-30-




Morningstar® Document Research
FORM 10-K

KRAFT FOODS INC - KFT
Filed: February 25, 2010 (period: December 31, 2009)

Annual report which provides a comprehensive overview of the company for the past year

THESE ACCOUNTS
FORW PART OF THE |
CROUP ACCOUNTS
OF COMPANY

u"m"n-g-'.---

COMPANIES HOUSE




UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D C 20548

{Mark one} FORM 10-K

[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009

OR

[ ] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15({d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 1-16483

‘Sl{ratt foods

Kraft Foods Inc
{Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

virgima 52-2284372
(State or other jurisdiction of mcorporation or organization) (| R S Employer ldentification No )
Three Lakes Dnive, Northfield, llhinois 60093
(Address of principal executive offices) {Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code 847-646-2000
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Class A Common Stock, no par value New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act None

indicate by check mark If the registrant 1s a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined In Rule 405 of the Secunties Act Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant 1s not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act Yes 0O No X

Note Checking the box above will not relieve any registrant required to file reports pursuant te Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act
from thewr obligations under those Sections

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secunties
Exchange Act of 1834 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has
been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232 405 of this chapter) duning the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files) Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to ltem 405 of Regulation S-K 15 not contained heren, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, In definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part lll of this Form 10-K
ar any amendment to this Form 10-K O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant 1s a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, 8 non-accelerated filer, or a smaller

reporting company See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer" and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act {Check one)

Large accelerated filer X Accelerated filer O Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O
{Do not check If a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant i1s a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act) Yes 0 No X

The aggregate market value of the shares of Class A Common Stock held by non-affillates of the registrant, computed by reference to
the closing price of such stock on June 30, 2009, was $37 billion At January 29, 2010, there were 1,479,371,197 shares of the registrant’s
Class A Common Stock outstanding

Documents Incorporated by Reference

Portions of the registrant's definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Secunties and Exchange Commussion in connection with its

annual meeting of shareholders to be held on May 18, 2010 are incorporated by reference into Part (Il hereof

. - r b sk I
‘\.: ,", P ¥ el YO
-
-‘?u [ T
oy v *
.)’Tlﬁg‘-v R .
.y “a
FlAee o

PR

Source KRAFT FOODS INC, 10-K February 25 2010 Powezat, k31 mgsa Dooimwn, Feaearen ™




Part | -
Item 1
Rem 1A
ltem 1B
Item 2
ltem 3
ltem 4

Part It -
ltem 5

ltem 6
Item 7

Item 7A
Item 8

Item @

ltem SA

Item 9B

Part lll -
ltem 10
Item 11
ltem 12

ltem 13
Item 14

Part IV -
Item 15

In thus report, “Kraft Foods " *we,” "us” and “our” refers to Kraft Foods inc and subsidianes, and “Commen Stock” refers lo Kraft Foods' Class A

commeon stock

Kraft Foods Inc
Table of Contents

Business

Risk Factors

Unresolved Staff Comments

Properties

Legal Proceedings

Submussion of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters
and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Selected Financial Data

Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations

Dhscussion and Analysis

Critical Accounting Policies

Commodity Trends

Liquidity

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate Contractual
QObligations

Equity and Dividends

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended December 31,
2009, 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Equity for the years ended December 31,
2009, 2008 and 2007

Consclidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and
Financial Disclosure

Controls and Procedures

Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Other Information

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Executive Compensation

Secunty Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
and Related Stockholder Matters

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director
Independence

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Signatures

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Financial Statement Schedule
Valuation and Qualfying Accounts

Source KRAFT FOODS INC 10-X, February 25 201¢

veng by Momna g

Caciar At R

Page No

~a

1
10
14
14
14
14

15
17

18
19
37
43
44

47
48
53

55
56

57

58
59

105
105
106
107
108

108
108
108

108
108

109
112

(007
N



PART |
Item 1 Business
General

Kraft Foods I1s the world's second largest food company, with revenues of $40 4 biflion and earnings from continuing operations before income
taxes of $4 3 billion in 2009 Kraft Foods was incorporated in 2000 in the Commonwealth of Virgima We have approximately 97,000 employees
worldwide, and we manufacture and market packaged food products, including snacks, beverages, cheese, convenient meats and various
packaged grocery products We sell our products to consumers in approximately 160 countries At December 31, 2008, we had operations in mere
than 70 countries and made our products at 159 manufacturing and processing facilties worldwide At December 31, 2008, we had net assets of
$25 9 bilion and gross assets of $66 7 bilion We are a member of the Dow Jones Industrial Average, Standard & Poor's 500, the Dow Jones
Sustatnability Index and the Ethibel Sustainability Index

At December 31, 2009, our portfoho included nine brands with annual revenues exceeding $1 billion each Kraft cheeses, dinners and dressings,
Oscar Mayer meals Philadelphia cream cheese, Maxwell House and Jacobs coffee, Nabisco cookies and crackers and its Oreo cookie brand,
Milka chocolates, and LU tiscuits Our portfolio included approximately 50 brands which each generate annual revenues of more than $100
milion

Prior to June 13, 2001, Kraft Foods was a whoily owned subsidiary of Altria Group, Inc (*Altna”) On June 13, 2001, we completed an initial pubhe
offering of 280,000,000 shares of our Commaon Steck In the first quarter of 2007, Altria spun off its remaining interest (88 0%) in Kraft Foods on a
pro rata basis to Altria stockholders in a tax-free transaction Effective as of the close of business on March 30, 2007, all Kraft Foods shares
owned by Altnia were chstributed to Altnia's stockholders, and our separation from Altna was completed

Because Kraft Foods Inc 1s a holding company, our principal source of funds 1s from our subsidiaries Our wholly owned subsidiaries currently are
not Imited by lang-term debt or other agreements In their ability to pay cash dividends or make other distnbutions with respect to their common
stock

Reportable Segments

We manage and report operating results through three geographic units Kraft Foods North America, Kraft Foods Europe and Kraft Foods
Developing Markets We manage the operations of Kraft Foods North Amenca and Kraft Foods Europe by product category, and we manage the
operations of Kraft Foods Developing Markets by location Qur reportable segments are U S Beverages, U S Cheese, U S Convenient Meals,
U S Grocery, US Snacks, Canada & North America Foodservice, Kraft Foods Europe (formerdy known as European Union) and Kraft Foods
Developing Markets

In January 2009, we began mplementing changes to our operating structure based on our Orgamizing For Growth imtiative and the Kraft Foods
Europe Reorganization In ine with our strategies, we are reorganizing our European operations te function on a pan-European centrahized
category management and value chain model, and we changed how we work in Europe in two key ways

+  We transitioned our European Biscuit, Chocolate, Coffee and Cheese categonies to fully integrated business units, further
strengthening our focus on these core categones To ensure decisions are made faster and closer to our customers and consumers,
each category Is fully accountable for its financial results, including marketing, manufactuning and R&D Category leadership, based in
Zunch, Switzerland, reports to the Kraft Foods Europe President These business units now compnise the Kraft Foods Europe
segment

+  We aligned the reporting of our Central Europe operations into our Kraft Foods Devetoping Markets segment to help build critical scale
in these countries We operate a country-led model in these markets

Note 16, Segment Reporting, to our consohdated financial statements includes a breakout of net revenues, segment operating income, total

assets, depreciation expense and capital expenditures by reportable segment, as well as a breakout of net revenues, long-lived assets and total
assets by geographic region Management uses segment
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operating mcome to evaluate segment performance and allocate rescurces We believe it 1s appropriate to disclose this measure to help investors
analyze segment performance and trends Segment operating income excludes unreahzed gamns and losses on hedging activities (which are a

component of cost of sales) certan components of our U S pension plan cost (which 1s a compenent of cost of sales and marketing,
administration and research costs), general corporate expenses {which are a2 component of marketing admirustration and research costs) and

amortization of intangibles

The relative percentages of total segment operating income attnbutable to each repontable segment were

Kraft Foods North America

U S Beverages

U S Cheese

U $ Cenvenent Meals

US Grocery

U S Snacks

Canada & N A Foqdservice
Kraft Foods Europe
Kraft Foods Developing Markets
Total Kraft Segment Operating

Income

{1} This segment was formery known as European Union

Our brands span five consumer sectors

For the Yoars Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
8 8% 8 7% 7 9%
11 5% 12 9% 11 1%
88% 77% 7 3%
19 7% 23 1% 23 4%
12 5% 14 6% 16 4%
91% 10 2% 10 1%
13 5% 4 2% 10 4%
16 1% 18 6% 13 4%
100 0% 100 0% 100 0%

The following table shows each reportable segment's participation in these five core consumer sectors

Snacks - primanty biscuits {(cookies and crackers}), salted snacks and chocolate confectionery,
Beverages - pnmanly coffee, packaged juice dnnks and powdered beverages,
Cheese - pnmarily natural, processed and cream cheeses,

Grocery - prnmanily spoonable and pourable dressings, condiments and desserts, and
Convenient Meals - pnmarily processed meats, frozen pizza packaged dinners and lunch combinations

Percentage of 2008 Net Revenues by Consumer Sector (1)

Convenient
Sagmaent Snacks Bevaerages Choose Grocery Meals Total
Kraft Foods North America
U S Beverages - 38 0% - - - 76%
U S Cheese - - 53 1% - - 8 9%
U S Convenent Meals - - - - 69 7% 1 1%
US Grocery 0 9% - - 55 1% 16 6% 36%
U S Snacks 32 0% - 09% 21% - 12 3%
Canada & N A Foodservice 6 5% 6 1% 19 3% 19 8% 7 8% 10 1%
Total Kraft Foods North
America 39 4% 44 1% 73 3% 77 0% 94 1% 58 6%
Kraft Foods Europe 318% 29 8% 14 3% 91% 41% 21 7%
Kraft Feods Developing Markets 28 8% 26 1% 12 4% 13 9% 18% 19 7%
Total Kraft Foods 100 0% 100 0% 100 0% 100 0% 100 0% 100 0%
Consumer Sector Percentage
of Total Kraft Foods 37 2% 19 9% 16 8% 10 1% 16 0% 100 0%

{1} Percentages were calculated based upon dollars rounded to milions

OurU $ subsidianes expert coffee products, refreshment beverage products, grocery products, cheese, biscuits and processed meats In 2009

these U S exports amounted to $522 million
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Products or similar products contributing 10% or more to Kraft Foods consolidated net revenues for the years ended December 31, were

2009 2008 2007
Biscuits {cookies and crackers) 23% 22% 16%
Cheese 17% 18% 19%
Coffee 13% 13% 14%
Confectionery 1% 12% 12%

Our major brands within each reportable segment and consumer sector at December 31, 2009 were

Kraft Foods North America
U S Beverages
Beverages Maxwell House, Starbucks (under lcense), Gevala, General Foods International, Yuban and
Seattle's Best (under license) coffees, Tassimo hot beverage system, Capn Sun {under hicense)
and Kool-Aid packaged juice drinks, Kool-Aid, Crystal Light and Country Time powdered
beverages, and Tazo {under license) teas

US Cheese
Cheese Kraft and Cracker Barrel natural cheeses, Phiadelphia cream cheese, Kraft grated cheeses,
Polly-O and Athenos cheese, Velveeta and Cheez Whiz processed cheeses, Kraft and
Deli Deluxe processed cheese slices, and Breakstone's and Knudsen cottage cheese and sour
cream
U S Convement Meals
Convenient Meals Oscar Mayer and Lows Rich cold cuts, hot dogs and bacon, Lunchables lunch combinations,
DiGiomo, Tombstone, Jack's and Calfornia Przza Kitchen {under license) frozen pizzas, Boca
soy-based meat alternatives, Deli Creations complete sandwiches, and Claussen pickles

U S Grocery
Grocery Jell-O dry packaged desserts, Coof Whip whipped topping, Je#l-O refngerated gelatin and
pudding snacks, Jet-Puffed marshmallows, Kraft and Miracle Whip spoonable dressings, Krafl
and Good Seasons salad dressings, A 1 steak sauce, Kraft and Bull's-Eye barbecue sauces,
Grey Poupon premium mustards, Shake N' Bake coatings, and Baker's chocolate and baking
ingredients
Convenient Meals Kraft and Kraift Deluxe macaron and cheese dinners, Stove Top stuffing mix, Taco Bell Home
Onginals (under hecense) meal kits, and Velveeta shells and cheese dinners
U S Snacks
Snacks Oreo, Chips Ahoy!, Newtons, Nilla, Nutter Butter and SnackWell's cookies, Rifz, Premmum,
Trniscuit, Wheat Thins, Cheese Nips, Flavor Ongmnals, Honey Maid grahams, Teddy Grahams
and Kraft macaroni and cheese crackers, Nabisco 100 Calore Packs, Planters nuts and trail
mixes, Handi-Snacks two-compartment snacks, and Back to Nature granola, cookies, crackers,
nuts and fruit & nut mixes
Cheese Easy Cheese cheese spread
Canada & N A Foodservice Canada and foodservice products span all Kraft Foods North Amertca segments and sectors

Canadian brand offerings include Dehssio pizza, Nabob coffee Kraft peanut butter and Peek
Freans biscuits, as well as a range of products beanng brand names similar to those marketed
inthe US The N A Foodservice business sells primartly branded products including Maxwell
House coffee, Oreo cookies, A 1 steak sauce, and a broad array of Kraft sauces, dressings and
cheeses
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Kraft Foods Europe

Snacks Milka, Suchard, Céte d'Or, Marabou, Toblerone, Frera, Terry's, Daim / Dime, Lacta, Paviides, Twist,
Merenda and Mirabell chocolate confectionery products, and Creo, Digestive, Tuc, Mini-Star Mikado
{(under icense), Ourson, Palit Déjeuner, Cracotte, Behn, Heudebert, Grany, Petit Ecoler, Samwa Cro,
Fonzies, Stari, Pnnce and Belvita biscuits

Beverages Jacobs, Gevalia, Carte Noire, Jacques Vabre, Kaffee HAG, Grand’ Mere, Kenco, Saimaza, Maxwell
House, Onko, Splendid, Starbucks (under license) and Karat coffees, Tassimo hot beverage system, Tang
powdered beverages and Suchard Express, O'Boy and Kaba chocolate drinks

Cheese Dairylea, Softilette Qsefla and El Caserfo cheeses, and Philadelphia cream cheese
Grocery Kraft pourable and spoonable salad dressings, Mirace! Whip spoonable dressings, and Miracolt sauces
Convenient Meals Lunchables lunch combinations, Mirdcol pasta dinners and sauces, and Simmenthal canned meats
Kraft Foods Developing Markets
Snacks Mika, Toblerone, Lacta, Cote d'Or, Shot, Terrabusi, Suchard Alpen Gold, Karuna, Korona, Porana, Svoge,

Ukraina, Vozdushny, Chudny Vecher, Terry's, Figaro, Pance Polo / Siesta, Piros, Mogyoros and Galfito
chocolate confecticnery products Oreo, Chips Ahoy!, Ritz, Ciub Social, Express, Kraker Bran, Honey
Bran, Aveny Bran, Marbu, Vanedad, Pacific, Belvita, Cereairtas, Lucky, Trakinas, Tuc, Mikado (under
license), Qurson, Petit Déjeuner, Cracotte, Bolshevik, Pnchuda, Jubilee, Major, Merendina, Jacob's,
Chipsmore, Twisties, Biskuat / Tiger, Milk Biscuit, Hi Calcium Soda, Pépito, Gyor and PIM's biscuits, and
Cstrella, Kar, Lux and Planters nuts and salted snacks

Beverages Maxwell House, Maxim, Carte Noire, Nova Brasilia and Jacobs coffee, and Tang, Chght, Kool-Aid, Verao,
Fnsco, Q-Refres-Ko, Royal and Fresh powdered beverages

Cheese Kraft, Velveeta and Eden processed cheeses, Philadeiphia cream cheese, Kraft natural cheese, and
Cheez Whiz processed cheese spread

Grocery Royal dry packaged desserts, Kraft spoonable and pourable salad dressings Miracle Whip spoonabtle
dressings, Jell-O dessert toppings Kraft peanut butter, and Vegemite yeast spread

Convenient Meals Kraft macarcni and cheese dinners

Sigmificant Acquisitions and Divestitures

Cadbury Acqusition

On January 19, 2010, we announced the terms of our final offer for each outstanding ardinary share of Cadbury ple {("Cadbury”), including each
ordinary share represented by an Amencan Depositary Share (“Cadbury ADS”), and the Cadbury board of directors recommended that Cadbury
shareholders accept the terms of the final offer WUnder the terms of the offer, we agreed to pay Cadbury shareholders 500 pence in cash and

0 1874 shares of Kraft Foods Common Stock per Cadbury ordinary share valdly tendered and 2,000 pence in cash and 0 7496 shares of Kraft
Foods Common Stock per Cadbury ADS vahdly tendered This valued each Cadbury ordinary share at 840 pence and each Cadbury ADS at

£33 60 (based on the closing price of $29 58 for a share of Kraft Foods Common Stock on January 15, 2010 and an exchange rate of $1 63 per
£1 00) and valued the entire 1ssued share capital of Cadbury at £11 9 billon (approximately $19 4 bilion} on January 15, 2010, the last trading day
before the pubhcation of our final offer The combination of Kraft Foods and Cadbury will create a global powerhouse in snacks, confectionery and
quick meals with a nch portfolto of iIcomc brands

On February 2, 2010, all of the conditions to the offer were satisfied or validly waived, the initial offer pencd expired and a subsequent offer perod
immediately began At that point, we had receved acceptances of 71 73% of the cutstanding Cadbury ordinary shares including those
represented by Cadbury ADSs The subsequent offer peniod remains open until further notice and at least 14 days of notice will be given if Kraft
Foods decides to close the offer As of February 15, 2010 we had recewved acceptances of 1,262 356,520 shares representing 91 02% of the
outstanding Cadbury ordinary shares, including those represented by Cadbury ADSs As we have received
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acceptances of over 90% of Cadbury shares, we are in the process of acquiring the remaining Cadbury ordinary shares that are not tendered in
the offer, including those represented by Cadbury ADSs, through a compulsory acquisition procedure under the United Kingdom Companies Act of
2006, as amended Additionally, as a condition of the EL) Commussion’s approval of the Cadbury acquisition, we are required to divest
confectionary operations in Poland and Romania As part of our acquisition of Cadbury, we expensed approximately $40 million in transaction
related fees in 2009 as we incurred them, and we also incurred $40 mullion in financing fees in 2009 related to the acquisition

Pizza Divestiture

On January 4, 2010, we entered into an agreement to sell the assets of our North Amencan frozen pizza business (‘Frozen Pizza") to Nestlé USA,
Inc (“Nestié"} for total consideration of $3 7 billion Our Frozen Pizza business 1s a component of our U S Convernient Meals and Canada &NA
Foodservice segments The sale, which is subject to customary canditions, including regulatory clearances, includes the OiGiomo, Tombstone and
Jack's brands in the U S , the Delissio brand in Canada and the Calforria Pizza Kitchen trademark license It alsc includes two Wisconsin
manufacturing faciliies (Medford and Little Chute) and the leases for the pizza depots and delivery trucks It 1s estimated that approximately 3,400
of our employees will transfer with the business to Nestlé We anticipate that the transaction will close in the first quarter of 2010

Post Cereals Spit-off

On August 4, 2008, we completed the split-off of the Post cereals business into Ralcorp Heldings, Inc , after an exchange with our shareholders
Accordingly, the Post cereals business prior pencd results were reflected as discontinued operations on the consolidated statement of earnings
The exchange was expected to be tax-free to participating shareholders for U § federal income tax purposes

In this split-off transachon, approximately 46 1 million shares of Kraft Foods Common Stock were tendered for $1,644 milion Qur shareholders
had the option to exchange some or all of therr shares of Kraft Foods Commaon Stock and receive shares of common stock of Cable Heldco, Inc
(“Cable Holdco™) Cable Holdco was our wholly owned subsidiary that owned certain assets and labilities of the Post cereals business n
exchange for the contribution of the Post cereals business, Cable Holdco igsued approximately $665 millon in debt secunities, 1ssued shares of its
common stock and assumed a $300 million credit facility Upon closing, we used the cash equivalent net proceeds, approximately $960 million, to
repay debt As a result of the split-off, we recorded a gain on discontinued operations of $926 milhen, or $0 61 per diluted share, in 2008

LU Biscuit Acquisition

On November 30, 2007, we acquired the Groupe Danone S A global LU biscuit business (*LU Biscuit™) for €5 1 billion (approximately $7 6 billion)
in cash The acquisition included 32 manufacturing facilities and approximately 14,000 employees LU Biscult reports results from operations on a
one moenth lag, accordingly, there was no effect on our 2007 operating results On a proforma basis, LU Biscuit would have contributed net
revenues of $2 8 billion during 2007, and LU Biscuit's contribution to net earnings wauld have been insignificant to Kraft Foods

See Note 2, Acquisttions and Divestitures, to our consolidated financial statements for additional information on these transactions

Customers

Our five largest customers accounted for approximately 27% of our net revenues m 2009 compared with 27% in 2008 and 29% in 2007 Our ten
largest customers accounted for approximately 36% of our net revenues n 2009 compared with 36% in 2008 and 40% in 2007 One of our
customers, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc , accounted for approximately 16% of our net revenues 1n 2009 compared with 16% in 2008 and 15% in 2007

Seasonality

Demand for some of our products may be influenced by holidays, changes in seasons or other annual events However, overall sales of our
products are generally evenly balanced throughout the year due to the offsetting nature of demands for our diversified product partfolio
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Competition

We face competition in all aspects of our business Competitors include large national and international companies and numerous local and
regional companies Some competitors have different profit objectives and some international competitors are less susceptible to currency
exchange rates We also compete with generic products and retailer brands, wholesalers and cooperatives We compete pnmanly on the basis of
product quality, brand recognition, brand loyalty, seniice, marketng, advertising and price Moregver, improving our market position or ntroducing
a new product requires substantial advertising and promotional expenditures

Distributicn and Marketing

Our praducts are generally sold to supermarket chains, wholesalers, supercenters, club stores, mass merchandisers, distributors convenience
stores gasoline stations drug stores, value stores and other retail food outlets In general, the retail trade for food products 18 consolidating Food
products are distnibuted through distnbution centers, sateilite warehouses, company-cperated and public cold-storage facilites, depots and other
facilities We currently distnbute most products in North Amenca through a combination of direct store delivery and warehouse dehvery Ouiside of
North America, our products are distnbuted through warehouse delivery and through the services of independent sales offices and agents

Our marketing efforts are conducted through three pnncipal sets of activities (1) consumer marketing in broadcast, print, outdoor and on-line
media, (n) consumer Incentives such as coupons and contests, and (11} trade promotions to support price features, displays and other
merchandising of our products by our customers

Raw Matenals and Packaging

We are a major purchaser of dairy, coffee, cocoa, wheat, corn products, soybean and vegetable oils, nuts, meat products, and sugar and other
sweeteners We also use significant quantities of plastic, glass and cardboard to package our products, and natural gas for our factones and
warehouses We continuously manitor worldwide supply and cost trends of these commodities so we can act quickly 1o obtain ingredients and
packaging needed for production

We purchase our dairy raw matenal requirements, including milk and cheese, from independent third parties such as agricultural cooperatives and
independent processors The prices for milk and other dairy product purchases are substantially influenced by market supply and demand, as well
as by government programs Dairy commaodity costs on average were lower in 2009 than in 2008 Significant cost items in our biscuit and grocery
praducts are grains {wheat, corn and soybean oil) Gran costs have expenenced significant volatility as a result of burgeoning global demand for
food, livestock feed and biofuels such as ethanol and biodiesel Grain costs on average were relatively flat from 2008 to 2009 The most significant
cost tem in coffee products 1s green coffee beans, which are purchased on world markets Green coffee bean prices are affected by the quality
and availability of supply, changes in the value of the U § dollar in relation to certain other currencies and consumer demand for coffee products
Green coffee bean costs on average were lower in 2009 than in 2008 A significant cost item in chocolate canfectionery products Is cocoa, which
Is purchased on world markets, and the price of which 1s affected by the quality and availability of supply and changes in the value of the Briush
pound and the U S dollar relative te certain other currencies Cocoa bean and cocoa butter costs on average were higher in 2009 than in 2008

Dunng 2009, our aggregate commadity costs decreased pnmarily as a resuft of lower dairy costs For 2009, our commodity costs wele
approximately $150 million lower than 2008, following an increase of approxirmately $2 0 billion in 2008 compared to 2007 Overall, we expect
commodity costs to continue to be volatile in 2010

The prices paid for raw matenals and agncultural matenals used in our products generally reflect external factors such as weather conditions,
commodity market fluctuations, currency fluctuations and the effects of governmental agricultural programs Although the prices of the principal
raw matenals can be expected to fluctuate as a result of these factors, we believe there will be an adequate supply of the raw matenals we use
and that they are generally available from numerous sources We use hedging techniques to imit the impact of pnce fluctuaticns n our principal
raw matenals However, we do not fully hedge against changes in commeodity pnces, and these strategies may not protect us from increases in
specific raw matenal costs
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Intellectual Property

We consider our trademarks, in the aggregate, to be matenal to our business We protect our trademarks by regrstration or otherwise in the us
and in other markets where we sell our products Trademark protection ¢continues in some countnes for as long as the mark is used and In other
countnies for as long as it 1s registered Registrations generally are for renewable, fixed terms From time to time, we grant third parties licenses to
use one or more of our trademarks in particular tocations Similarly, we sell some of our products under brands we keense from third parues,
in¢cluding at December 31, 2009

. Starbucks coffee, Seattle’s Best coffee and Tazo teas for sale in U S grocery stores and other distnbution channels,
. Starbucks and Seattle’s Best coftee T-Discs and Tazo teas T-Discs for use in our Tassimo hot beverage system,

. Capn Sun packaged juice drinks for sale inthe U S and Canada,

. Taco Beif Home Ongmals Mexican style food products for sale n U S grocery stores and

. California Pizza Kitchen frozen pizzas for sale nJ S grocery stores

Additionally, we own numerous patents worldwide While our patent portfolio 1s matenal to our business, the loss of one patent or a group of
related patents would not have a matenal adverse effect on our business We have etther been 1ssued patents or have patent applications pending
that relate to a number of current and potential products, including products licensed to others Patents, 1ssued or applied for, cover inventions
ranging from basic packaging techniques to processes relating to specific products and to the products themselves Our issued patents extend for
varying perods according to the date of patent application filing or grant and the legal term of patents in the various countnes where patent
protection 1s obtained The actual protection afforded by a patent, which can vary from country to country, depends upon the type of patent, the
scope of its coverage as determined by the patent office or courts In the country, and the availability of legal remedies in the country We consider

that in the aggregate our patent applications, patents and hcenses under patents owned by third parties are of material importance to our
operations

We also have proprietary trade secrets technology, know-how processes and related mtellectual property nights that are not registered

Research and Development

We pursue four objectives in research and development product safety and quality, growth through new products, supenor consumer satisfaction,
and reduced costs We have approximately 2,300 food scientists, chemists and engineers working primanly in six key technology centers East
Hanover, New Jersey, Glenview, llinois, Tarrytown, New York, Banbury, United Kingdom, Pans, France, and Munmich, Germany These technology
centers are equipped with pilot plants and state-of-the-art mnstruments Research and development expense was $477 mullion in 2009, 5498 million
in 2008 and $442 million 1n 2007

Regulation

OurU S food products and packaging matenals are prrmarily regulated by the U S Food and Drug Administration or, for products containing meat
and poultry, the U S Food Safety and Inspection Service of the U S Department of Agriculture These agencies enact and enforce regulations
relating to the manufactuning, distnbution and labeling of food products

In addition, vanous states regulate our U S operations by licensing plants, enforcing federal and state standards for selected food products,
grading food products, inspecting plants and warehouses, regulating trade practices related to the sale of dairy products and imposing their own
labeling requirements on food products

Many of the food commodities we use in our U S cperations are subject to governmental agnicultural programs These programs have substantial
effects on prnices and supplies and are subject to penodic U S Congressional and administrative review
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All of our non-U S based operations are subject to local and national regulations, some of which are similar to those applicable to our U S
operations For example, in the European Union, we must comply with requirements that apply to labeling, packaging, food content, pricing
marketing and advertising and related areas

Environmental Regulation

We are subjact to vanous federal, state and local laws m the U $ and laws and regulations outside of the U $ relating to the protection of the
environment We accrue for environmental remediation obligations on an undiscounted basis when amounts are probable and can be reasonably
estimated The accruals are adjusted as new information develops or Grcumstances change Recovernies of environmental remediation costs from
third parties are recorded as assets when recovery of those costs 1s deemed probable Inthe U S, the laws and regulations include the Clean Air
Act 1990, the Clean Water Act 1972, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 1976 and Superfund (the environmental program established
to address abandoned hazardous waste sites), which imposes joint and severable hability on each responsible party At December 31, 2009, cur
subsidiaries were nvolved mn 71 active actions in the U S under Superfund legisiation (and other simiiar actions} refated to current operations and
certain former or divested operations for which we retain hability

Qutside the U S, we are subject to applicable multi-national, national and local environmental laws and regulations in the countries in which we do
business Outside the U S, we have specific programs across aur business units designed to meet applicable environmental comphance
requirements

Based on information currently available, we believe that the ultimate resclution of existing environmental remediation actions and our comphance
in general with environmental laws and regulations will not have a matenal effect on our financial results However, we cannot quantify with
certainty the potential impact of future comphance efforts and environmental remediation actions

Employees

At December 31, 2009, we employed approximately 97,000 people worldwide Labor unions represent approximately 26% of our 40,000 U S
employees Most of the vnionized workers at our U S locations are represented under contracts with the Bakery Confectionery, Tobacco Waorkers
and Grain Millers Internatronal Umon, the United Food and Commercial Workers International Union, and the International Brotherhood of
Teamsters These contracts expire at various times throughout the next several years Qutside the U S | labor umons or workers’ councils
represent approximately 60% of our 57,000 employees Our business units are subject to varicus laws and regulations relating to their
relationships with their employees These laws and regulations are specific to the location of each business unit In addition, in accordance with
European Union requirements, we have established a European Works Counctl composed of management and elected members of our
workforce We believe that our relationships with employees and therr representative organizations are good

In 2008, we completed our five-year restructuring program As part of the program, we anncunced the elimination of approximatety 18,600
positions As of December 31, 2009, we had eliminated approximately 17,300 of those positions

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following were our executive officers on February 25, 2010

Name Age Title

Irene B Rosenfeld 56 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

David A Brearton 49 Executive Vice President, Operations and Business Services
Michael A Clarke 45 Executive Vice President and President, Kraft Foods Europe

Marc S Frestone 50 Executive Vice President, Corporate and Legal Affarrs and General Counsel
Sanjay Khosla 58 Executive Vice President and President, Kraft Foods tnternational
Karen J May 51 Executive Vice President, Global Human Resources

Timothy R McLewvish 54 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Michael Osanloo 43 Executive Vice President, Strategy

Jean E Spence 52 Executive Vice President, Research, Development and Quality

W Anthony Vernon 54 Executive Vice President and President, Kraft Foods North Amenca
Mary Beth West 47 Executive Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer
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Ms Rosenfeld was appointed Chief Executive Officer of Kraft Foods in June 2006 and Chairman of the Board in March 2007 Prior to that, she
had been Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Frito-Lay, a dwision of PepsiCo, Inc, a food and beverage company, from September 2004 to
June 2006 Previously, Ms Rosenfeld was employed continuously by Kraft Foods, and its predecessor, General Foods Corporation, In vanous
capacities from 1981 until 2003, including President of Kraft Foods North America She 1s also a Trustee of Cornell University

Mr Brearton was appointed as Executive Vice President, Operations and Business Services effective January 1, 2008 Pnor to that, he served as
Executive Vice President, Global Business Services and Strategy, as Sensor Vice President of Business Process Simplification and as Corporate
Controller for Kraft Foods He previously served as a Senior Vice President, Finance for Kraft Foods International Mr Brearton first joined Kraft
Foods in 1984 Mr Brearton 1s zlso on the Board of Directors of Feeding Amenica

Mr Clarie joined Kraft Foods as President, Kraft Foods Europe on January 2, 2009 and was appomnted Executive Vice President and President,
Kraft Foods Europe on January 27, 2009 Prior to joining Kraft Foods, Mr Clarke spent 12 years with The Coca-Cola Company, a beverage
company, mast recently serving as President of the Narthwest Europe and Nordics businesses from August 2005 to December 2008 and as
President of the South Pacific and Korea businesses from March 2000 to July 2005 Mr Clarke is also on the Advisory Board of the Inspire
Foundation

Mr Frrestone was appointed as Executive Vice President, Corporate and Legal Affairs and General Counsel in January 2006 He previously
served as Kraft Foods' Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary Prior to joinang Kraft Foods in 2003, Mr Firestone
served as Senior Vice President and Genera! Counsel of Philip Morns International, a tobacco company

Mr Khosla was appointed as Executive Vice President and President, Kraft Foods international in January 2007 Befare joining Kraft Foods, he
served as the Managing Director of the consumer and foodservice business for the New Zealand-based Fonterra Co-operative Group, a dairy
company Previously, Mr Khosla spent 27 years with Unilever, a consumer products company, in India, London and Europe Mr Khosla also
serves on the boards of Best Buy Co, Inc and NIIT Ltd and is a trustee of the Goodman Theater Company in Chicago

Ms May was appointed as Executive Vice President, Global Human Resources in October 2005 Prior to joining Kraft Foods, she had been
Corporate Vice President, Human Resources for Baxter International Inc , a healthcare company, since February 2001 Ms May also serves on
the Board of Directors of MB Financial Inc

Mr Mclewish was appointed as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in October 2007 Prior to that, he had been the Sentor Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer at ingersoll-Rand Company Limited, an industnal company, since June 2002 Mr McLevish also serves on
the Board of Directors of Kennametal Inc

Mr QOsanloo was appointed as Executive Vice President, Strategy in Apnl 2008 Prior to joining Kraft Foods, Mr Osanloo served as Senior Vice
President, Marketing at Harrah'’s Entertainment, a provider of branded casino entertainment, from July 2005 until March 2008 Previously,

Mr Osanloo was a partner in the retall and consumer products practice at Bain & Company, a management consulting firm from August 1996
until June 2005

Ms Spence was appointed as Executive Vice President, Research, Development and Quality in January 2004 Prior to her current position,
Ms Spence served as the Senior Vice President, Research and Development, Kraft Foods North Amernca She joined Kraft Foods in 1981
Ms Spence also serves on the Board of Directors of International Life Sciences Institute

Mr Vemnon joined Kraft Foods as Executive Vice President and President, Kraft Foods North Amenca in August 2009 Prior to that, he was the
Healthcare Industry Partner of Ripplewood Holdings Inc , a private equity firm, since 2006 Mr Vernon spent 23 years with Johnson & Johnson, a
pharmaceutical company, in a vanety of leadership positions, most recently serving as Company Group Chairman of DePuy Inc , an orthopedics
company and subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson, from 2004 to 2005 Mr Vernon also serves on the Board of Directors of Medvation, Inc

Ms West was appointed as Executive Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer in October 2007 Previously, she served as a Group Vice
President for Kraft Foods and President of the North Amenca Beverages Sector Ms West
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Jjoined Kraft Foods In 1986 Ms Woest also serves on the Board of Directors of J C Penney Co, Inc and 1s a member of the Executive Leadership
Council

Mr Searer, 56, served as Executive Vice President and President, Kraft Foods North Amenca from September 2006 untd August

2009 Previously, Mr Searer served as the Group Vice President and President, North Amernca Convenient Meals Sector Mr Searer joined Kraft
Foods in 1981 Mr Searer also serves on the Board of Directors of Bush Brothers & Company Mr Searer retired from Kraft Foods in September
2009

We adopted The Kraft Foods Code of Conduct for Comphance and Integrity, which qualifies as a code of ethics under ltem 406 of Regulation S-K
The code applies to all of cur employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principat accounting officer or
controller, and persons perforrming similar functions Our code of ethics 1s avallable free of charge on our website at www,kr.

and will be provided free of charge to any shareholder submiting a written request to Corporate Secretary, Kraft Foods Inc , Three Lakes Drive,
Northfield, IL 60093 We will disclose any wawer we grant to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, pnncipal accounting officer or
cantroller under our code of ethics, or certain amendments 1o the code of ethics, on our website at www. kraftfoodscompany.com

In addition, we adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines, charters for each of the Board's five standing committees and the Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics for Directors All of these matenals are available on our website at www.kraftfoodscompany.com and will be provided free of
charge to any shareholder requesting a copy by writing to Corporate Secretary, Kraft Foods Inc , Three Lakes Drive Northfietd, IL 60093 Certain
of these matenals may also be found in our proxy statement relating to our 2010 Annual Meeting of Sharehotders

Available Information

Our Internet address 1s www krafifoodscompany.com Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports

on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13{a) or 15(d) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended are avallable free of charge as soon as possible after we electromcally file them with, or furnish them to the SEC You can access our
fiings with the SEC by visiting www.kraftfoodsgompany.com The information on our website 1s not, and shall not be deemed to be, a par of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated inte any other filings we make with the SEC

You can also read and copy any document that we file, including this Annual Report on Form 10-K, at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at

100 F Street, N E , Washington, D C 20549 Call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for information on the operation of the Public Reference Room In
addition, the SEC maintams an Internet site at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information
regarding 1ssuers including Kraft Foods, that file electronically with the SEC

Item 1A Risk Factors

You should read the following nisk factors carefully in connection with evaluating our business and the forward-looking information contamed i this
Annual Report on Form 10-K Any of the following nisks could malenally adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition and
the actual outcome of matters as to which forward-looking statements are made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K While we believe we have
identified and discussed below the key nsk factors affecting our business, there may be additional nsks and uncertainties that are not presently
known or that are not currently beheved to be sigmificant that may adverseiy affect our business, performance or financtal condition tn the future

We operate in a highly competitive industry, which may affect our profitability
The food industry 1s highly competitive We compete based on pnice, product innovation, product qualty. brand recognition and loyalty,
effectiveness of marketing promotional activity and the ability to identify and satisfy consumer preferences

From time to time, we may need to reduce our prices in response to competitive and customer pressures and to maintain our market
share Competition and customer pressures may also restrict our ability to increase pnces In
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response to commodity and other input cast increases Our results of operations will suffer if profit margins decrease as a result of a reduction In
prices, increased input cosls or other factors, and if we are unable to increase sales velumes to offset those profit margin decreases

Retailers are increasingly offening retailer brands that compete with some of our products it 1s imponant that our products provide higher vatue
and / or quality to our consumers than less expensive alternatives If the difference in value or quality between our products and those of retailer
brands narrows, or if the perceived difference n quality narrows, then consumers may not buy our products Furthermore, during periods of
economic uncertainty, such as we continue to expenence, consumers tend to purchase more retaler brands or other economy brands, which
could reduce sales volumes of our products or shift our product mix to our lower margin offenngs If we are not able to maintain or improve our
brand image or value proposition, it could have a matenal effect on our market share and our profitabiity

We may also need to increase spending on marketing, advertising and new product innovation to protect existing market share or Increase market
share The success of our investments is subject to risks, ncluding uncertainties about trade and consumer acceptance As a result, our increased
expenditures may net maintain or enhance market share and could result in lower profitability

The consolidation of retail customers, the loss of a sigmificant customer or a matenal reduction in sales to a sigmficant customer

could affect our operating margins, our profitability, our net revenues and our results of operations

Retall customers, such as supermarkets, warehouse clubs and food distnbutors in the U S, the European Union and our other major

markets, continue to consolidate These consolidations have produced large, sophisticated customers with increased buying power These larger
retallers, capable of operating with reduced inventornies, can resist price mcreases and demand lower pricing, increased promotional programs and
specifically talored products In addition, they may use shelf space currently used for our products for their own retailer brands The consolidation
of retail customers also mcreases the risk that a severe adverse impact on their business operations could have a corresponding material adverse
effect on us Also, our retall customers may be affected by recent economic conditions For example, they may not have access 10 funds or
financing and that could cause them to delay, decrease or cancel purchases of our products, or to not pay us or to delay paying us for previous
purchases

During 2009, our five largest customers accounted for approximately 27% of our net revenues with our largest customer Wal-Mart Stores,

Inc , accounting for approximately 16% of our net revenues There can be no assurance that all significant customers will continue to purchase our
products in the same quantities that they have in the past The loss of any cne of our significant customers or a matenal reduction in sales to a
sigrificant customer could have a matenal adverse effect on our net revenues and results of operations

Increased price volatiity for commodities we purchase may affect our profitability

We are a major purchaser of commodities, including dairy, coffee, cocoa, wheat, corn products, soybean and vegetable ails, nuts, meat products,
and sugar and other sweeteners In addition, we use significant quanties of ptastic, glass and cardboard to package our products, and natural
gas for our factones and warehouses Price volatility for commodities we purchase has increased due to conditions outside of our control,
mcluding recent economic conditions, currency fluctuations, avallability of supply. weather, consumer demand and changes in governmental
agricultural programs Although we moniter our exposure to commodity pnces as an integral part of our overall nsk management program,
continued volatility n the prices of commodities we purchase could increase the costs of our products and services, and our profitabihity could
suffer

Our product sales depend on our ability to predict, identify and interpret changes in consumer preferences and demand, and our ability
to develop and offer new products rapidly enough to meet those changes

Consumer preferences for food products change contmually QOur success depends an our ability to predict, dentify and interpret the tastes and
dietary habits of consumers and to offer products that appeal to those preferences

If we do nat succeed In offering products that appeal to consumers, our sales and market share will decrease and our profitatnlity could suffer We
must be able to distinguish among short-term fads, mid-term trends and long-term changes in consumer preferences If we are unable to
accurately predict which shifts in consumer preferences will be long-term, or if we fail to introduce new and improved products to satisfy those
preferences, our sales could dechne In addition, because of our vaned consumer base, we must offer a sufficient array of products to satisfy the
broad spectrum of consumer preferences If we fail to expand our product offerings successfully across product
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categonies or if we do not rapidly develop products in faster growing and more profitable categones, demand for our preducts will decrease and
our profitability could suffer

Prolonged negative perceptions concerning the health implications of certain food products could influence consumer preferences and acceptance
of some of our products and marketing programs For example, recently, consumers have been increasingly focused on health and wellness,
including weight management and sodium consumption Although we stnive to respond to consumer preferences and social expectations, we may
not be successful in these efforts Continued negative perceptions and failure to satisfy consumer preferences could decrease demand for our
products and adversely affect our profitability

As a multinational corporation, our operations are subject to additional risks

We generated approximately 48% of our 2009 net revenues, 49% of our 2008 net revenues and 43% of our 2007 net revenues outside the U S
The percentage of the combined company's sales generated outside of the U S will increase in 2010, due to the acquisition of Cadbury and with
the anticipated sale of our Frozen Pizza business With operations in over 70 countries, our operations are subject to nsks inherent 1n multinational
operations, including

. fluctuations in currency values,

. unpredictability of foreign currency exchange controls,

. discriminatory fiscal policies,
. compliance with a vanety of loca! regulations and laws,
’ changes in tax laws and the interpretation of those laws,

. difficulties enforcing intellectual property and contractual nghts in certain junsdictions, and

. greater nsk of uncollectible accounts and longer collection cycles

In additton certain jurisdictions could impose tariffs, quotas, trade barmers, and other similar restnctions on our sales Moreover, our business
operations could be interrupted and negatively affected by economic changes, geopolitical regicnal confiicts, terronst actvity, pohtical unrest, civil
strife, acts of war, and other economic or political uncertainties All of these nsks could result in increased costs or decreased revenues, either of
which could adversely affect our profitability

If we are unable to expand cur operations 1n certain emerging markets, our growth rate could be negatively affected

In 2007, we unvelled our strategies to grow our operations with Increased focus on emerging markets, especaally Brazil, Russia, China and other
regions of Southeast Asia The success of our operations depends in part on our ability to grow our business in these and other emerging
markets In some cases, emerging markets have greater pelitical and economic volatility and greater vulnerabibty to infrastructure and labor
disruptions In addition, emerging markets are becoming more competitive as other companies grow globally and local low cost manufacturers
expand their production capacities If we are unable to increase our business in emerging markets, our market share and profitability could be
adversely affected

We may not be able to consummate proposed acquisiions or divestitures successfully or integrate acquired businesses successfully
From time to ime, we may evaluate acquisition candidates that would strategically fit our business objectives If we are unable to complete
acquisitions, or integrate successfully and develop these businesses to realize revenue growth and cost savings, including recently acquired
Cadbury our financial results could be adversely affected In addition, from time to trme, we divest businesses that do not meet

our strategic objectives, or do not meet our growth or profitability targets Our profitability may be affected by either gains or losses on the sales of,
or lost operating income from, those businesses Also, we may not be able to complete desired or proposed divestitures on terms favorable to

us Moreover we may Incur asset impairment charges related to acquisitions or divestitures which may reduce our profitability Finally, our
acquisition or divestiture activities may present financial, managenal and operational nisks, including diversion of management attentien from
existing core businesses, difficulitles integrating or separating personnel and financial and other systems adverse effects on existing business
retationships with suppliers and customers inaccurate estimates of far value made in the accounting for acquisitions and amortization of acquired
intangible assets which would reduce future reported earnings potential loss of customers or key employees of acquired businesses and
indermnities and potential disputes with the buyers or sellers Any of these activiies could affect our product sales, financial condition and results of
operations
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Business process improvement initiatives to harmonize our systems and processes may fail to operate as designed and intended

We regutarly implement business process improvement initiatives to harmonize our systems and processes and to optimize our performance Our
current business process initiatives include, but are not imited to, our regrganization of our European cperations, the delivery of a SAP enterprise
resource planning application, and the outsourcing of certain administrative functions If our business process improvement tnibatives fail, our
abtlity to improve existing operations, achieve anticipated cost savings and support future growth could be delayed

Changes in our debt ratings and the effects of volatile economic conditions on the credit market could adversely affect our boerrowing
costs and liguidity

Qur debt ratings depend generally on the ameount of our debt and our ability to service our debt A downgrade in our debt ratings, including as a
result of incurring additional debt, would, and disruptions in the commercial paper market or the effects of other volatile economic conditions on the
credit market could, reduce the amount of commercial paper that we could tssue In addiion, any of these nsks could raise our borrowing costs for
both short-term and long-term debt offerings

Legal claims, product recalls or other regulatory enforcement actions could affect our sales, reputation and profitability

As a large food company that operates in a highly regulated, highly competitive environment with growing retalder power and a constantly evelving
legal and regulatory framework around the world, we are subject to heightened risk of legal claims or other regulatory enforcement actions Legal
claims or regulatery enforcement actions anising out of our fallure or alleged failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations could adversely
affect our sales reputation and profitability

Further, selling products for human consumphon involves inherent nsks We could be required to recall products due to product contamination
spollage or other adulteration, product mesbranding or product tampering

We may also suffer losses If our products or operations violate applicable laws or regulations, or if our products cause inury, Illness or death In
addition, our marketing could be the target of claims of false or deceptive advertising or other criticism A significant product bability or other legal
judgment or a related regulatory enforcement action against us, or a widespread product recall, may adversely affect our profitability Moreover,
even If a product lhability or consumer fraud claim s unsuccessful, has no ment or i1s not pursued, the negative publicity surrounding assertions
against our products or processes could adversely affect our sales, reputation and profitability

Increased regulation could increase our costs and affect our profitability

Food preduction and marketing are highly regulated by a vanety of federal, state, local and foreign agencies New regulations and changes to
existing regulations are issued regularly Increased governmental regulation of the food industry, such as proposed requirements designed to
enhance food safety or to regulate imported ingredients, could increase our costs and adversely affect our profitabiity

Volatihty in the equity markets or interest rates could substantially increase our pension costs and have a negative impact on our
operating results and profitability

At the end of 2009, the projected benefit obligation of our defined benefit pensicon plans was $10 6 billion and assets were $8 ¢ bilion The
difference between plan obhigations and assets, or the funded status of the plans, significantly affects the net penodic benefit costs of our pension
plans and the ongoing funding requirements of those plans Among other factors, changes in interest rates, mortality rates, early retirement rates,
investment returns and the market value of plan assets can (1) affect the level of plan funding, (1) cause volatiity in the net penodic pension cost,
and (in} increase our future funding requirements In addition, if we divest certain businesses, we may be required to increase future contnibutions
to the benefit plans and the related net penodic pension cost could increase

We expect to make approximately $240 million in contributions to our pension plans in 2010, which 1s approximately $380 million less than we
made In 2009 We also expect that our net pension cost will increase by approximately $50 million to approximately $440 mullion wn 2010 As this
disclosure was made as of December 31, 2009, it does not reflect the impacts of our recent acquisition and divestiture activity Additionally, volatile
economic conditions Increase the nisk that we may be required to make additional cash contnbutions to the pension plans and recognize further
increases 1N our net pension cast beyond 2010
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ltem 1B Unresolved Staff Comments

We have received no written comments regarding our quarterly, annual or current reports from the staff of the SEC that remam unresolved

item 2 Properties

We have 159 manufactuning and processing faciities worldwide In North Amenca, we have 54 facilities, and outside of North Amenica, we have
105 facilities located in 44 countnes These manufacturing and processing facilities are located throughout the following terntories

Number of
Terntory Facilities
us 46
Canada 8
Western Europe 42
Central & Eastern Europe, Middle East
and Africa 30
Latin America 15
Asia Pacific 18

Total 159

We own 152 and lease 7 of these manufacturing and processing faciities It 1s our practice to mamntain all of our plants and properties in good
condition, and we believe they are sutable and adequate for our present needs

We have publicly announced, but not yet completed, the sale or closure of two facilities in Central & Eastern Europe, Middle East and Africa, one
facility in Latin America and two facilities in Asia Pacific The numbers above include these facilities

We also have 313 disinbution centers and depots worldwide We own 38 of these distnbution centers and 3 of these depots, and we lease 124 of
these distribubtion centers and 148 of these depots In North Amenca, we have 258 distnibution centers and depots, more than 75% of which
support our direct store delivery systems Qutside North Amenca, we have 15 distrnibution centers in 10 countries

These faciities are in good condition, and we believe they have sufficient capacity to meet our distnbution needs in the near future As this
disclosure was made as of December 31 2009, it does not reflect the impacts of our recent acquisition and divestiture activity

Item 3 Legal Proceedings

We routinely are involved in legal proceedings, claims, and governmental inspections or investigations (*Legal Matters™) ansing in the ordinary
course of our business

Competition authorties in the European Union have opened varicus investigations into possible anticompetitive activity in the fast moving
consumer goods (*FMCG") sector, which includes products such as chocolate and coffee In Germany, the Federal Cartel Office (*FCO") 1
investigating a number of FMCG companies, including Kraft Foods We are cooperating and in contact wath the FCO At this ime we cannot
predict with certainty the course or the outcome of these investigations

Currently we do not believe that the ulimate costs to resolve any of the Legal Matters will have a material effect on our financial results

Item 4 Submission of Matters to a Vote of Secunty Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of secunty holders dunng the fourth quarter of 2009
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PART Il
ltem 5 Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Secunties

The principal stock exchange on which our Common Stock 18 listed 1s the NYSE At January 29, 2010, there were approximately 80 887 holders of
record of our Common Stock As part of our February 2, 2010 acquisition of Cadbury plc, we anticipate 1ssuing approximately 260 million
additional shares of our Common Stock to the approximately 45,000 Cadbury plc shareholders of record

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return

The following graph compares the cumulative total return on our Common Steck with the cumulative total return of the S&P 500 Index and the

performance peer group index The graph shows total shareholder return assuming $100 was invested on December 31, 2004 and dividends were

reinvested on a quarterly basis
—@—Kraft Foods

—%— S&P 500 —hA— Performance Peer Group
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Performance
Date Kraft Foods S&P 500 Peer Group
December 2004 $ 10000 $ 10000 § 100 00
December 2005 8137 104 90 106 24
December 2006 106 15 121 43 127 50
December 2007 100 07 128 09 153 45
December 2008 85 51 8077 123 55
December 2009 80 63 102 08 147 74

The Kraft Foods performance peer group consists of the following companies considered our market competitors, or that have been selected on
the basis of industry, leve! of management complexity, global focus or industry leadership Cadbury plc, Campbell Soup Company, The Clorox
Company, The Coca-Cola Company, Colgate-Palmolive Company, ConAgra Foods, Inc , Diageo plc, General Mills Inc, DANONE, H J Heinz
Company, Hershey Foods Corporation, Kellogg Company, Nestlé S A PepsiCo, Inc, The Procter & Gambie Company, Sara Lee Corporation,

and Unilever N V

Portions of the information called for under Part |l ltem 5(a) are incorporated by reference to Note 17, Quarterfy Financial Data (Unaudited), which

1s included within Item 8

Source KRAFT FCODS ING 10-K Febtuary 25 2010
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This performance graph and other information furmshed under this Part |l Item 5(a) of this Form 10-K shail not be deemed to be “seliciting
matenal” or to be “fled” with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C, or to the habilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities duning the Quarter ended December 31, 2009

The following activity represents shares tendered by our employees who used shares to exercise options, and who used shares to pay the related
taxes for grants of restricted and deferred stock that vested Accerdingly, these are non-cash transactions

Total Number Average Pnce Paid
of Shares per Share

Octaber 1-31 2009 38524 § 26 02
November 1-30, 2009 81,302 3 26 66
December 1-31, 2009 19,185 $ 26 96
For the Quarter Ended

December 31, 2009 139,011 $ 26 52
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Item 6 Selected Financial Data
Kraft Foods Inc

Selected Financial Data~—Five Year Review
{in millons of doflars except per share and employee data)

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Summary of Operations
Net revenues 3 40,386 $ 41,932 3 35,858 3 33,018 3 32779
Cost of sales 25,786 28,088 23,656 21,190 21,115
Operating income 5,524 3,842 4176 4,158 4,373
Operating margin 137% 92% 11 6% 126% 133%
Interest and other expense, net 1,237 1,240 604 510 635
Earnings from continuing operations

before income taxes 4 287 2,603 3,572 3,648 3,738
Provision for income taxes 1,259 755 4,080 816 1,066
Earnings / (loss) from disconinued

operations, net of iIncome taxes - 1,045 232 233 (33)
Net earnings 3,028 2,893 2,724 3,085 2,639
Noncontrolling interest 7 9 3 5 3
Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods 3021 2,884 2,721 3,060 2636
Basic EPS attnbutable to Kraft Foods

Continuing operations 204 122 156 170 157

Discontinued operations - 070 015 Q14 (D 02)

Net earnings atiributable to Kraft Foods 204 192 171 184 185
Diluted EPS attributahble to Kraft Foods

Continuing operations 203 121 156 170 157

Discontinued operations - 089 0 14 014 (0 02}

Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods 203 190 170 184 155
Dividends declared per share 116 112 104 096 087
Dwidends declared as a % of Basic EPS 56 9% 58 3% 60 8% 52 2% 56 1%
Dradends declared as a % of Diluted EPS 57 1% 58 9% 61 2% 52 2% 56 1%
Weighted-average shares - Basic 1,478 1,505 1,591 1,659 1,699
Weighted-average shares - Diluted 1,486 1,515 1.600 1,661 1,699
Net cash provided by operating activities 5,084 4,141 3,571 3,720 3,464
Capital expenditures 1,330 1,367 1,241 1,169 1,171
Free cash fiow* 3,754 2774 2,330 2,551 2,283
Depreciation 905 963 873 884 869
Property, plant and equipment, net 10,693 9,917 10,778 9,693 9,817
Inventories, net 3,775 3,881 4,238 3,436 3,272
Total assets 66,714 63,173 68,132 55,548 57,597
Long-term debt 18,024 18,589 12,902 7.081 8,475
Total debt 18,990 20,251 21,009 10,821 11,200
Total long-term hiabihties 29,251 29,773 23,574 16,520 19,285
Total Kraft Foods Shareholders' Equity 25,876 22,295 27.407 28,536 29,574
Total Equity 25972 22,356 27 445 28,562 29,600
Book value per common share outstanding 17 51 1518 17 87 17 44 1771
Market pnice per Common Stock

share - high / low 23 84-20 81 34 97-2475 37 20-29 95 36 67-27 44 35 65-27 88
Closing price of Common Stock at

year end 27 18 26 85 3263 3570 2817
Price / earnings ratio at year end - Basic 13 14 19 19 18
Price { earnings ratio at year end - Diluted 13 14 19 19 18
Shares outstanding at year end 1,478 1,469 1,534 1,636 1,670
Number of employees 97,000 98,000 103,000 90,000 94,000

* Please see Non-GAAP Financial Measures section at the end of ltem 7

Source KRAFT FOODS INC 10-K, February 25 2010
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Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The foliowing discussions should be read in conjunction with the other sections of this report, including the consolidated financial statements and
related notes contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report en Form 10-K

Descnption of the Company

We manufacture and market packaged food products, including snacks, beverages, cheese, convenient meals and vanous packaged grocery
products, In appraximately 160 countres

Execulive Summary

The following executive summary 1s intended to provide significant highlights of the discussion and analysis that follows

. Net revenues in 2009 decreased 3 7% to $40 4 billon Net revenues in 2008 increased 16 9% to $41 9 billion

. Diluted EPS aftributable to Kraft Foods increased 6 8% to $2 03 1n 2009 and increased 11 8% to $1 9010 2008 Diluted EPS
attributable to Kraft Foods from continuing operations increased 67 8% to $2 03 in 2009 and decreased 22 4% to $1 21 n 2008

. Four priorities will shape our long-term strategy focusing on growth categones, expanding our footprint in developing markets,
expanding our presence in instant consumption channels, and enhancing margens

. On February 2, 2010, we had receved acceptances to our offer of 71 73% of the outstanding ordinary shares of Cadbury pic The
combination of Kraft Foods and Cadbury will create a global powerhouse in snacks, confectionery and guick meals with a rich portfolio
of iconic brands As of February 15, 2010, we had received acceptances of 1,262 356,520 shares representing 81 02% of the
outstanding Cadbury ordinary shares

. On February 8 2010, we issued $9 5 billion of senior unsecured notes at a weighted-average effective rate of 5 364% and are
primarity using the net proceeds ($9,379 million) to finance the Cadbury acquisitron

. On January 4, 2010, we eniered into an agreement to sell the assets of our North American frozen pizza business to Nestié USA, Inc
for total consideration of $3 7 billon The sale, which 1s subject to customary conditions, including regulatory clearances, 1s expected to
close In the first quarter of 2010

. On November 30 2009, we entered into a revolving credit agreement for a $4 5 billion three-year senor unsecured revolving credit
faciity The agreement replaced our former revotving credit agreement, which was terminated upon the signing of the new agreement

. QOur $5 0 billion share repurchase authonty expired on March 30, 2009 Prior to the expiration, we repurchased 130 8 mithon
shares for $4 3 billion under the program We did not repurchase any shares in 2008

. In 2008, we completed our $3 0 billion, five-year Restructuring Program We reversed $85 million in Restructunng Program
charges duning 2009 and we recorded charges of $989 milkon duning 2008 and $459 mithon during 2007

. On August 4, 2008, we completed the split-off of the Post cereals business Accordingly, the Post cereals business prior period results
were reflected as discontinued operations on the consolidated statement of earnings

. On November 30, 2007, we acquired the Groupe Danane S A global LU biscuit business for € 5 1 bilkon {(approximately $7 6 bilhan) in
cash

18

Source KRAFT FQODS INC 10-K February 25 2010 PLeee L0 et Tan mest Bryoap oS




IS Sl nd A
Strategy

Our strategy i1s centered on marketing and developing leading consumer brands and pursuing growth opportuniies consistent with consumer
trends in order to deliver shareholder value Our increasing investment in snacks and quick meals and our portfolio of iconic brands aligns with
growing consumer interest In convenience products and premium brands Our focus on snacks and confectionery products fits well within our
strategy of growth in instant consumption channels Four priorties will shape our long-term strategy

* focusing on growth categones to further transform into a leading snack, confectionery and quick meals company This 1s being
achieved through exiting lower growth and / or lower margin businesses and remnvigorating high cash flow businesses to fund growth,

. expandmg our foatprint in developing markets to benefit from population growth trends, trading up by consumers and achieving the
scate to establish cost-efficient infrastructure in key geographies,

. expanding our presence in instant consumption channels in order to gain share versus grocery channels in the U S and European
Union, and
. enhancing margins by improving our portfolio mix and reducing costs while investing in quabity !

ltems Affecting Comparability of Financial Results

Acquisitions and Divestitures

Cadbury Acqursttion

On January 19, 2010, we announced the terms of our final offer for each outstanding ordinary share of Cadbury plc {"Cadbury™), including each
ordinary share represented by an Amencan Depositary Share ("Cadbury ADS™), and the Cadbury board of directors recommended that Cadbury
shareholders accept the terms of the final offer Under the terms of the offer, we agreed to pay Cadbury shareholders 500 pence in cash and

0 1874 shares of Kraft Foods Common Stock per Cadbury ordinary share validly tendered and 2,000 pence in cash and 0 7496 shares of Kraft
Foods Common Stock per Cadbury ADS validly tendered This valued each Cadbury ordinary share at 840 pence and each Cadbury ADS at

£33 60 (based on the closing price of $29 58 for a share of Kraft Foods Common Stock on January 15 2010 and an exchange rate of $1 63 per
£1 00) and valued the entire issued share capital of Cadbury at £11 9 billion (approximately $19 4 bilhon) on January 15, 2010 the last trading day
before the publication of our final offer The combination of Kraft Foods and Cadbury will create a global powerhouse in snacks, confectionery and
quick meals with a rnich portfolio of iconic brands

On February 2, 2010, all of the conditions to the offer were satisfied or validly wawved, the intial offer period expired and a subsequent offer perod
immediately began At that point, we had received acceptances of 71 73% of the outstanding Cadbury ordinary shares, including those
represented by Cadbury ADSs The subsequent offer period remains open until further notice and at least 14 days of notice will be given if Kraft
Foods decides to close the offer As of February 15, 2010, we had received acceptances of 1,262,356,520 shares representing 81 02% of the
outstanding Cadbury ordinary shares, including those represented by Cadbury ADSs As we have received acceptances of over 90% of Cadbury
shares, we are in the process of acquinng the remaining Cadbury crdinary shares that are not tendered in the offer including those represented
by Cadbury ADSs, through a compulsory acquisition procedure under the United Kingdom Companies Act of 2006, as amended Additionally, as a
condition of the EU Commission’s approval of the Cadbury acquisition, we are required to divest confectionary operations 1n Poland and Romania
As pant of our acquisition of Cadbury, we expensed approximately $40 million in transaction related fees in 2009 as we incurred them, and we also
incurred $40 million 1n financing fees in 2008 related to the acquisition

Pizza Divestiture

On January 4, 2010, we entered into an agreement to sell the assets of our North Amencan frozen pizza business ('Frozen Pizza") to Nestle USA,
Inc {“Nestlé") for total consideration of $3 7 billlon Qur Frozen Pizza business 1s a component of our U § Convenient Meals and Canada & North
America Foodservice segments The sale, which I1s subject to customary conditions, including regulatery clearances, includes the D1Giomo,
Tombstone and Jack's brands in the U S , the Delissio brand i Canada and the Califorrva Pizza Kitchen trademark license It also includes two
Wisconsin manufacturing facilities (Medford and Little Chute) and the leases for the pizza depots and delivery
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trucks It1s estimated that approximately 3,400 of our employees will transfer with the business to Nestlé We anbicipate that the transaction will
close In the first quarter of 2010

At December 31, 2009, the Frozen Pizza business did not meet the cntena to be considered held-for-sale Beginning mn the first quarter of 2010,
the results of the Frozen Pizza business will be presented as a discontinued operation in our consolidated financial statements and pror penods
will be restated in a consistent manner The following reflects the summary results for the Frozen Pizza business that will be treated as a
discantinued operation going forward

For the Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
{in millions)

Net revenues 5 1,632 -3 1,440 $ 1278
Earnings from cperations before

income taxes 341 267 237
Provision for income taxes {123} {97) (87)
Net earnings from operations of

the Frozen Pizza business $ 218 $ 170 $ 150

Earnings from operations before income taxes as presented exclude stranded overheads of $108 mullion in 2008, $112 million in 2008 and $111
miflon in 2007

Post Cereals Spht-off

On August 4, 2008, we completed the split-off of the Post cereals business into Ralcorp Heldings, Inc (“Ralcorp”), after an exchange with our
shareholders Accordingly, the Post cereals business prior penod results were reflected as discontinued operations on the consolidated statement
of earnings The exchange was expected to be tax-free to participating shareholders for U S federal income tax purposes

In this split-off transaction, approximately 46 1 million shares of Kraft Foods Common Stock were tendered for $1 644 million Our shareholders
had the option to exchange some or all of their shares of Kraft Foods Common Stock and recewve shares of common stock of Cable Hoeldco, Inc
{(“Cable Holdco") Cable Holdco was our wholly owned subsidiary that owned certain assets and habilities of the Post cereals business In
exchange for the contnbution of the Post cereals business, Cable Holdco 1ssued approximately $665 milion in debt secunties 1ssued shares of its
common stock and assumed a $300 million credit facility Upon closing, we used the cash equivalent net proceeds, approximately $960 million, to
repay debt

The Post cereals business included such brands as Honey Bunches of Cats, Pebbles, Shredded Wheat, Selects, Grape-Nuts and Honeycomb
Under Kraft Foods the brands in this transaction were distributed primarity in North America In addition to the Post brands, the transaction
included four manufacturing faciites, certain manufacturing equipment and approximately 1,230 employees who joined Ralcerp as part of the
transaction

Pursuant to the Post cereals business Transiton Services Agreement, we provided certain sales, co-manufacturing, distnbution information
technology, and accounting and finance services to Ralcorp through 2009

Summary resuits of operations for the Post cereals business through August 4, 2008, were as follows

For the Years Ended
Dacembar 34,

2008 2007
(in milkons)

Net revenues $ 666 3 1,107
Earnings before income taxes 189 369
Provision for iIncome taxes (70) (137)
Gain on discontinued operations, net of

income taxes 926 -
Earrings and gain from discontinued

operations, net of Income taxes 3 1,045 $ 232
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The following assets of the Post cereals business were included in the spht-off (iIn millions)

Inventories, net 3 94
Propenrty, plant and equipment, net 425
Goodwill 1,234
Other assets "
Other habiities 3
Distnbuted assets of the Post cereals

business $ 1,761

LU Biscuit Acquisition

On November 30, 2007, we acquired the Groupe Danone S A global LU biscuit business ("L.U Biscuit™ for € 5 1 billion {approximately $7 6 billion)
m cash The acquisition included 32 manufacturing faciiies and approximately 14,000 employees We used borrowings of €5 1 billion te finance
this acquisition Interest incurred on these borrowings was the primary driver of the $533 million increase in interest expense from 2007 to 2008
LU Biscurt reports results fram operations on a one month lag, accordingly, there was no effect on our 2007 operating results On a proforma
basis, LU Biscuit would have contributed net revenues of $2 8 bilion duning 2007, and LU Biscuit's contnibution to net earnings would have been
nsignificant to Kraft Foods

Other Divestitures

in 2009, we received $41 million in net proceeds and recorded pre-tax losses of $6 million on the divestitures of our Balfance bar operations in the
U S a)uice operation in Brazid and a plant in Spain We recorded after-tax gains of $58 mithon, or $0 04 per diuted share, on these divestitures,
primanly due to the differing book and tax bases of our Balance bar operations

In 2008, we recewed $153 milhon in net proceeds, and recorded pre-tax losses of $32 million on divestitures, primarily related to a Nordic and
Baltic snacks operation and four operations in Spain We recorded after-tax losses of $64 million, or $0 C4 per diluted share, on these divestitures

Included in the 2008 divestitures were the following, which were a condition of the EU Comnussion's approval of our LU Biscuit acqursition

+  We divested a biscuit operation in Spain From this divestiture, we received $86 million in net proceeds and recorded pre-tax losses of
$74 mullion

+  We divested another biscuit operation in Spain and a trademark in Hungary that we had previously acquired as part of the LU Biscuit
acquistion As such, the mpacts of these divestitures were reflected as adjustments to the purchase price allocations

In 2007, we received $216 million in net proceeds and recorded pre-tax gains of $14 million on the divestitures of our hot cereal assets and
trademarks, our sugar confectionery assets in Romania and related trademarks and our flavored water and juice brand assets and related
trademarks, including Veryfine and Frut2Q We recorded an after-tax loss of $5 milion on these divestitures to reflect the differing book and tax
bases of our hot cereal assets and trademarks divestiture

The aggregate operating results of the divestitures discussed above, other than the divestiture of the Post cereals business, were not matenal to
our financial staternents in any of the penods presented Refer to Note 16, Segment Reporting, for details of the gains and losses on divestitures
by segment The net impacts to segment operating income from gains and losses on divestitures, along with resulting asset impairment charges,
are summarized in the table with the Asset Impairment Charges section below

Asset Impairment Charges

In 2009, we recorded aggregate asset impairment charges of $21 million, or $0 01 per diluted share During our 2009 review of goodwill and
non-amortizable intangible assets, we recorded a $12 million charge for the imparment of intangible assets in the Netherlands In addition, during
2008, we recorded a $9 milhon asset impaiment charge to wate off an investment in Norway We recorded the aggregate asset impairment
charges within asset impairment and exit costs
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In 2008, we recorded aggregate asset impairment charges of $140 milen or $0 07 per diluted share Dunng our 2008 review of goodwill and
non-amartizable intangible assets, we recorded a $44 million charge for the impairment of intangible assets in the Netherlands, France and Puerto
Rico In addition, in December 2008, we reached a prelminary agreement to divest a juice operation in Brazil and reached an agreement to sell a
cheese plant in Australia In anticipation of divesting the juice operation in Brazil, we recorded an asset impairment charge of $13 milion m the
fourth quarter of 2008 The charge pnmarnly included the write-off of associated intangible assets of $8 millien and property, plant and equipment
of $4 millon In anticipation of selling the cheese plant in Australia, we recorded an asset impairment charge of $28 million to property, plant and
equipment In the fourth quarter of 2008 Additionally, in 2008, we divested a Nordic and Baltic snacks operation, and incurred an asset impairment
charge of $55 million in connection with the dvestiture This charge primanly included the write-off of associated goodwill of $34 mullion and
property, plant and equipment of $16 million We recorded the aggregate asset wnpatrment charges within asset impairment and exit costs

No imparrments resulted from our 2007 annual review of goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets Addtionally in 2007, we divested our
flavored water and juice brand assets and related trademarks and incurred an asset impaument charge of $120 milltlon or $0 03 per diluted share
in recegnition of the divestiture The charge pnimarily included the write-off of associated intangible assets of $70 millien and property, plant and
equipment of $47 millon and was recorded within asset impairment and exit costs

The net impacts to segment operating income from gains and losses on divestitures and the related asset impairment charges recorded when
these dwestitures were considered held-for-sale are summarized in the table below

For the Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007
{in millions})

Gains / (losses) & asset impairment
charges on divestitures, not
Kraft Foods North America

U S Beverages $ - $ N 3 (126)
U S Cheese - - -
U S Convenient Meals - -
U S Grocery - -
U S Snacks " - 12
Canada & N A Fggdservice - -
Kraft Foods Europe (17 (148) -
Kraft Foods Developing Markets -

Total net impact from divestitures 3 (6) 3 {160} 3 (106)

(1) This segment was formery known as European Union

Cost Savings Imtiatives
We incurred costs associated with our Cost Savings Initiatives of $318 million in 2009 These charges were recorded in operations, primanly within

the segment operating iIncome of Kraft Foods Europe with the remainder spread across all other segments The Kraft Foods Europe charges were
largely a result of the reorganization of our European operations Cost Savings Inttiatives include exit disposal and implementation costs Even
though implementation costs were directly attributable to exit and disposal costs, they did not qualify far special accounting treatment as exit or
disposal activities In 2009, our Cost Savings Intiatives primarily included severance charges for benefits recewved by terminated employees,
associated benefit plan costs and other related activities

2004-2008 Restructuring Program
In 2008, we completed our five-year restructuning program (the “Restructuning Program’) The objectives of this program were to leverage our

global scale, realign and lower our cost structure, and optimize capacity As part of the Restructuring Program, we

. incurred $3 O billion in pre-tax charges reflecting asset disposals, severance and implementation costs,
. announced the closure of 35 facities and announced the elimnation of approximately 18,600 positions,
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. will use cash to pay for $2 0 billion of the $3 ¢ bilon 1n charges, and
. anticipate reaching cumulative annualized savings of $1 4 billion for the total program

In 2008, we reversed $85 milhon of previously accrued Restructuring Program charges (resulting in a faverable impact to diluted EPS of $0 04)
Those reversals related to the following

. We sold a plant in Spain that we previcusly announced we would close under our Restructuning Program Accordingly, we reversed
535 mullion in Restructuring Program charges, pnmarily related to severance, and recorded a $17 mullion loss on the divestture of the
plant in 2009 The reversal occurred in our Kraft Foods Europe segment

. We also reversed $50 million in Restructuring Program charges, pnmarnly due to planned position eliminations that did not occur
These were primanly the result of redeployment and natural attrition The majornity of these reversals occurred in our Kraft Foods
Europe segment, with the remainder spread across all other segments

We incurred charges from continuing operations under the Restructuring Program of $989 mullion in 2008, or $0 45 per diluted share, and $447
milhon in 2007, or $0 19 per diluted share Since the inception of the Restructunng Program, we have paid cash of $1 7 billion of the 52 0 billion 1n
expected cash payments, including $176 million paid in 2009 At December 31, 2009, we had an accrual of $270 millien, and we had elminated
approximately 17 300 positions under the Restructurning Program

In 2008, we implemented a new operating structure bullt on three core elements business units, shared services that feverage the scale of our
global portfolio, and a streamhned corporate staff Within the new structure, business units now have full P&L accountatuliity and are staffed
accordingly This also ensures that we are putting our resources closer to where we make decisions that affect our consumers and customers Qur
corporate and shared service functions streamlined their organizations to focus on core activities that can more efficiently support the goals of the
business units The intent was to simplify, streamhne and increase accountabilty, with the ultimate goal of generating reliable growth for Kraft
Foods In total, we eliminated approximately 1,400 positions as we streamlined our headquarter functions

Under the Restructuning Program, we recorded asset impairment and exit costs from continuing operations of $884 mullion 1n 2008 and $320
million in 2007 We recorded implementation costs from continuing operations of $105 milhon in 2008 and $127 million in 2007 Implementation
costs are directly attributable to exit and disposal costs, however, they do not qualify for treatment as exit or disposal costs under guidance related
to accounting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities These costs pnmarly include the discontinuance of certain product lines,
incremental expenses related to the closure of facdities and the reorganization of our European operations discussed below Management
believes the disclosure of iImplementation charges provides readers of our financial statements greater transparency to the total costs of our
Restructuring Program Refer to Note 6, Restructunng Costs, for detals of our Restructunng Program by segment

Proviston for Income Taxes
Cur effective tax rate was 29 4% 1n 2009, 29 0% n 2008 and 30 2% in 2007 Our 2009 effective tax included net tax benefits of $225 million,
prmarily due to an agreement we reached with the IRS on specific matters related to years 2000 through 2003, settlements with various foreign

and state tax authonties, the expiration of the statutes of imitations in vanous junsdictions and the divestiture of our Balance bar operations in the
uUs

Our 2008 effective tax rate included net tax benefits of $222 million from discrete tax events Of the total net tax benefits, approximately $50
rmillion related to fourth quarter corrections of state, federal and foreign tax habilities and a third quarter reconciiation of our inventory of deferred
tax items that resulted n a wnte-down of our net deferred tax labilites The remaining net tax benefits primarily related to the resalution of various
tax audits and the expiration of statutes of imitations in various junsdictions QOther discrete tax benefits included the impact from divestitures of a
Nordic and Baltic snacks operation and several operations wn Spain and the tax benefit from impairment ¢harges taken in 2008 In addition, the
2008 tax rate benefited from foreign earnings taxed below the U S federal statutory tax rate and from the expected tax benefit of 2008
restructuring expenses These benefits were only partially offset by state tax expense and certain foreign tax costs

23

Source KRAFT FOODS INC 10-K, Febiuary 25 2010 Poweied by h'o tings*ar  Document Researcn™




Qur 2007 effective tax rate included net tax benefits of $184 million, pnmanly including the effects of dividend repatnation benefits, foreign joint
venture earnings and the effect on foreign deferred taxes from lower foreign tax rates enacted in 2007 The 2007 tax rate also benefited from
foreign earnings laxed below the U § federal statutory tax rate, an increased domestic manufacturing deduction, and the divestiture of our
flavared water and juice brand assets and refated trademarks These benefits were partially offsel by state tax expense, tax costs associated with
the divestiture of our hot cereal assets and trademarks and interest income from Altna related to the transfer of our federal tax contingencies

As a result of our spin-off from Altna Group, Inc (“Altna™), Altna transferred our federal tax contingencies to our balance sheet and related interest
income of $77 millien, or $0 03 per diluted share, i 2007 Following our spin-off from Altna, we no longer are a member of the Altria consolidated
tax return group, and we file our own federal consohdated ncome tax returns

Consolidated Results of Operations

The following discussion compares our consolidated results of operations for 2009 with 2008, and for 2008 with 2007

Many factors have an impact on the iming of sales to our customers These factors include, among others, the timing of holidays and other annual
or special events seasonahty, significant weather conditions, timing of our own or customer incentive programs and pricing actions, customer
inventory pregrams and general economic conditions Our domestic operating subsidiaries report year-end results as of the last Saturday of the
year and our international operating subsidianes generally report year-end results two weeks pnor to the last Saturday of the year

2009 compared wrth 2008

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2008 2008 § change % change
{in milhons, except per
share data)
Net revenues $ 40,386 $ 41932 $ {1,546} (3 7%
Operating income 5,524 3,843 1,681 43 7%
Earnings fram continuing operations 3,028 1,848 1,180 63 9%
Net earnings atiributable to Kraft Foods 3,021 2,884 137 4 8%
Diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations attnbutable to Kraft Foods 203 121 082 67 8%
Diluted earnings per share attributable
to Kraft Foods 203 190 013 6 8%

Net Revenues - Net revenues decreased $1,546 million (3 7%} to $40,386 million in 2009, and organic net revenues increased $633 million
{1 5%) to $42,210 million as follows Please see Non-GAAP Financial Measures section at the end of this ftem

Change in net revenues {(by percentage point)

Higher net pricing 19pp
Unfavorable volume/mix (0 2)pp
2008 favorable resolution of a Brazihan value
added tax claim (0 2)pp
Total change in orgaruc net revenues 1 5%
Unfavorable foreign currency {4 S5)pp
Impact of divestitures 07
Total change 1n net revenues {3 7)%
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The decrease in net revenues was partally offset by higher input cost-driven pricing The unfavarable volume/mix impact on net revenues was
dniven by volume declines across all reportable segments, except U S Beverages and U S Convenient Meals, in part due to the discontinuation of
less prefitable product lines Unfavorable foreign currency decreased net revenues by $1,897 million, due pnmarily to the strength of the U S
dollar against the euro, Russian ruble, Canadian doilar, Ukrainian hryvria, British pound, Brazihian real and Polish zloty The absence of the 2008
favorable resolution of a Brazdian value added tax claim and the impact of divestitures also had an unfavorable impact on net revenues

QOperating income - Qperating income increased $1,681 million (43 7%) to $5,524 million in 2009, due to the following (in milhons)

Operating
Income Change
(in millions) (percentage point)
2008 Operating Income $ 3,843
Change in operating income
Higher pricing 781 15 Cpp
Favorable volume/mix 195 3 8pp
Lower input costs a7 17pp
Lower Restructunng Program costs 1,074 30 2pp
Change in unrealized gains on hedging activities 408 7 9pp
Lower losses on divestitures, net 86 3 3pp
Lower asset impairment charges 119 2 9pp
Lower charges from certain legal matters 22 0 7pp
2008 favorable resolution of Braziian value added tax claim (67) (1 3)pp
Higher marketing, administration and research costs (694) (13 4)pp
Unfavorable foreign currency (322) {6 3)pp
Other, net {18) (0 8)pp
Total change In operating iIncome 1,681 43 7%
2009 Operating Income $ = 5524

Higher pricing reflected the carryover impact of 2008 pricing actions, as we recovered some of our cumufative cost increases from prior years The
favorable volume/mix was driven by strong contributions from Kraft Foods Developing Markets and U S Convenient Meals The decrease in input
costs was driven by lower raw maternial costs, parually offset by higher manufacturing costs Dunng 2009, we reversed $85 million in Restructuning
Program charges recorded in the prior year, versus the $398% mithon v Restructuring Program charges recognized in 2008 We recognized gains
of $203 millhon on the change in unrealized hedging posiions in 2009, versus losses of $205 milion in 2008 We recorded $6 mill:ion of net losses
on divestitures in 2009, versus $92 milhon of net losses on divestitures in 2008 We recorded asset impairment charges of 321 million related to
intangible assets in the Netherlands and to write off an investment in Norway in 2009, versus asset impairment charges of $140 million related to
certain international intangible assets, the divestiture of our Nordic and Baltic snacks operaticn, a juice operation in Brazil and a cheese plant in
Australia that were recorded in 2008 We had $22 milhon of lower charges from certain legal matters During 2009, we recorded an additional $50
million of charges for legal matters related to certain of our European operations {see Part | ltem 3 Legal Proceedings for a descnption of these
matters) in 2008, we recorded $72 milhon in charges for legal matters related to certain of our U S and European operations, including U S
coffee operations Total marketing, administration and research costs, as recorded in the consclidated statement of earnings, increased $246
million from 2008 Excluding the impacts of divestitures, foreign currency, charges for certain legal matters and prior year Restructuring Program
costs it ncreased $694 million over 2008, primarily due to further investments in our brands, including spending on Cost Savings inihatives, and
higher marketing support costs In addition, unfavorable foreign currency decreased operating income by $322 mullien, due primarily to the
strength of the U § dollar against the British pound, euro, Canadian dollar, Russian ruble, Ukraiman hryvnia, Korean won, Brazilian real, and
Polish zloty

As a result of these changes, operating margin also increased from 9 2% in 2008 to 13 7% in 2009
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Net Eamings and Eamings per Share Attnbutable to Kraft Foods - Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods of $3,021 million increased by $137
millien (4 8%) in 2009 Diluted EPS from continuing operations attnbutable to Kraft Foods were $2 03 1n 2009, up 67 8% from $1 21 1 2008

Diluted EPS attnibutable to Kraft Foods were $2 03 in 2009, up 6 8% from $1 90 in 2008, due to the following

Net Eamings

Diluted EPS

(in millions, except
per share data)

2008 Net Earnings Attnbutable to Kraft Foods $ 2884 § 190
Change in net earnings attnbutable to Kraft Foods

Increases in operations 014

Lower charges from certain legal matters 001

Lower Restructunng Program costs 049

Change in unrealized gains cn hedging activities 018

Lower asset impairment charges 006

Lower losses on divestitures, net 008

2008 favorable resolution of Brazihan value added tax claim {0 03)

Unfavorable foreign currency (0 14)

Other changes in taxes, including tax settlements {0 01)

Fewer shares outstanding 004

Change v net earnings from continuing operations 082
2008 gan on the split-off of our Post cereals business (0 61)
Decreased earmings from discontinued operations (0 08)
Change 1n net earmings from discontinued operations (0 69)
Total change 1n net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods 137 013
2009 Net Earmings Attributable to Kraft Foods $ 3,021 § 203
2008 compared with 2007
For the Years Ended
Docember 31,
2008 2007 $ change % change
(in mithons, except per
share data}

Net revenues $ 41,932 3 35856 § 6,074 16 9%
Operating ncome 3843 4,176 (333} (8 0%)
Earmings from continuing operations 1,848 2,492 (644) (25 8%)
Net earnings attributable to Kraft

Foods 2,884 2721 163 6 0%
Diluted earnings per share from

continuing

operations attributable to Kraft

Foods 121 156 (0 35) (22 4%)
Drluted earnings per share attributable

to Kraft Foods 190 170 020 11 8%
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Net Revenues - Net revenues increased $6,074 million (16 9%) to $41,932 million in 2008, and organic net revenues increased $2,394 million
(6 8%) to $37,818 multton as follows Piease see Non-GAAP Financial Measures section at the end of this Item

Change in net revenues (by percentage pomnt)

Higher net pricing 7 4pp
2008 favorable resolution of a Brazilian value added tax clam 0 2pp
Unfavorable volume/mux (0 B)pp
Total change in organic net revenues 6 8%
2007 LU Biscut acquistion 8 9pp
Favorable foreign currency 2 Opp
Impact of divestitures {0 8)pp
Total change tn net revenues 16 9%

Net revenues increased as we Increased pricing to offset higher input costs and investments in our brands Unfavorable volume/mix was driven by
lower base business shipments, partially offset by improved product mix pnmanly in Kraft Foods Europe and Kraft Foods Developing Markets
Higher base business shipments n our Canada & N A Foodservice, Kraft Foods Developing Markets and U S Convenient Meals segments were
more than offset by declines in our remaining business segments Our LU Biscuit acquisition was the largest increase to net revenues as no 2007
revenues were recorded due to the year-end acquisition timing Foreign currency increased net revenues by $711 million, due pnmarily to the
strength of the euro, Brazihan real, Pohsh zloty and Canadian dollar against the U S dollar

Operating Income - Operating income declined $333 million (8 0%) to $3,843 mullion 1n 2008, due to the following (in millions)

Operating Income Change
{in millions) {percentage point)
2007 Operating Income $ 4,178
Change in operating income
Higher pricing 2,633 55 9pp
Higher mput costs {2,059) (43 7)pp
Unfavorable volume/mix (128) (2 8)pp
Increased operating income from our LLf Biscult acquisition 438 9 3pp
Integration costs associated with our LU Biscuit acquisition (78) (16)pp
Higher Restructuring Program costs {542) {12 3)pp
Higher marketing, administration and research costs (280) (& Dpp
Change in unrealized losses on hedging activities (221) (4 7)pp
Higher losses on divestitures, net (106) (26)pp
Charges from certain legal matters {72) (1 6)pp
Higher asset mpairment charges (20) (0 2)pp
2008 favorable resolution of a Brazihan value added tax clam 67 1 4pp
Favorable foreign currency 61 1 3pp
Other, net (26) {0 5)pp
Total change 1n operating iIncome {333) (8 0)%
2008 Operating Income $ 3843

Higher pricing outpaced our input cost increases during the year, as we recovered cumulative cost increases from prior years The increase in
Input costs was pnmarily related to hugher raw matenal costs The unfavorable volume/mix was drven by declines across most segments withun
Kraft Foods North Amenca, partially offset by valume/mix gamns in Kraft Foods Developing Markets and Kraft Foods Europe The increase in
unrealized losses on hedging activities primarily related to energy denvatives, including heabng il (used primanly to hedge transportation costs)
and natural gas contracts Our LU Biscuit acguisition, net of integration costs, increased operating income by $360 milicn Total marketing,
administration and research costs, as recorded in the consolidated statement of eamings, increased $1,275 millon over the prior year Excluding
the impacts of acquisitions, divestitures, foreign currency and

27

Source KRAFT FOODS INC 10-K February 25 2010 Povereo,t mgar Davna st Roa. v n®




charges for legal matters it increased $280 million over the prior year The net impact of losses on divestitures and asset impairments had an
unfavorable impact of $126 million on operating income versus the pnor year The charges for legal matters related to certain of our U S and
European operations, ncluding U S cofiee operations Charges for legal matters were recorded within marketing, administration and research
costs In addition, foreign currency increased operating income by $61 miltion, due pnmarily to the strength of the Brazihan real, euro, Polish zloty
and Canadian doilar agamst the U S dollar

As a result of these changes, operaling margin also decreased from 11 6% in 2007 to 9 2% 1n 2008

Net Earmings and Earmings per Share Attnbutable {o Kraft Foods - Net earnings atinbutable to Kraft Foods of $2,884 million increased by $163
million (6 0%) 1n 2008 Dhluted EPS from continuing operations attnibutable to Kraft Foods were $1 21 1n 2008, down 22 4% from $1 56 in 2007
Diluted EPS attributable to Kraft Foods were $1 90, up 11 8% from $1 70 in 2007, due to the following

Nat Earnings Dituted EPS
{in milhons, axcept
per share data)

2007 Net Earnings Attnbutable to Kraft Foods $ 2721 § 170
Change 1n net earnings attnbutable to Kraft Foods
Increases in operations 002
Impact to operations from our LU Biscuit acquisition 015
Higher Restructuring Program costs {0 26)
Change in unrealized losses on hedging activibes (0 09)
Higher asset impairment charges {0 04)
Higher losses on dwvestitures, net (0 04)
Charges from certain legal matters {0 03)
2008 favorable resolution of a Brazihan value added tax clam 003
Higher interest and other expense, net (023)
2007 interest from Altna tax reserve (0 03)
Favorable foreign currency 002
Deferred tax reconciiation 001
Other changes In taxes 003
Fewer shares outstanding 010
Change In net earrings from continuing operations (0 35)
2008 gan on the spht-off of our Post cereals business 061
Decreased earnings from discontinued operations {0 06)
Change 1n net earnings from discontinued operations 0 55
Total change 1n net earnings attnbutable to Kraft Foods 163 020
2008 Net Earnings Attributable to Kraft Foods $ 2,884 % 190

Results of Operations by Business Segment

We manage and report operating results through three geographic units, Kraft Foods North America, Kraft Foods Europe and Kraft Foods
Developing Markets We manage the operations of Kraft Foods North America and Kraft Foods Europe by product category, and we manage the
aperations of Kraft Foods Developing Markets by location Qur reportable segments are U S Beverages US Cheese U S Convenient Meals
US Grocery US Snacks Canada & N A Foodservice Kraft Foods Eurcpe {formerly known as European Union) and Kraft Foods Developing
Markets

Effective January 2009 we began implementing changes to cur operating structure based on our Grganizing For Growth iniiative and the Kraft

Foods Europe Reorganization In line with our strategies, we are reorganizing our European operations to function on a pan-European centralized
category management and value chain model, and we changed how we work in Europe in two key ways

+  We transitioned our European Biscuit, Chocolate, Coffee and Cheese calegones to fully integrated business units, further
strengthening our focus on these core categones To ensure decisions are made
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taster and closer to our customers and consumers, each category 15 fully accountable for its financial results, including marketing,
manufacturing and R&D Category leadership, based in Zunch, Switzerland, reports tc the Kraft Foods Europe President These
business units now comprise the Kraft Foods Europe segment

+  We aligned the reporting of our Central Europe operations into our Kraft Foods Developing Markets segment to help build cntical scale
in these countries We operate a country-led model in these markets

The following discussion compares our results of operations for each of our reportable segments for 2009 with 2008, and for 2008 with 2007
For the Years Ended Decembar 31,

2009 2008 2007
{in millions)

Net revenues
Kraft Foods North America

U S Beverages $ 3057 % 3,001 $ 2,990

U S Cheese 3,605 4,007 3,745

U S Convenient Meals 4,496 4,240 3,805

US Grocery 3,453 3,389 3,277

US Snacks 4,964 5,025 4,879
Canada & N A Foodservice 4,087 4,294 4,080
Kraft Foods Europe 8768 9,728 7.007
Kraft Foods Developing Markets 7,956 8,248 5,975
Net revenues $ 40386 $ 41932 $ 35858

For the Years Ended Decembor 31,
2009 2008 2007
{in millions)

Operating income
Kraft Foods North Amenica

U S Beverages 3 511 § 381 8 346
U S Cheese 667 563 487 ‘
U S Convenient Meals 510 339 319
U S Grocery 1,146 1,009 1,022
U S Snacks 723 638 716
Canada & N A Foodservice 527 448 443
Kraft Foous Eurcpe 785 182 455
Kraft Foods Developing Markets 936 815 588
Unrealized gains / (losses) on
hedging activities 203 (205} 16
Certain U S pension plan costs (165) - -
General corporate expenses (293) (304) (203)
Amortization of intangibles (26) (23) {13)
Operating income $ 5524 § 3.843 § 4176

As discussed In Note 16, Segment Reporting, management uses segment operating income to evaluate segment performance and allocate
resources \We believe it 1s appropnate to disclose this measure to help investors analyze segment performance and trends Segment operating
income excludes unreahzed gains and losses on hedging activities (which are a component of cost of sales), certain components of our U S
penston plan cost (which 1s 2 component of cost of sales and marketing, administration and research costs), general corporate expenses (which
are a component of marketing, administration and research costs) and amortization of intangibles for all penods presented In 2009, we began
excluding certain components of our U S pension pian cost from segment operating income because we centrally manage pension plan funding
decisions and the determination of discount rate, expected rate of return on plan assets and other actuanal assumptions Therefore, we allocate
only the service cost component of our U S pension plan expense to segment operating income We exclude the unrealized gains and losses on
hedging actmities from segment operating income in order to provide better transparency of our segment operating results Cnce realized, the
gamns and losses on hedgmg activities are recorded within segment operating results
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In 2009, unrealized gans on hedging activities of $203 million pnmanly resulted from the 2008 unrealized losses on energy derivatives becoming
reahzed in 2009 In 2008, unrealzed losses on hedging activities of $205 million were primarily related to energy denvatives, including heating otl
{used pnmanly to hedge transportation costs) and natural gas contracts In 2009, general corporate expenses included $50 million of charges for
legal matters related to certain of our European operations (see Part | ltem 3 Legal Proceedings for a description of these matters} In 2008, we
recorded $72 million in charges for legal matters related to certain of our U S and European operations, including U § ceffee operations and
represented the pnmary reason general corporate expenses increased $101 milion in 2008

We incurred costs associated with our Cost Savings Imtiatives of $318 milion in 2009 These charges were recorded n operations, pnmanly within
the segment operating income of Kraft Foods Europe with the remainder spread across all other segments In 2009, we also reversed $85 million
of Restructuring Program costs, with the majonty relating to our Kraft Foods Europe segment while the remainder was spread across all other
segments We incurred Restructuning Program costs of $989 million in 2008 and $459 miliion in 2007 Refer to Note 6, Restructunng Costs, for a
breakout of the 2008 and 2007 charges by segment We also incurred asset impaiment charges of $21 million in 2009 refated to our Kraft Foods
Europe segment, $140 million in 2008 related to our Kraft Foods Europe and Kraft Foods Developing Markets segments, and $120 million in 2007
related to our U S Beverages segment Refer to Note 5, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, for further detalls of these charges

U S Beverages

For the Years Ended

December 31,
2009 2008 $ change % change
{in millions}
Net revenues $ 3.057 % 3co1 $ 56 19%
Segment operaling \ncome 511 381 130 34 1%

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2008 2007 $ change % change
{tn millions)
Net revenues $ 3001 § 2990 % " 04%
Segment operating Income 381 346 35 10 1%

2009 compared with 2008

Net revenues increased $56 million (1 9%), due to favorable volume/mix (1 3 pp) and higher net pricing (0 6 pp} Favorable volume/mix was driven
by higher shipments in ready-to-drnink and powdered beverages Ready-to-drink beverages grew from successful quality and marketing
investments in Caprr Sun, partally offset by the discontinuation of less profitable ready-to-drink product ines Powdered beverages volume
increased pnmarily due to strong gamns in Kool-Aid and Tang Coffee volume declined as gains in Maxwell House Starbucks and Tassimo were
more than offset by declines in Gevahia These favorable factors were partially offset by unfavorable mix driven by the higher ready-to-dnink
volume Higher net pricing was pnmarily related to ready-te-drink beverages partialiy offset by lower input cost-driven pricing in coffee

Segment operating tncome increased $130 million (34 1%), due primanly to lower costs due to the completion of the Restructuring Program, lower
raw matenal costs, higher net pricing favorable volume/mix (higher shipments net of unfavorable product mix) lower manufactunng costs and
lower marketing, administration and research costs, partially offset by higher marketing support costs

2008 compared with 2007

Net revenues increased $11 mullion (0 4%), due to higher net pricing (4 9 pp), partially offset by the impact of divestitures (2 4 pp) and unfavorabte
volumefmix (2 1 pp) Higher net pricing reflected input cost-driven pnaing in coffee and lower promotional spending in ready-to-drnink beverages
Unfavorable volume/mix was driven by lower shipments, partially offset by improved product mix due to growth in Tassimo Lower shipments were
dnven by declines n ready-to-drink beverages, pnmanty Capr Sun, parbally cffset by gains in powdered beverages, pnmanly Country Time and
Keol-Aid, and Maxwell House mainstream coffee
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Segment operating income increased $35 million (10 1%), due pnmanly to higher net pricing, a 2007 asset impairment charge related to our
flavored water and juice brand assets and related trademarks, the impact of divestitures and lower manufactunng costs These favorable factors
were partially offset by higher raw matenal costs, higher Restructunng Program costs, unfavorable velume/mix and higher marketing,
administration and research costs

U S Cheese
Forthe Years Endad
December 31,
2009 2008 $ change % change
{in millians)
Net revenues 3 3,605 3 4007 % {402) (10 0%)
Segment operating incocme 667 563 104 18 5%
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2008 2007 $ change % change
{in millions)
Net revenues % 4,007 $ 3,745 § 262 7 0%
Segment cperating income 563 487 76 156%

2009 compared with 2008

Net revenues decreased $402 millien {10 0%), due to lower net pricing (8 8 pp) and unfavorable volume/mix (1 2 pp) Lower net pricing was due to
lower input cost-driven pricing combined with increases in promotional spending Net revenues also dechined due to lower shipments, pnmarily in
cultured and natural cheese products

Segment operating income Increased $104 million (18 5%), due primarnily to lower raw material costs (pnmanly lower dairy costs), lower
manufactuning costs, lower cests due to the completion of the Restructuring Program and lower marketing, administration and research costs,
partially offset by lower net pricing and higher marketing support costs

2008 compared with 2007

Net revenues increased $262 milion (7 0%), due to higher net pricing (14 1 pp), partially offset by unfavorable volume/mix (7 1 pp) Higher net
pricing reflected input cost-driven pricing, partially offset by increased promotional spending in our natural cheese category Unfavorable
volume/mix was driven primarily by shipment declines in all of our major cheese categones, partially offset by new preduct innovations, primanly
Kraft Bagel-fuls

Segment operating Income increased $76 millicn (15 6%), due primarily to higher net pricing and lower Restructuring Program costs, partratly
offset by higher raw matenal costs, unfavorable volume/mix, higher manufactunng costs and higher marketing, adrmunistration and research costs

U S Convement Meals
For the Years Ended
Dacomber 31,
2009 2008 $ change % change
{in millions)

Net revenues $ 4,496 $ 4240 % 256 6 0%
Segment operating income 510 339 171 50 4%

For the Yoars Ended

December 31,
2008 2007 $ change % change
{in millions)
Net revenues 3 4,240 $ 3905 3% 335 86%
Segment operating income 339 319 20 63%
ch|
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2009 compared with 2008

Net revenues increased $256 million (6 0%) due to favorable volume/mix {4 6 pp) and higher net pricing (1 4 pp) Net revenues increased in
meats pnmanly due to higher net pncing (increased input cost-driven pricing, net of increased promotional spending) Also volume increased due
to higher shipments in bacon cold cuts and hot dogs, partially offset by the discontinuation of less profitable product ines In pizza, net revenues
increased due to the volume growth in our DiGromo and Calfornia Pizza Kitchen premuum brands, as well as growth in our Jack's and Tombstone
pizza brands, partially offset by the unfavorable impact of the disconfinuation of less profitable product lnes This was partially offset by lower net
pricing dniven by increased promotional spending

Segment operating income increased $171 million (50 4%), due prmanly to favorable volume/mix (higher shipments and improved product mix),
igher net pricing, lower raw matenal costs, lower costs due to the completion of the Restructuning Program and lower manufacturning costs These
favorable factors were partially offset by higher marketing support costs and higher marketing, administration and research costs

Frozen Pizza Divestiture - On January 4, 2010, we entered into an agreement to sell the assets of our Frozen Pizza business to Nestle for total
consideration of $3 7 billon The sale, which 15 subject to customary conditions, including regulatory clearances, includes the DiGiomo,
Tombstone and Jack's brands in the U S, the Deltssio brand in Canada and the Califorrua Pizza Kitchen trademark icense

U S pizza net revenues increased $174 million (13 5%) to $1,467 milhon in 2009, due to favarable volume/mix (15 4 pp), partially offset by lower
net pricing (1 9 pp) Favorable volume/mix was driven by volume gains in DiGiorno and Calrfornia Pizza Kitchen premium brands, as well as
growth In our Jack’s and Tombstone pizza brands This was partially offset by lower net pricing driven by increased promotional spending Canada
pizza net revenues were $165 mullion 1n 2009

U S pizza segment operating income increased $62 milkon (29 0%) to $276 milion in 2009, due primarily to favorable volume/mix (higher
shipments and improved product mix) lower raw materal costs and lower manufacturing costs These favorable factors were partially offset by
tugher marketing support costs, higher marketing, admimistration and research costs and lower net pricing Canada pizza segment operating
ncome was $65 million 1n 2009

The combined segment operating income for Frozen Pizza as presented excludes stranded overheads of $108

2008 compared with 2007

Net revenues increased $335 million (8 6%), due to higher net pncing (5 6 pp) and favorable volume/mix {3 0 pp) Net revenues increased in
meats due to higher net pricing, driven by input cost-driven pricing in sandwich meats, Lunchables and hotdogs Also contnbuting to meats net
revenue growth was higher shipments of bacon, as well as new product introductions, including Oscar Mayer Delt Creations sandwiches
{flatbreads) and Oscar Mayer Deli Fresh meals {shaved singles and carved) In pizza, net revenues increased due to higher input cost-dnven
pricing, net of increased promotional spending, volume growth in DiGromo and California Pizza Kitchen premium brands and the launch of the For
One product kne of individual size pizzas

Segment operating income increased $20 milhon (6 3%), due prnmanly to higher net pricing, favorable volume/mix and lower marketing support
costs, partially offset by higher raw matenal costs, higher marketing, administration and research costs, higher manufacturing costs and higher
Restructuring Program costs
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U S Grocery

For the Years Ended

Dacember 31,
2009 2008 $ change % change
{1in milhions)
Net revenues $ 3,453 $ 3389 § 64 19%
Segment operating income 1,146 1,009 137 13 6%

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2008 2007 $ change % change
(in millions)
Net revenues ] 3,388 S 3277 % 112 34%
Segment operating income 1,009 1,022 (13) {1 3%)

2009 compared with 2008

Net revenues increased $64 million (1 9%), due to higher net pricing (3 5 pp), partially offset by unfavorable volume/mix (1 6 pp) MNet revenues
increased due to higher input cost-driven pricing across several of our key categones, primanly spoonable salad dressings, dry packaged dessers
and ready-to-eat desserts Net revenues growth was partially offset by lower volume, net of favorable product mix This reflected the 2008 exit of
Handr-Snacks ready-to-eat desserts, as well as lower shipments in pourable and spoonable salad dressings, Jel-O ready-to-eat-desserts,
barbecue sauce and Cool Whip whipped topping, which were partially offset by growth In Kraft macarom and cheese dinners

Segment operating income increased $137 million (13 6%}, due primanly to higher net pricing, lower costs due to the completion of the
Restructuring Program and lower manufacturing costs, partially offset by higher marketing support costs, unfavorable volume/mix (lower
shipments, net of improved product mix) and higher marketing, administration and research costs

2008 compared with 2007

Net revenues increased $112 million (3 4%), due to higher net pricing (6 2 pp), partially offset by unfavorable volume/mix (2 8 pp) Net revenues
increased due to higher input cost-driven pricing across our key categonies, primarily spoonable and pourable salad dressings and Kraft macaron
and cheese dinners In addition, net revenues growth was impacted by unfavorable volume/mix driven by lower shipments in spoconable and
pourable salad dressings, ready-to-eat desserts and barbecue sauce, partially offset by volume gains in Kraft macaroni and cheese dinners

Segment operating income decreased $13 million (1 3%), due to higher raw matenal costs, unfavorable volume/mix (lower shipments net of
improved product mix} higher marketing, administration and research costs and higher Restructuring Program costs, partially offset by higher net
pricing and lower marketing support costs

US Snacks
For the Years Ended
December 31,
2009 2008 $ change % change
(tn milionsg)
Net revenues $ 4 954 5 5025 % {61) (1 2%)
Segment operating income 723 638 85 13 3%
For the Years Ended
December 31, -
2008 2007 $ change % change
{in milions)
Net revenues 3 5,025 3 4879 § 145 30%
Segment operating income 638 716 (78) (10 9%)
33

Source KRAFT FQODS INC, 10-K February 25 2010 Pov.eeat, Kasines @ Boonont Pgsea oY




2009 compared with 2008

Net revenues decreased $61 muillion (1 2%), due to unfavorable volume/mix (1 7 pp} and the impact of divestitures (0 2 pp), partially offset by
higher net pricing (0 7 pp) Biscuits net revenues increased, dniven by higher input cost-driven pricing, partially offset by unfavorable volume/mix
(unfavorable product mix, net of higher shipments) Biscuits volume gam was due to higher shipments pnmanly 1n Ritz crackers, Oreo cookies,
Tnscuwit crackers and Chips Ahoy! cookies Snack bars net revenues decreased, pnmanly due to volume declines in breakfast bars Snack nuts
net revenues decreased, pnmanly driven by lower net pnoing due to higher promotional spending, and unfavorable volume/mix reflecting lower
volume due primanly to the recall of certain products containing pistachios in March 2009

Segment operating income increased $85 million {13 3%) due pnmantly to lower costs due to the completion of the Restructunng Program, lower
marketing support costs, lower manufacturing costs, higher net pncing, the gain on the divestiture of our Balance bar operations inthe U S and
lower marketing, administration and research costs These favorable factors were partially offset by higher raw matenal costs and unfavorable
volume/mix (unfavorable praduct mix and lower shipments, including the recall of certain products contaming pistachios)

2008 compared with 2007

Net revenues increased $146 miliion (3 0%), due to higher net pricing {8 4 pp} and the impact of our LU Biscuit acquisition (0 4 pp}, partially offset

by unfavorable volume/mix (5 6 pp) and the impact of divestitures (0 2 pp) Biscuits net revenues increased, driven by higher input cost-driven

pricing and lower promotional spending, partially offset by unfavorable volume/mix Biscuits unfavorable volume/mix was driven by base business

volume dechnes in Wheat Thins crackers, Cheese Nips crackers and Chips Ahoy! cookies, parhally offset by gains in Oreo cookies as well as new ‘
product introductions including Kraft macaroni and cheese crackers and Nilla Cakesters snack cakes Snack bars net revenues decreased, driven ‘
by volume declines In breakfast bars, pnmarily due to product pruning Snack nuts net revenues decreased, driven by lower volume, partially

offset by lgher net pnicing

Segment operating income decreased $78 mitlion {10 9%), due to unfavorable volume/mix (lower shipments and unfavorable mix), higher raw
matenal costs, higher manufacturing costs, higher Restructuring Program costs, higher marketing, administration and research costs, a 2007 gan
on the divestiture of our hot cereal assets and trademarks and the iImpact of divestitures These unfavorable vanances were partially offset by
higher net pricing and lower marketing support costs

Canada & N A Foodservice

For the Years Ended
Dacember 31,

2009 2008 $ change % change
{in millions)
Net revenues $ 4,087 % 4284 % (207} (4 8%}
Segment cperating income 527 448 79 17 6%

For the Years Ended

December 31,
2008 2007 $ change % change
(in milions)
I
Net revenues $ 4,294 $ 4,080 & 214 52% \
Segment operating iIncome 448 443 5 11% I

2009 compared with 2008

Net revenues decreased $207 million (4 8%), due to the significant impact of unfavorable foreign currency (4 6 pp) and unfavorable volume/mix
(02 pp) In Canada, net revenues increased, driven by velume gains across all retall businesses and higher net pricing, partially offset by
unfavorable foreign currency In N A Foodservice, net revenues decreased drniven by lower volume, due to industry-wide declines in restaurant
traffic and the discontinuation of tess profitable product lines, lower input cost-driven pncing and unfavorable foreign currency

Segment operating ncome increased $79 milion (17 6%), due pnmarily to lower costs due to the completion of the Restructunng Program and
lower raw materal costs partially offset by unfavorable foreign currency, higher manufactuning costs and higher marketing support costs
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2008 compared with 2007

Net revenues increased $214 milhon {5 2%), due pnmarily to higher net pricing (3 9 pp), favorable foreign currency (1 3 pp) and favorable
volume/mix (0 3 pp), partially offset by the impact of divestitures (0 4 pp} In Canada, net revenues growth was primanly dnven by volume gams
across all retall businesses, favorable foreign currency and higher net pncing In N A Foodservice, net revenues increased, pnmanly driven by
higher input cost-driven pricing, partially offset by unfavorable volume/mix

Segment operating tncome increased $5 milhon (1 1%), due primanily to higher net pncing, lower manufacturing costs, lower marketing,
admnistration and research costs, favorable volume/mix (higher shipments, net of unfavorable mix) and favorable foreign currency These
favorable vanances were partially offset by higher raw matenal costs, higher Restructuring Program costs and higher marketing support costs

Kraft Foods Europe

For the Years Ended
Decembar 31,

2009 2008 $ change % change
{in millions)
Net revenues $ 8,768 3 9728 § (960) (9 9%)
Segment operating income 785 182 603 100 0+%

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2008 2007 $ change % change
{tn millions})
Net revenues $ 9,728 3 7,007 % 2,721 38 8%
Segment operating income 182 455 (273) (60 0%)

2008 compared with 2008

Net revenues decreased $960 million (9 9%), due to the significant impact of unfavorable foreign currency (6 7 pp), unfavorable volume/mix

{2 8 pp) and the impact of divestitures (2 2 pp), partialty offset by higher net pnicing (1 8 pp) Unfavorable foreign currency primarity reflected the
strength of the U 8 dollar versus the euro and Bntish pound In addition, volume declines in coffee, biscuits, chocolate and cheese and the
discontinuation of less profitable product ines drove net revenues lower These unfavorable revenue drivers were partially offset by higher net
pricing, primarily in chocolate, coffee and biscuits

Segment operating income increased $603 million {100+%), due to lower costs due to the completion of the Restructuring Program (including the
reversal of pnor year costs), higher net pricing, the 2008 net loss on the dwestitures of several operations in Spain, 2008 asset impairment
charges related to certain international intangible assets and the divestiture of our Nordic and Baltic snacks operation, lower manufacturing costs
and lower raw matenal costs These favorable vanances were partally offset by unfavorable foreign currency, higher marketing support costs,
higher non-recurring costs associated with the Kraft Foods Europe Reorganization, higher marketing, admimstration and research costs (primarily
spending on Cost Savings Initiatives), asset impairment charges related to certain intangible assets in the Netherlands and to write off an
mvestment in Norway, the net loss on the divestiture of a plant in Spain, unfavorable volume/mix {lower shipments, net of improved product mix)
and the impact of divestitures

2008 compared with 2007

Net revenues increased $2,721 milhion {38 8%), due to the impact of our LU Biscuit acquisition (33 1 pp), favorable foreign currency (5 5 pp) and
huigher net pricing {4 7 pp), partially offset by the impact of divestitures (3 5 pp) and unfavorable volume/mix (1 0 pp) Higher input cost-driven
pncing was partially offset by higher promotional spending Unfavorable volume/mix was dniven by declines i coffee and cheese shipments,
partially offset by gains in chocolate

Segment operating income decreased $273 milhon (60 0%), due pnmanly to higher raw matenal costs, higher Restructuring Program costs, the
net loss on the divestitures of several operations in Spam, asset impairment charges related to certain international intangible assets and the
divestiture of our Nordic and Baltic snacks operation higher marketing, administration and research costs and the impact of divestitures These
unfavorable
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variances were parhally offset by higher net pricing, the impact of our LU Biscuit acquisition {net of associated integration costs) lower
manufacturing costs, fower marketing support costs and favorable volume/mix (improved mix, net of lower shipments)

Krafl Foods Europe Reorgamzaltion - The reorganization of our European operations to function on a pan-European centralized category
management and value chain model was completed in 2009 for our Chocolate, Caffee and Cheese categories Significant progress was made in
2009 related to the integration of our Europe Biscuits business, and we expect the integration to be completed by mid-2010 The European
Principal Company (*EPC™) will manage the European categories centrally and make decisions for all aspects of the value chain, except for sales
and distribution The European subsidiaries will execute sales and distnbution locally, and the local preduction companies will act as toll
manufacturers on behalf of the EPC The EPC legal entity has been incorporated as Kraft Foods Europe GmbH in Zunich, Switzerland As part of
the reorganization, we incurred $32 milkon of severance costs, $25 milion of implementation costs and $56 million of other non-recurring costs
duning 2009, we incurred $16 mullion of restructuring costs, $39 million of mplementation costs and $11 rmilhon of other non-recurnng costs durning
2008, and we incurred $2% milhon of restructunng costs, $24 mihon of implementation costs and $10 milion of other non-recurring costs during
2007 Through 2009, we have incurred charges of $241 millon related to our Kraft Foods Europe Reorganization including the above mentioned
costs We expect to incur approximately $40 million in addiional charges in 2010 to cemplete the integration of the Europe Biscuits business In
2009, these charges were recorded within cost of sales and marketing, admimistration and research costs The 2008 and 2007 restructuring and
implementation costs were recorded as part of our overall Restructunng Program Other non-recurnng costs relating to our Kraft Foods Europe
Reorganization were recorded as marketing, administration and research costs Management believes the disclosure of implementation and other
non-recurring charges provides readers of our financial statements greater transparency to the total costs of our Kraft Foods Europe
Reorganization

Kraft Foods Developing Markets

For the Years Ended
Docember 31,

2009 2008 § change % change
{in mullions)
Net revenues $ 7,956 $ 8248 § {292) (3 5%)
Segment operating income 936 815 121 14 8%

For the Years Ended
Daecomber 31,

2008 2007 $ chango % chango
{tn mullions)
Net revenues $ 8,248 3 5975 % 2,273 380%
Segment operating Income 815 588 227 38 6%

2009 compared with 2008

Net revenues decreased $292 million (3 5%) due to the significant impact of unfavorable foreign currency {12 8 pp), the absence of the 2008
favorable resolution of a Brazilian value added tax claim (0 8 pp) and the impact of divestitures (O 5 pp), parbally offset by higher net pricing (8 9
pp) and favorable volume/mix (1 8 pp} In Central and Eastern Europe, Middle East and Africa, net revenues decreased, driven pnmarily by
unfavorable foreign currency, partially offset by huigher net pricing across most of the region and favorable volume/mix (improved praduct mix, net
of lower shipments) In Latin America, net revenues increased, primarily driven by higher net pricing across the region and favorable volume/mix
(lower shipments, net of improved product mix), partially offset by unfaverable foreign currency and the absence of the 2008 favorable resolutron
of a Brazihan value added tax claim In Asia Pacific, net revenues increased due to higher net pricing acress most of the region and favorable
volume/mix (improved product mix, net of lower shipments), pnmanly in China, partially offset by unfavorable foreign currency

Segment operating income increased $121 milhon {14 8%), due primanly to huigher net pncing, favorable volume/mix (improved product mix, net of
lower shipments), lower costs due to the completion of the Restructuring Program (including the reversal of pnor year costs) and 2008 asset
impairment charges related to certain international intangible assets a juice operation in Brazil and a cheese plant in Australia These favorable
vanances were partially offset by higher raw matenal costs, higher manufacturing costs, unfavorable foregn currency, higher marketing,
adrministration and research costs, higher marketing support costs and the absence of the 2008 favorable resolution of a Brazihan value added tax
clam
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Venezuela - In the fourth quarter of 2009, the Venezuelan economy was classified as highly inflationary under accounting principles generalty
accepted in the United States of Amenca ("U S GAAP") Effective January 1, 2010, our Venezuelan subsidiary 18 being accounted for under highly
nflationary accounting rules, which principally means all transactions are recorded in U S dollars Venezuela has three exchange rates the
official rate, the consumer staples rate and the secondary {or parallel} rate We have histonically used and will continue to use the official rate to
translate our Venezuelan operations However, prior to this change in accounting, cash that we had exchanged into U S dollars using the
secondary market was carried at that rate Upon the change to highly inflationary accounting, we were required to translate our U S dollars on
hand using the official rate Additionally, on January 8, 2010, the Venezuelan government devalued its curency Accordingly, we were required to
revalue our net assets in Venezuela and we recorded an insignificant loss, which will be reflected in our first quarter 2010 results We expect our
2010 operating results to be negatively impacted by $75 million to $100 millsion as a result of the aforementioned devaluation This disclosure does
not reflect the impacts of our recent acquisition activity

2008 compared with 2007

Net revenues increased $2,273 milhon (38 0%). due pnimanly to the impact of our LU Biscutt acquisition (15 @ pp), higher net pricing (11 0 pp),
favorable votume/mix {5 4 pp) favorable foreign currency (4 7 pp} and the favorable resclution of a Braziban value added tax clam (1 1 pp) In
Central & Eastern Europe, Middle East & Africa, net revenues increased, driven by higher net pricing across the region, volume growth m
chocolate, biscuits and coffee categories, our LU Biscult acquisition and favorable foreign currency In Latin Amenica, net revenues increased,
driven by favorable foreign currency, higher net pricing, the favorable resolution of a value added tax claim and favorable volume/mix in Brazil,
higher net pricing and improved product mix in Argentina, and higher net pricing and favorable volume/mix in Venezuela In Asia Pacific, net
revenues increased due prmanly to our LU Biscuit acquisition, higher net pricing across the region and favorable foreign currency

Segment operating income increased $227 million (38 6%) due to higher net pneing, favorable volume/mix, the impact of our LU Biscuit acquisition
{net of associated integration costs), the favorable resolution of a Brazihian value added tax claim, and favorable foreign currency These favorable
vanances were parhally offset by higher raw material costs, higher manufactunng costs, igher marketing, administration and research costs,
higher Restructuring Program costs, higher marketing suppert costs, 2008 asset impairment charges related to certain international mtangible
assets, a juice operation in Braz!l and a cheese plant in Australia and a 2007 gain on the divestiture of our sugar confectionery assets in Romania
and related trademarks

Cnucal Accounting Policies

Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the consolidated financial statements includes a summary of the significant accounting
policies we used to prepare our consoldated financial statements We have discussed the selection and disclosure of our critical accounting
pelicies and estimates with our Audit Committee The following 1s a review of the more sigaificant assumptions and estimates, as well as the
accounting policies we used to prepare our consclidated financial statements

Principles of Consolidation

The consohdated financial statements include Kraft Foeds, as well as our wholly owned and majonty owned subsidiaries Our domestic operating
subsicharies report year-end results as of the last Saturday of the year, and our international operating subsidianes generally report year-end
results two weeks prior to the last Saturday of the year

We account for investments in which we exercise significant influence {20% - 50% ownership interest) under the equity method of accounting We
use the cost method of accounting for Investments in which we have an ownership interest of less than 20% and in which we do not exercise
significant influence Noncontroling interest in subsidianies consists of the equity interest of noncontrolling investors in consolidated subsidianes of
Kraft Foods All intercompany transactions are eliminated

Use of Estimates
We prepare our financial statements 1n accordance with U S GAAP, which requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect a number of
amounts in our financial statements Significant accounting policy elections, estimates and assumptions include, among others, pension and

benefit plan assumptions, lives and valuation assumptions of goodwill and intangible assets, marketing programs and income taxes We base our
estimates on
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historical expernience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable If actual amounts differ from estimates, we include the revisions in
our consolidated results of operations in the penod in which we know the actual amounts Histonically, the aggregate differences if any, between
our estimates and actual amounts i any year have not had a significant impact on our consohdated financial statements

inventories

Inventones are stated at the lower of cost or market We record inventory allowances for overstocked and obsolete inventories due to ingredient
and packaging changes Effective January 1, 2008, we changed our method of valuing our U S inventones to the average cost method In pnior
years, pnncipally all U S mnventories were valued using the last-in, first-out (*LIFO") method We believe that the average cost method of
accounting for U S inventones s preferable and will mprove financial reporting by better matching revenues and expenses to current costs, by
better aligning our external reporting with our competitors, and by aligning our external reporting with our tax basis of accounting The financial
statlements for all periods presented were conformed to the change in accounting policy With this change, we value all of our inventones using the
average cost method

Refer to Note 1, Summary of Swgnificant Accounting Policies, to the consolidated financial statements for further details of this change in
accounting policy

Long-Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets, including amortizable intangible assets, for mpairment when conditions exist that indicate the carnying amount of the
assets may not be fully recoverable We perform undiscounted operating cash flow analyses to determine if an impawrment exists When testing
assets held for use for iImpairment, we group assets and habihiies at the lowest level for which cash flows are separately identfiable If an
impairment i1s determined to exist, the loss 1s calculated based on estimated fair value Impairment losses on assets to be disposed of I any, are
based on the estimated proceeds to be received, less costs of disposal

Goodwill and intangible Assels

We test goodwill and nen-amortizable intangible assets at least annually for impairment We have recognized goodwill in our reporting units, which
are generally one level below our operating segments We use a two step process to test goodwill at the reporting unit level The first step involves
a comparison of the estimated fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying value Farr value 1s estimated using discounted cash flows of the
reporting unit based on planned growth rates, and estimates of discount rates and residual values If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, the
second step of the process 15 necessary The second step measures the difference between the carrying value and imphed farr value of goodwill
To test non-amortizable intangible assels for mpasment, we compare the far value of the intangible asset with its carrying value Fair value of
non-amertizable intangible assets s determined using our planned growth rates, and estimates of discount rates and royalty rates If the carrying
value exceeds far value, the intangible asset i1s considered impared and 1s reduced to fair value Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized
over therr estimated useful lives

We perform our annual impairment review of goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets as of October 1 each year The basis of our valuation
methodolegy for estimating the fair value of our 20 reporting units 1s a 20-year projection of discounted cash flows that 1s based on cur annual
strategic planning process Estimating the fair value of individual reporting units requires us to make assumptions and estimates regarding our
future plans industry and economic conditions For our reporting units within our Kraft Foods North Amenca and Kraft Foods Europe geographic
units, we used a market-participant, weighted-average cost of capital of 7 5% to discount the projected cash flows of those operations For our
reporting units within our Kraft Foods Developing Markets gecgraphic unit, we used a nisk-rated discount rate of 10 5%
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As a result of our 2009 annual review of goodwill and nen-amortizable intangible assets, we recorded a $12 million charge for the impairment of
intangible assets in the Netherlands Dunng our 2009 imparment review, we also noted that the following three reporting units were the most
sensitive to near-term changes in our discounted cash flow assumptions

Percentage of

Excess Fair October 1, 2009
Value over Carrying Value
Carrying Value of Goodwill
{in mons)
U S Salty Snacks 1% 8§ 1,186
N A Foodservice 22% 861
Europe Biscuits 1% 2,555

Each of our reporting units passed the first step of our 2009 annual impairment review with an estimated fair value greater than 110% of s
carrying value Looking past 2008, there are uncertanties within the three identified reporting units that could potentially require further analysis in
the future in order for us to determine if a goodwill iImpairment exists within any of the mdividual reporting units  Significant uncertainties are

. Cont:inued economic uncertainty may lead customers to purchase more retailer brands or other economy brands, which could reduce
sales volumes of our products or shift our product mix to our lower margin offerings If we are not able to maintain or improve our
brand image or value proposttion, it could have a matenal effect on our market share and our profitability As we primarnly use a
forecasted discounted cash flow model based on segment operating (ncome, a matenal decrease in profitability would adversely affect
our estimated farr value of any of these reporting units

. Our U S Salty Snacks business has expenenced volume declines over the past year If this trend were to continue or worsen, 1t would
adversely affect the estimated far value of U $§ Salty Snacks reporting unit

. Our N A Faodservice business 1s heavily dependent on the restaurant industry, which has been negatively impacted by the recent

recession Continued industry-wide dechnes in restaurant traffic would adversely affect the estimated fair value of the N A Foodservice
reporting unit

* Our Europe Biscuits business is primanly made up of the western European part of our 2007 LU/ Biscuit acquisition Shortly after our
acquisition, the economic environment In Europe detenorated and ultimately lead 1o a recessionary period If general economic
conditions continue to warsen, it would adversely affect the estimated far value of cur Europe Biscuits reporting unit

During the fourth quarter of 2008, we completed the annual review of goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets and recorded a $44 million
charge for the impairment of intangible assets in the Netherlands, France and Puerto Rico During cur 2008 impairment review, we determined
that our Europe Biscuits reporting unit was the most sensitive to near-term changes in our discounted cash flow assumptions, as i contains a
significant portion of the goodwill recorded upon our 2007 acquisition of LU Biscuit

Insurance and Self-insurance
We use a combination of insurance and self-insurance for a number of risks, including workers' compensation, general liability, automobile hability,

product habihity and our ocbligation for employee health care benefits Liabiliies associated with the risks are estimated by considenng historical
claims experience and other actuanal assumptions

Revenue Recogmition
We recognize revenues when title and risk of loss pass to customers, which generally occurs upon shipment or delivery of goods Revenues are
recorded net of consumer incentives and trade promotions and include all shipping and handling charges billed to customers Kraft Foods'

shipping and handiing costs are classified as part of cost of sales A provision for product returns and allowances for bad debts are also recorded
as reductions to revenues within the same penod that the revenue is recognized

Marketing Costs

We promote our products with advertising, consumer incentives and trade promotions These programs include, but are not himited to discounts,
coupons, rebates, in-store display incentives and volume-based incentives We expense advertising costs erther in the penod the advertising first
takes place or as incurred Consumer incentive
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and trade promotion activities are recorded as a reduction to revenues based on amounts estimated as being due o customers and consumers at
the end of a penod We base these estimates principally on histonical utihzation and redemption rates For intenim reporting purposes, adverising
and consumer Incentive expenses are charged to operations as a percentage of volume, based on estmated volume and related expense for the
full year We do not defer costs on our year-end consolidated balance sheet and all marketing costs are recorded as an expense n the year
ncurred

Enwironmental Costs

We are subject to laws and regulations relating 1o the protection of the environment We accrue for environmental remedration obhgations on an
undrscounted basis when amounts are probable and can be reasonably estimated The accruals are adjusted as new information develops or
circumstances change Recovenes of environmental remediation costs from third parties are recorded as assets when recovery of those costs 1s
deemed probable At December 31, 2009, our subsidianes were involved in 71 active actions i the U $ under Superfund legislation (and other
similar actions) related to current operattans and certain former or divested operations for which we retain hability

Based on information currently avatable, we believe that the ulimate resolution of existing environmental remedration actions and our compliance
in general with environmental laws and regulations will not have a matenal effect on our financial results However, we cannot quantify with
certainty the potential impact of future compliance efforts and environmental remediation actions

Employee Benefit Plans

In September 2006, new guidance was 1ssued surrounding employers’ accounting for defined benefit pension and ather postretirement plans The
new guidance reguired us to measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the balance sheet date beginming in 2008 We previously
measured our non-U S pensicn plans (other than certan Canadian and French pension plans) at September 30 of each year On December 31,
2008 we recorded an after-tax decrease of $8 million to retained earnings using the 15-month approach to proportionally allocate the transition
adjustment required upon adoption of the measurement provision of the new guidance The plan assets and benefit obligations of our pension
plans and the benefit obhigations of our postretirement plans are now afl measured al year-end

We provide a range of benefits to our employees and retred employees These include pension benefits, postretirement health care benefits and
postemployment benefils, consisting pnmarily of severance We record amounts relating to these plans based on calculations specifiedby U S
GAAP These calculations require the use of vanous actuarial assumptions, such as discount rates, assumed rates of return on plan assets,
compensation increases, turnover rates and health care cost trend rates We review our actuarial assumptions on an annual basis and make
madifications to the assumptions based on current rates and trends when appropriate As permitted by U § GAAP, we generally amortize any
effect of the madifications over future penods We beheve that the assumptions used in recording our plan obligations are reaseonable based on
our experience and advice from our actuanes Refer to Note 11, Benefit Plans, to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the
assumptions used

We recorded the followtng amounts in earnings for these employee benefit plans during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

2009 2008 2007
(in mtllions})
'S pension plan cost $ 313 % 160 $ 212
Non-U 8 pensien plan cost 77 82 123
Paostretirement health care cost 221 254 260
Pastemployment benefit plan cost 143 571 140
Employee savings plan cost 94 93 83
Multiernployer pension plan contributions 29 27 26
Multiemployer medical plan contnbutions 35 31 33
Net expense for employee benefit plans $ 912 $ 1,220 $ 877
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The 2009 net expense for employee benefit plans of $912 milion decreased by $308 million over the 2008 amount The cost decrease primarily
related to lower postemployment benefit plan costs as we completed our five-year Restructuning Program tn 2008, parhally offset by higher
pension plan costs, including a lower expected return on plan assets and higher amortization of the net loss from expenence differences The
2008 net expense for employee benefit plans of $1,220 million increased by $343 mullion over the 2007 amount The cost increase primarily
related to hugher postemployment benefit plan costs related to the Restructuring Program, partially offset by lower pension plan costs, including
lower amortization of the net loss from experience differences

We plan to make contnbutions of approximately $40 milion to our U S pension plans and approximately $200 million to cur non-U S pension
plans in 2010 Our estimated pension contrnibutions do not include anticipated contributions for our newly acquired Cadbury business We will
update this figure In future filings to reflect these anticipated contnbutions Our actual contnbutions may differ from our planned contrnibutions due
to many factors, including changes in tax and other benefit laws, or significant differences between expected and actual pension asset
performance or interest rates For cur U S qualified pensien plans, we are not currently required to make any U S pension plan contnbutions
under the Pension Protection Act of 2006 in 2010

We expect cur 2010 net expense for employee benefit plans to increase by approximately $40 millon The increase 1s pnmanly due to higher
forecasted non-U S pension plan costs due to plan assumption changes, partally offset by lower forecasted postemptoyment benefit plan costs
Qurnon-U S pension plan costs will be higher prnmanly due to a weighted-average decrease of 120 basis points in our discount rate assumption
As this disclosure was made as of December 31, 2009, it does not reflect the impacts of our recent acquisihon and divestiture activity

We will be freezing our U S pension plans for current salaned and non-union hourly employees effective December 31, 2019 Pension accruals
for all salaned and non-union employees who are currently earning pension benefits will end on December 31, 2019, and continuing pay and
service will be used to calculate the pension benefits through December 31, 2019 Qur projected benefit obligation decreased $168 rmullion tn
2009, and we incurred a $5 milhon curtallment charge in 2009 related to the freeze We expect the freeze to lower our annual U S pension plan
costs by approximately $40 milion beginning in 2010 Additionally, for salaned and non-union hourly employees fured in the U S after January 1,
2009, we discontinued benefits under our U § pension plans, and we replaced them with an enhanced company contribution to our employee
savings plan We do not expect this to have a significant impact on our 2010 pension plan cost

Qur 2010 health care cost trend rate assumption remained unchanged at 7 00% for our U S postretirement plans and remained unchanged at
9 00% for our Canadian postretirement plans We established these rates based upon our most recent experience as well as our expectation for
health care trend rates going forward We anticipate that our health care cost trend rate assumption will be 5 00% for U S plans by 2014 and

6 00% for Canadian plans by 2016 Assumed health care cost trend rales have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care
plans A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects as of December 31, 2008

One-Percentage-Point

Increase Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost 12 3% (10 2%)
Effect on postretirement benefit abligation 9 8% {8 3%)

Qur 2010 discount rate assumption decreased to 5 70% from 6 10% for our U S postretirement plans and decreased to 5 25% from 7 60% for our
Canadian postretirement plans Our 2010 discount rate decreased to 5 93% from 6 10% for our U S pension plans We model these discount
rates using a portfolio of high quality, fixed-income debt instruments with durations that match the expected future cash flows of the benefit
obligations Our 2010 discount rate assumptien for our hon-U S pension plans decreased to 5 21% from 6 41% We developed the discount rates
for our non-U S plans from local bond indices that match local benefit obligations as closely as possible Changes in our discount rates were
primanly the result of changes in bond yields year-over-year

Our 2010 expected rate of return on plan assets remained unchanged at 8 00% for our U S pension plans We determine our expected rate of
return on plan assets from the plan assets’ histoncal long-term investment performance, current asset allocation and estimates of future long-term
returns by asset class We attempt to
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mamiam our target asset allocation by rebalancing between eguity and debt asset classes as we make contributions and monthly benefit
payments We inlend to rebalance our plan portfolios by mid-2010 by making contributions and monthly benefit payments

While we do not anticipate further changes i the 2010 assumptions for our U S and non-U S pension and postretirement health care plans, as a
sensitivity measure, a fifty-basis pomt change in our discount rate or a fifty-basis point change in the expected rate of return on plan assets would
have the following effects, ncrease / (decrease) in cost, as of December 31, 2009

U S Plans Non-U § Plans
Fifty-Basis-Point Fifty-Basis-Point
Increase Dacrease Increase Decrease
(in mithons)

Effect of change in discount rate on

pension costs $ (59) $ 50 § (24) $ 26
Effect of change in expected rate of return

on plan assets on pension costs {30} 30 {18) 18
Effect of change m discount rate on

postretirement health care costs (9) 9 {1} 1

Financial instrurnents

As we aperate globally, we use certain financial Instruments to manage our foreign currency exchange rate commodity pnce and interast rate
nsks We maonitor and manage these exposures as part of our overall nsk management program Our nsk management program fecuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to reduce the potentially adverse effects that the volatiity of these markets may have on our
operating results We maintain foreign currency, commodity pnice and interest rate nsk management strategies that seek to reduce significant,
unantictpated earmings fluctuations that may anse from volatlity in foreign currency exchange rates commodity prices and interest rates,
pnncipally through the use of denvative instruments

Financial instruments qualifying for hedge accounting must maintain a specified level of effectiveness between the hedging nstrument and the
item being hedged, both at inception and throughout the hedged period We formally document the nature of and relationships between the
hedgmg instruments and hedged items, as well as our nsk management chjectives, strategies for undertaking the vanous hedge transactions and
method of assessing hedge effectiveness Additionally, for hedges of forecasted transactions the significant charactenstics and expected terms of
the forecasted transaction must be specifically identified, and it must be probable that each forecasted transaction will accur If we deem it
probable that the forecasted transachon will not occur, we recognize the gain or loss in earnings currently

By using dervatives to hedge exposures to changes n exchange rates and commodity prices, we have exposure on these denvatives to credit
and market risk We are exposed to credit sk that the counterparty might fail to fulfill its performance obhigations under the terms of the derivative
contract We minimize our credit risk by entenng into transactions with high quality counterparties with investment grade credit ratings, imding the
amount of exposure we have with each counterparty and monitering the financial condition of our counterparties n October 2008, one of our
counterparties, Lehman Brothers Commercial Corporation, filed for bankruptcy Consequently we wrote off an insignificant asset related to
denvatives held with them This did not have a significant impact on our foreign currency nsk management program We also maintain a policy of
requinng that all significant, non-exchange traded dervative contracts with a duration greater than one year be governed by an Internationat
Swaps and Denvatives Association master agreement Market risk 1s the nisk that the value of the financial instrument might be adversely affected
by a change in foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, or interest rates We manage market risk by incorperating monitoring
parameters within our nsk management strategy that timit the types of derivative instruments and denvative strategies we use and the degree of
market risk that may be undertaken by the use of derivative instruments

We record denvative financial nstruments at fair value in our consolidated balance sheets as either current assets or current habiibes Changes in
the farr value of a derwative that 1s highly effective and designated as a cash flow hedge, to the extent that the hedge Is effective, are recorded
each penod either n accumulated other comprehensive earnings / {losses) or 1n earnings Gams and losses on denvative instruments reported 1n
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accumulated other comprehensive earnings / (losses) are reclassified to the consolidated statement of earnings in the periods in which operating
results are affected by the hedged tem Changes in the fair value of a derivative that s highly effective and designated as a fair value hedge,
along with the changes in the farr value of the hedged asset or hability that are attributable to the hedged nsk, are recorded in current peniod
earnings Cash flows from hedging instruments are classified in the same manner as the affected hedged item in the consolidated statements of
cash flows

Income Taxes

Pror to our spin-off from Altna, we were included in Altna's consolidated federal income tax return We generally computed income taxes on a
separate company basis, however, some of our foreign tax credits, capital losses and other credits could not be used on a separate company
basis To the extent that Altria used our forexgn tax credits and other tax benefits in its consolidated federal income tax return, we recognized the
benefit in the calculation of our provision for income taxes This benefit was approximately $270 milien in 2007 We made payments to, or were
reimbursed by, Altna for the tax effects resutting from being included in Altria's tax return As of March 31, 2007, we were no longer @ member of
the Altria consolidated tax return group We file our own federal consohidated income tax returns

In July 2006, new guidance was 1ssued which addressed accounting for the uncertainty In income taxes We adopted the guidance effective
January 1, 2007 The guidance clarified when tax benefits should be recorded in the financial statements and provided measurement cntenia for
valuing such benefits In order for us to recognize benefits, our tax position must be more likely than not to be sustamed upon audit The amount
we recognhize I1s measured as the largest amount of benefit that 1s greater than 50 percent hikely of being realized upon ultimate settlement Before
the implementation of this guidance, we established addiional provisions for certain positicns that were likely to be challenged even though we
believe that those existing tax positions were fully supportable The adoption of this guidance resulted in an increase to equity as of January 1,
2007 of $213 millon

We recognize deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences, operating loss carryforwards and tax credd carryforwards Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some partion, or all, of the deferred tax assets will not be realized

Commoedity Trends

We are a major purchaser of dawry coffee, cocoa, wheat, corn products, soybean and vegetable oils, nuts, meat products, and sugar and other
sweeteners We also use significant quantihes of plastic, glass and cardboard to package our products, and natural gas for our factones and
warehouses We continuously moniter wortdwide supply and cost trends of these commodities so we ¢an act quickly to obtain ingredients and
packaging needed for production

We purchase our dairy raw matenal requirements, including milk and cheese, from independent third parties such as agncultural cooperatives and
independent processars The prices for milk and other dairy product purchases are substantially influenced by market supply and demand, as well
as by government programs Dairy commodity costs on average were fower in 2009 than in 2008 Significant cost items in our biscust and grocery
products are grains (wheat, corn and soybean ail} Grain costs have expenenced significant volatiity as a result of burgecning global demand for
foad, hivestock feed and biofuels such as ethanol and biodiesel Grain costs on average were relatively flat from 2008 to 2009 The most significant
cost item In coffee products 1s green coffee beans, which are purchased on world markets Green coffee bean prices are affected by the quality
and availability of supply, changes in the value of the U S dollar in relation to certain other currencies and consumer demand for coffee products
Green coffee bean costs on average were lower In 2009 than in 2008 A significant cost item in chocolate confectionery products I1s cocea, which
1s purchased on world markets, and the price of which 1s affected by the quality and avallability of supply and changes in the value of the Bnlish
pound and the U S dollar relative to certain other currencies Cocoa bean and cocoa butter costs on average were higher in 2009 than in 2008

Durning 2009, our aggregate commodity costs decreased primanly as a result of lower dairy costs For 2009, our commodity costs were
approximately $150 mulhion lower than 2008, following an increase of approximately $2 0 billion in 2008 compared to 2007 Overall, we expect
commodity costs to continue to be volatile in 2010
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Liguids

Ve believe that our cash from operations, our existing $4 5 billion revolving credit facity (which supports our commercial paper program) and our
authorized long-term financing will provide sufficient iquidity to meet our working capital needs, planned capital expenditures, future contractual
obligations and payment of our anticipated quarterly dividends We continue to utihze our commercial paper program and primanly uncommitted
international credit ines for daily funding requirements We also use short-term intercompany loans from foreign subsidianies to improve financial
flexsbiity Overall, we do not expect any negative effects to our funding scurces that would have a matenal effect on our hquidity

Nat Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Operating activities provided net cash of $5 1 billian in 2009, $4 1 billion 1n 2008 and $3 6 bilion in 2007 The increase 1n operating cash flows in
2009 primarnly related to working capital improvements over the prior year (primanly due to improved nventory positions, partially offset by higher
mnterest payments, principally due to the first annual payment on our euro notes) and mgher earmnings The increase in operating cash flows was
partially offset by higher pension contnibutions, driven by total voluntary contributions of $400 million that we made to our U S pension plans in
May and December 2009

Operating cash flows increased in 2008 from 2007 primarily due to increased earnings and working capital improvements {mainly from lower
income tax payments and lower inventory levels), partially offset by mcreased interest paid The increase in operating cash flows was parhally
offset by a $305 million tax transfer from Altria m 2007 for the federal tax contingencies held by them, less the impact of federal reserves reversed
due to the adoption of new guidance which addressed accounting for the uncertainty in income taxes The transfer from Alina was reflected as a
component of the change in other current assets within the net cash provided by operating activities section of the consohdated statement of cash
flows

We anticipate making U § pension contributions of approximately $40 mellion in 2010 and non-U $ pension contributions of approximately $200
million in 2010 We expect to fund these contributions from operations Our estimated pension contnbutions do not include anticipated
contributions for our newly acquired Cadbury business We will update this figure in future filings to reflect these anticipated contnbutions

Net Cash Used in investing Aclivities

One element of our growth strategy 1s to strengthen our brand portfolios and / or expand our gecgraphic reach through discipined programs of
selective acquisitions and divestitures We are regularly reviewing potential acquisition candidates and from time to time sell businesses to
accelerate the shift in our portfolio toward businesses—whether global, regional or local - that offer us a sustarnable competitive advantage The
impact of future acquistions or divestitures could have a matenal impact on our cash flows

Net cash used in investing activities was $1 2 billion in 2008, $1 3 billion in 2008 and $8 4 biflion in 2007 The decrease in cash used in investing
activities in 2009 primarily related to a $9% milhion payment made to Groupe Danone S A 1n 2008 to refund excess cash recewed In the acquisition
of LU Biscuit and lower capital expenditures, partially offset by lower proceeds frem divestitures The decrease in cash used in investing activities
In 2008 primarnly refated to lower payments for acquisitions, partially offset by lower proceeds from divestitures and higher capital expenditures

During 2009, we divested our Balance bar operations in the U S, a juice operation in Brazil and a plantin Spain and received $41 milion in net
proceeds Dunng 2008, we receved $153 milion in net proceeds on divestitures, pnmarily refated to a Nordic and Baltic snacks operation and four
operations 1n Spamn, and we disbursed $56 millhon for transaction fees related to the spht-off of the Post cereals business Addtionally, we paid
Groupe Danone S A the aforementioned refund in 2008 During 2007, we received net proceeds of $216 mullion from the divestitures of our
flavored water and Juice brand assets and related trademarks our sugar confectionery assets in Romania and related trademarks and our hot
cereal assets and trademarks Additionally, we acquired LU Biscuit for €5 1 billion (approximately $7 6 billon) in cash in 2007

Capital expenditures, which were funded by operating activities, were $1 3 billion in 2009, $1 4 bilhon 1n 2008 and $1 2 billion in 2007 The 2009
capital expenditures were primanly used to modernize manufactuning faciities and
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support new product and productivity initiatives We expect 2010 capital expenditures to be in Lne with 2009 expenditures, including capital
expenditures required for systems' nvestments We expect to fund these expenditures from operations As this disclosure was made as of
December 31, 2009, it does not reflect the impacts of our recent acquisition and divestiture activity

Net Cash {Used n) / Prowided by Financing Achvities

Net cash used in financing activities was $3 1 billion in 2009 and $2 1 billon during 2008, compared with $5 1 bilhon prowided during 2007 The
net cash used in financing activities 1n 2009 primanly refated te $1 7 billion in dividend payments, $950 mullion in repayments of long-term debt
secunties and $344 million in net commercial paper repayments Additionally, other cash used in financing activities in 2009 included $68 mallion In
costs related to our bndge facility agreement dated November 9, 2009 (the “Cadbury Bridge Facility”) The net cash used in financing activities in
2008 pnmanly related te $5 9 billion 1n payments made on the bridge faciity used to fund our LU Biscuit acquisition, 51 7 billion in dividend
payments, $777 million in Commen Stock share repurchases and $795 million in repayments of long-term debt secunties, primanly related to debt
that matured on October 1, 2008, partially offset by $6 9 billion in proceeds from our long-term debt offerings The net cash provided by financing
activiies in 2007 was pnmanly due to $6 4 billion 1 proceeds from long-term debt offerings and net cutstanding borrowings of 35 5 billion under
the bndge facility used to fund our LU Biscuit acquisition, partially offset by $3 7 billion in Common Stock share repurchases, $1 6 billion in
dividend payments and $1 4 billhion in repayments of long-term debt securities that matured

In August 2010, $500 millon of our long-term debt matures We expect to fund the repayment with cash from operations or short-term borrowings
As this disclosure was made as of December 31, 2009, it does not reflect the impacts of our recent acquisition and divestiture activity

Bomrowing Arrangements
On November 30, 2009, we entered into a revolving credit agreement for a $4 5 billion three-year senior unsecured revolving credit facility The
agreement replaced our former revolving credit agreement, which was terminated upon the signing of the new agreement We intend to use the

revolving credit facility for general corporate purposes, meluding for working capital purposes, and o support our commercial paper 1ssuances No
amounts have been drawn on the facility

The revolving credit agreement requires us to maintain a minimum total shareholders’ equity, excluding accumulated other comprehensive
earnings / (losses), of at least $23 0 billion Upon the completion of the Cadbury acquisiion this covenant will increase by 75% of any increase in
our total sharehalders’ equity as a direct result of a) our 1ssuance of certain types of equity secunties to finance the acquisition, or b) our
refinancing certain indebtedness At December 31, 2009, our total shareholders’ equity, excluding accumulated other comprehensive earnings /
(losses), was $29 8 billion We expect to continue to meet this covenant The revolving credit agreement also contains customary representations,
covenants and events of default However, the revolving credit facility has no other financial covenants, credit rating tnggers or provisions that
could reguire us to past collateral as secunty

In addition to the above, some of our international subsidianes mamtain prmanly uncemmitted credt lines to meet short-term working capital
needs Collectively, these credit ines amounted to $1 5 billion at December 31 2009 Berrowings on these ines amounted to $191 milhon at
December 31, 2009 and $291 milhon at December 31, 2008

The Cadbury Bridge Facility 1s a £5 5 billion (approximately $8 9 bilion) 364-day sentor unsecured facility On January 18, 2010, we amended the
agreement to increase the Cadbury Bridge Facility to an aggregate of £7 1 bilion On February 11, 2010, after the issuance of $9 5 billon of semor
unsecured notes, we amended the agreement again to decrease the Cadbury Bndge Facility to an aggregate of £1 3 billion We expect to use
borrowings under the Cadbury Bndge Facility and proceeds from other financing sources to finance the Cadbury acquisition and to refinance
certain indebtedness of Cadbury and its subsichanes With certain restrictions, borrowings under the Cadbury Bridge Facilty are also available for
our general corporate purposes

The Cadbury Bridge Facility agreement includes the same mimmum shareholders’ equity requirement as in our $4 5 billion revolving credit
agreement In addition, in the event that our long-term senior unsecured indebtedness is rated below investment grade by either Moody's or
Standard & Poor’s, the Cadbury Bridge Facility agreement requires us to maintain a net debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio of not more than 4 25 to
100 At December 31, 2009, we continued
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to maintain our iInvestment grade debt rating, and our net debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio was 2 64 The Cadbury Bridge Facility agreement also
contains customary representations covenants and events of default and requires the prepayment of advances and / or the permanent reduction
of commitments under the facility with the net cash proceeds recewved from certain disposals debt 1ssuances and equity capitat markets
transactions No amounts were drawn on the facility at December 31, 2009

Subject o market conditions, we expect to refinance or reduce advances under the Cadbury Bridge Facility from proceeds of alternative financing
sources

Debt

Our total debt was $19 0 billon at December 31, 2009 and $20 3 bilion at December 31, 2008 Our debt-to-capitalization ratio was 0 42 at
December 31, 2009 and 0 48 at December 31, 2008 At December 31, 2008, the weighted-average term of our outstanding long-term debt was
8 4 years

On February 8, 2010, we Issued $9 5 billion of senior unsecured notes at a weighted-average effective rate of 5 364% and are using the net
proceeds ($9,379 million) to finance the Cadbury acquisition and for general corporate purposes After the 1ssuance of the $9 5 bilhon of senior
unsecured notes, the weighted-average term of our outstanding long-term debt was 10 5 years

On September 3, 2009, we redeemed our November 2011, 7% $200 milllon debenture at par value Upon redemption, we recorded a loss of $14
milion within interest and other expense, net which represented the write-off of the remasning discount On November 12, 2009, we repaid 5750
milan in notes, and on October 1, 2008 we repaid $700 million in notes These repayments were primartly financed from commercial paper
issuances

On December 19, 2008 we 1ssued $500 million of senior unsecured notes, on May 22, 2008, we 1ssued $2 0 billion of semor unsecured notes,
and on March 20, 2008, we issued €2 85 billkon {approximately $4 5 billion) of semor unsecured notes We used the net proceeds from these
1ssuances (3498 million in December, $1,957 million in May and approximately $4,470 mullion in March) for general corperate purposes, including
the repayment of borrowings under the bridge facility used to fund our LU Biscurt acquisition and other short-term borrowings

The notes from all above 1ssuances include covenants that restrict our ability to incur debt secured by liens above a certamn threshold We are also
required to offer to purchase these notes at a price equal to 101% of the aggregale principal amount, plus accrued and unpad interest to the date
of repurchase, if we expenence both of the following

(1  a‘“change of control” tnggering event, and

()  adowngrade of these notes below an nvestment grade rating by each of Moody's, Standard & Poor's and Fitch within a specified
period

We expect to continue to comply with our long-term debt covenants Refer to Note 7, Debt and Borrowing Arrangements, for further details of
these debt offerings

From time to ime we refinance long-term and short-term debt The nature and amount of our long-term and short-term debt and the proportionate
amount of each vanes as a result of future business requirements, market conditions and other factors We have an automatic shelf registration on
Form 5-3 on file with the SEC As a well-known seasoned issuer, we are able to register new debt securities in amounts autherized by our Board
of Directors through December 2040 On October 4, 2007 our Board of Directors authcnzed $5 0 billion n general long-term financing, which was
in addition to the €5 3 billion authorized for the Lt Biscult acquisition and the £7 1 billion authorized for the Cadbury acquisiion At December 31
2009, we had approximately $3 0 billion remainuing in general long-term financing authority and £7 1 illion (approximately $11 5 bilion) remaining
in Cadbury financing authonty from our Board of Directors
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Debt Ratings
At February 18, 2010, our debt ratings by major credit rating agencies were

Short term Long term
Moody's P-2 Baa2
Standard & Poor’s A-2 BEB-
Fitch F3 BBB-

Our debt ratings were downgraded due to the increased level of our indebtedness ncurred in connection with our acquisition of Cadbury On
February 2, 2010, Moody's affirmed our short-term debt rating of P-2 and our Jong-term debt rating Baa2, and rewised the outlook from stable to
negative On February 2, 2010, Standard & Poor’s affirmed our short-term debt rating of A-2 and downgraded our long-term debt rating from
BBB+ to BBB-, with a positive outlook On January 20, 2010, Fitch downgraded our short-term debt rating from F2 to £3 and downgraded our
Iong-term debt rating from BBB to BBB-, with a stable outlook

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements other than the guarantees and contractual obligations that are discussed below

Guarantees

As discussed in Note 13, Commuments and Contingencies, we have third-party guarantees primarnily covering the long-term obligations of our
vendors As part of those transactions, we guarantee that thurd parties will make contractual payments or achieve performance measures At
December 31, 2009, the carrying amount of our third-party guarantees on our consolidated balance sheet and the maximum potential payments
under these guarantees was $29 million Substantially a!l of these guarantees expire at vanous times through 2018

In addition at December 31, 2009 we were contingently hiable for $274 milion of guarantees related to our own performance These include
letters of credit related to dairy commodity purchases and guarantees related to the payment of custom duties and taxes, and other letters of
credit

Guarantees do not have, and we do not expect them to have, a matenal effect on our iquidity

Aggregate Contractual Oblhigations

The following table summanzes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2009, and does not reflect the impacts of our recent acquisition
and divestiture activity

Paymenta Due

2015 and
Total 2010 201912 2013-14 Thereafter
{in millions)
i
Long-term debt @ $ 18,536 3 501 $ 6,366 § 2,051 § 9,618
Interest expen 10,598 1,132 2,073 1,364 6,029
Capital leases " 84 16 26 13 29
Operating leases . 1,125 306 428 179 212
Purchase obligations
Inventory and production costs 5,819 4,465 1,079 257 18
Other 1,281 863 278 137 3
@ 7.100 5328 1,357 394 21
Other long term habihties 2,295 280 474 454 1088
5 39,739 § 7563 § 10724 § 4,455 % 16,997
(1 Amounts represent the expected cash payments of our long-term debt and do not include unamortzed bond premiums or discounts
{2) Amounts represent the expected cash payments of our interest expense on qur long-term debt Interest calculated on our vanable-rate debt was

forecasted using a LIBOR rate forward curve analysis as of December 31 2009 [nterest calculated on our euro notes was forecasted using the euro to
U S dollar exchange rate as of December 31, 2009 An insignificant amount of interest expense was excluded from the table for a poruon of our foreign
debt due to the complexities involved in forecasting expected interest payments
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(3) Amounts represent the expected cash payments of our capttal leases, including the expected cash payments of interest expense of approximately $18 million
on our capital leases

{4) Operating leases represent the minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable operating leases

{5) Purchase obligations for inventory and production costs {such as raw matenals indirect matenals and supplies packaging co-manufactunng arrangements,
storage and distnbution) are commitments for projected needs to be utlized n the normal course of business Other purchase obligations include
commitments for marketing, advertising capital expenditures information tachnology and professional services Arrangements are considered purchase
obligations f a contract specifies all significant terms, including fixed or minimum guantties to be purchased a pncing structure and approximate tming of the
transaction Most arrangements are cancelable without a significant penalty and with short notice (usually 30 days) Any amounts reflected en the
consolidated balance sheet as accounts payable and accrued habilities are excluded from the table above

(8) Other long-term labiliies primarity consist of estmated future benefit payments for our postretirement health care plans through December 31 2018 of
approxmately $2 180 milion We are unable to reliably esttmate the timing of the payments beyond 2019 as such they are exctuded from the above table In
addition the following long-term habiities included on the consolidated balance sheet are excluded from the table above accrued pension costs mcome
taxes (nsurance accruals and other accruals We are unable to rehiably estimate the imung of the payments (or contributions beyond 2010 1n the case of
accrued pension costs) for these items We currently expect to make approximately $240 million in contnbutions to our pension plans 1n 2010 We also expect
that our net pension cost will increase by approximately $50 mullion to approximately 3440 miflion in 2010 As of December 31 2008 our total lrabiity for
income taxes including uncertain tax positions and associated accrued interest and penalties was $1 2 billon We expect to pay approximately 5239 milhon
in the next 12 months Dunng 2009 we reached an agreement with the IRS on specific matters related to years 2000 through 2003 Qur raturns for those
years are still under examinaion and the {RS recently began its examination of years 2004 through 2006 We are not able to reasonably estimate the timing
of future cash flows beyond 12 months due to uncaertainties in the tming of these and other tax audit outcomes

Equity and Dyyidends

Stock Repurchases
Our Board of Directors authonzed the following Common Stock repurchase programs Our $5 0 billion share repurchase authornty expired on
March 30, 2009 We did not repurchase any shares i 2009

Share Repurchas¢ Program

Authorized by the Board of Diractors $5 0 billion $2 0 bilhon
April 2007 - March 20086 -
Authorized / completed pernod for repurchase March 2009 March 2007
Aggregate cost of shares repurchased in 2008 3777 million
{millions of shares) (25 3 shares)
Aggregate cost of shares repurchased in 2007 $3 5 billron $140 million
{mulhons of shares) (105 6 shares) (4 5 shares)
Aggregate cost of shares repurchased life-to-date under program %4 3 bithen $1 1 bilhon
{millions of shares) {130 9 shares) {34 7 shares)

In total we repurchased 25 3 million shares for $777 million in 2008 and 110 1 mihon shares for $3 640 rmilion n 2007 under these programs We
made these repurchases of our Common Stock n open market transactions

In March 2007, we repurchased 1 4 million addtional shares of our Comrmon Stock from Altna at a cost of $46 § million We paid $32 085 per
share, which was the average of the high and the low pnce of Kraft Foods Common Stock as reported on the NYSE on March 1, 2007 This
repurchase was tn accordance with our spin-off agreement with Altna

Stock Plans

At cur 2009 annual meeting, our shareholders approved the Kraft Foods Inc Amended and Restated 2005 Performance Incentive Plan {the 2005
Plan™} The 2005 Plan includes among other provisiens, a limit on the number of shares that may be granted, vesting restrictions and a prehibition
on stack option repricing  Under the amended ptan, we are authonzed to 1ssue a maximum of 168 0 million shares of our Common Stock As of
the effective date of the amendment, there were 92 1 million shares available to be granted under the 2005 Plan of which no more than

27 5 milhon shares may be awarded as restricted or deferred stock

In 2008 we changed cur annual and long-term incentive compensation programs to further align them with shareholder returns Under the annual
equity program we now grant equity tn the form of both restricted or deferred stock and stock options The restricted or deferred stock continues
to vest 100% after three years, and the stock
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options vest in three annual installments beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date Additionally, we changed our long-term incentive plan
from a cash-based program to a share-based program These shares vest based on varying performance, market and service conditions The
unvested long-term incentive plan shares have no voting nghts and do not pay dividends

In Janwary 2009, we granted 1 5 milion shares of stock in connection with our long-term incentive plan The market value per share was $27 00
on the date of grant In February 2009, as part of our annual equity program, we i1ssued 4 1 million shares of restncted and deferred stock to
eligible employees The market value per restricted or deferred share was $23 64 on the date of grant Also, as part of our annual equity program,
we granted 16 3 miliion stock options to eligible employees at an exercise price of $23 64

We also 1ssued 0 2 milion off-cycle shares of restncted and deferred stock dunng 2009 The weighted-average market value per restricted or
deferred share was $25 55 on the date of grant In aggregate, we 1ssued 5 8 million restncted and deferred shares during 2009

At December 31, 2009, the number of shares to be 1ssued upon exercise of outstanding stock options, vesting of nan-U S deferred shares and
vesting of long-term incentive plan shares was 52 8 milliwon or 3 6% of total shares outstanding

In January 2008, we granted 1 4 mililon shares of stock 1n connection with our long-term incentive plan The market value per share was $32 26
on the date of grant In February 2008, as part of our annual equity program, we 1ssued 3 4 milion shares of restricted and deferred stock to
eligible employees The market value per restricted or deferred share was $29 49 on the date of grant Also, as part of our annual equity program,
we granted 13 5 million stock options to ehgible employees at an exercise price of $29 48

In addition, we 1ssued 0 2 million off-cycle shares of restricted and deferred stock during 2008 The weighted-average market value per restricted
or deferred share was $30 38 on the date of grant In aggregate, we issued 5 0 milbon restncted and deferred shares dunng 2008 We also

granted 0 1 million off-cycle stock options during 2008 at an exercise price of $30 78 In aggregate, we granted 13 6 milion stock options during
2008

Qur Board of Directors approved a stock option grant to our Chief Executive Officer on May 3, 2007, to recognize her election as our Chairman
She receved 300,000 stock optiens, which vest under varying market and service conditions and expire ten years after the grant date

in January 2007, we issued 5 2 million shares of restricted and deferred stock to eligible employees as part of our annual equity program The
market value per restricted or deferred share was $34 655 on the date of grant Additionally, we 1ssued 1 0 million off-cycle shares of restncted
and deferred stock dunng 2007 The weighted-average market value per restricted or deferred share was $34 085 on the date of grant The total
number of restnicted and deferred shares issued 1n 2007 was 9 2 million, including those 1ssued as a result of our spin-off from Altria (discussed
below)

Upon our spin-off, Altnia stock awards were modified through the 1ssuance of Kraft Foods stock awards, and accordingly, the Altna stock awards
were split into two instruments Holders of Altnia stock options received 1) a new Kraft Foods option to acquire shares of Kraft Foods Common
Stock, and 2) an adjusted Altna stock option for the same number of shares of Altna common stack previously held, but with a proportionally
reduced exercise price For each employee stock option outstanding, the aggregate intrinsic value immediately after our spin-off from Altna was
not greater than the aggregate (ntrinsic value immediately prior to it Holders of Altria restricted stock or stock nghts awarded before January 31,
2007, retained their existing awards and received restricted stock or stock nights in Kraft Foods Commeon Stock Recipients of Altna restricted
stock or stock nghts awarded on or after January 31, 2007, did not receive Kraft Foods restnicted stock or stock rights because Altnia had
announced the spin-off at that tme We reimbursed Altna $179 million for net settlement of the employee stock awards We determined the fair
value of the stock options using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, and adjusted the fair value of the restricted stock and stock nghts by
the value of projected forfeitures

Based upon the number of Altria stock awards outstanding at the time of our spin-off, we granted stock options for 24 2 million shares of Common
Stock at a weighted-average price of $15 75 The options expire between 2007 and
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2012 In addition, we issued 3 0 milion shares of restricted stock and stock rights The market value per restricted share or nght was $31 66 on
the date of grant Restrictions on the majonty of these restricted shares and stock rights lapsed in either the first quarter of 2008 or 2009

Dividends

We paid dividends of $1,712 mithion in 2009, $1,663 mdiion in 2008 and $1,638 million 1n 2007 The mcreases of 2 9% in 2009 and 1 5% n 2008
reflect higher dvidend rates, partially offset by fewer shares outstanding resulting from the split-off of the Post cereals business and share
repurchases The present annualized dividend rate 1s $1 16 per common share The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of our
Board of Directars and depends on vanous factors, including our net earnings, financial condition, cash requirements, future prospects and other
factors that our Board of Directors deems relevant to its analysis and decision making

2010 Outlook

We expect the strong operating and financial momentum of our base business to carry forward into coming years In the near term, we continue to
target organic net revenue growth of 4 percent or more and the high end of our 7 to 9 percent long-term EPS growlh objective on our hase
business

We expect to deliver this performance while

. investing incrementally in product quality, marketing and innovation,
. raising productvity as a percentage of cost of goods sold to greater than 4 percent by 2011,
. leveraging overhead costs by reducing overhead as a percentage of net revenue to approximately 12 5 percent by 2011, and

. restonng operating income margins to industry benchmarks in the mid-teens by 2011

In additton, our consolidated results will include Cadbury from February 2, 2010, anwards The combination of Kraft Foods and Cadbury 1s
expected to provide the potential for meaningful revenue synergies over tme from nvestments in distnbution, marketing and product development
As a result, the combined company 1s targeting long-term organic net revenue growth of 5 percent or more

Opportunities for significant synergies from the combination have also been wentified On a combined basis, we continue to expect that pre-tax
cost savings of at least $675 million annually can be realized by the end of 2012 Total one-time implementation cash costs of approximately $1 3
billion are expected to be incurred through the end of 2012

On a combined basis, we are targeting accretion to earnings per share in 2011 of approximately $0 05 on a cash basis, which excludes one-time
expenses to achieve cost savings, expenses related to the transaction and the impact of incremental non-cash items such as the amortization of
intangibles related to the acquisition Over the lang-term the combined company 1s targeting EPS growth of 9 to 11 percent

Our results will atso be affected by the sale of the assets of our Frozen Pizza business, which I1s expected to close in the first quarter of 2010 We

also expect earnings to be reduced by approximately $0 05 per diluted share on an annual basis as a result of the Frozen Pizza business
transaction This assumes the proceeds will be used for a comhiation of debt reduction and share repurchases

New Accounting Standards
See Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Polices, to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of new accounting standards

Contingencies

See Note 13, Commutments and Contingencies, to the consohdated financial statements and Part | ltem 3 Legal Proceedings for a discussion of
contingencies
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We use the non-U § GAAP financial measure “organic net revenues” and corresponding growth ratics The difference between “organmic net
revenues” and “net revenues,” which 1s the most comparable U § GAAP financial measure, 1s that organic net revenues excludes the impact of
acquisiions, divestitures and currency Qrgantc net revenues 1s used by our management to budget, make operating and strategic decisions and
evaluate cur performance We have disclosed this measure so that you have the same financial data that management uses with the intention of
assisting you in making compansons to our histoncal operating results and analyzing our underlying performance Our management believes that
organic net revenues better reflect the underlying growth from the engoing activities of our business and provide improved comparability of results
because they exclude the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, which are not under our control, and also exclude the
one-time impacts of acquisitions and divestitures on net revenues The limitation of this measure 1s that it excludes items that have an impact on
net revenues The best way that this imitation can be addressed is by using organic net revenues in combination with our U 5 GAAP reported net
revenues Our management believes that the presentation of this non-U S GAAP financial measure, when considered together with our U S
GAAP financial measures and the reconcihations to the corresponding U S GAAP financial measures, provides you with a more complete
understanding of the factors and trends affecting Kraft Foods than could be obtained absent these disclosures Because organic net revenues
calculations may vary among other companies, the organic net revenues figures presented in the Consolidated Results of Operations section may
not be comparable with similarly titled measures of other companies Organic net revenues are not meant to be considered in 1solation or as a

substitute for U S GAAP financial measures You should carefully evaluate the following table reconciling U S GAAP reported net revenues to
organic net revenues

2009 2003 $ Change % Change
(in mullions)

Organic net revenues $ 42,210 $ 41,577  § 633 15%
Impact of divestitures 73 355 (282) (0 7)pp
Unfavorable foreign currency {1,897) - {1,897) (4 5)pp

Reported net revenues $ 40,386 $ 41,932 % {1,546} (3 7%)

2008 2007 $Change % Change
{in millions)

Organic net revenues $ 37818 § 35424 ¢ 2,394 6 8%
Impact of dwestitures 230 434 (204) (0 8)pp
Favorable foreign currency 711 - ™M 2 Opp
2007 LU Biscuit acquisition 3,173 - 3173 8 9pp

Reported net revenues $ 41,932 $ 35858 $ 6,074 16 9%

In addition, we use the non-U S GAAP financial measure “free cash flow " The difference between “free cash flow” and “net cash provided by
operating activities,” which 1s the most comparable U S GAAP financial measure, 1 that free cash flow reflects the impact of capital expenditures
The mitation of this measure 1s that it includes items that do not have an impact on our cash flow provided by operating activites The best way

that this limitation can be addressed 1s by using free cash flow in combination with our U § GAAP reported net cash provided by operating
activities

Free cash flow i1s an internal, supplemental measure of our performance Our management uses free cash flow as the pnmary cash flow metric in
the budgeting and forecasting processes, as It represents the controllable cash flows from operations We believe free cash flow shows the
financial health of, and how efficiently we are running, the company We further believe that this non-U 8 GAAP measure provides information
useful to both management and investors in gaining an overall understanding of our current financial performance, and that it provides investors
with financial information that most closely aligns to our internal measurement processes

This non-U 8§ GAAP measure should not be considered 1n isolation or as an alternative to cash flows generated by operating, investing or
financing activities as a measure of our hquidity Because free cash flow 15 not a measurement determined in accordance with U 8 GAAP, and 1s
thus susceptible to varying calculations, free cash flow may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other compames
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The table below reconciles reported net cash provided by operating activities to free cash flow for the penods stated

2009 2008 2007
{in millions)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 5,084 $ 4,141 $ 3,571
Capital Expenditures {1,330} (1,367) (1,241}
Free cash flow $ 3,754 $ 2,774 $ 2,330
Eorward:-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements including how our four pronties will shape our future, our planned sale of our Frozen Pizza
business, including regulatory clearances, number of employees who will transfer and expected close, what our strategy 1s centered on, our
investments align with growing consumer interest in converience products and premium brands, our focus on snacks and confectionary products
fits well within our strategy of growth in instant consumption channels, our long-temm strategy, our intent to acquire the remaining Cadbury ordmary
shares, our accounting for the sale of our Frozen Pizza business as a discontinued operation in the first quarter of 2010, our continuing
expectation that the exchange with our shareholders related to the splt-off of the Post cereals business was tax-free, expectations about Ly
biscuits, with regard to our Restructunng Program, our use of cash to pay charges and cumulative annualized savings, in connection with our new
operating structure, that we are putting our resources closer to where we make decisions that affect our consumers and customners and our intent
to simplfy streamiine and increase accountability, with the ultimate goal of generating rehiable growth for Kraft Foods, why we disclose
implementation charges, our reorganization of our European operations and how we changed the way we work, why we include segment
operating income, our expectation regarding completion of our reorgamzation of Kraft Foods Europe, expected additional charges to complete the
integration of the Europe Biscurts business and why we disclose implementation and other non-recurring charges, our expectations regarding how
the Venezuelan devaluation will affect our 2010 operating results, our belief that the average cost method of accounting Is preferable and will
improve our financial reporting, cur uncertainty that the three reporting units could potentially require further analysis in the future to determine ifa
goodwill impairment exists, and the significant certainties, including continued economic uncerlainty, volume declines, the negative effect of the
recession on restaurant industry and the deteriorating economic environment in Europe that ultmately lead to a recessionary penod, our belef that
the ultimate resolution of existing environmental remediation actions and our comphance with environmental laws and regulations will not have a
matenal effect on our fimancial results and our uncertainty related to the potential impact of future comphance efforts and environmentat
remediation effarts, our belef regarding the assurmptions used in recording our plan obligations, with regard to our pension plans, the amount we
expect to make in contributions in 2010, the amount we expect our net pension cost to Increase, our expectation regarding the amount the pension
freeze will lower our annual U S pension plan costs and our expectation that the enhanced company contribution to our employee savings plan
will not have a significant Impact on our 2010 pension plan cost, our expectation for health care trend rates, our anticipated health care cost trend
rate assumption, our discount rate model and expected future cash flows of benefit obligations, that the final outcome of our legal proceedings will
not materially affect our financial results, our 2010 expected rate of return on plan assets, our intent to rebalance our plan portfolies by mid-2010,
that we do not anticipate further changes in the 2010 assumptions for our pension and postretirement health care plans, our sk management
program effects, our exposure relating to denvatives to credit and market nisk, our expectation that 2010 commodity costs will be volatile, our
belief regarding our liguidity, that we do expect any negative effects to our funding sources that would have a matenal effect on our hquidity, our
expectation to fund pension contributions from aperations, the element of our growth strategy to strengthen our brand portfolios and / or expand
our geographic reach through disciplined programs of selective acquisitions and divestitures, the impact of future acquisitions or divesttures could
have a matenal impact on our cash flows, our expectations regarding 2010 capital expenditures, our expectation to fund the repayment of our
long-term debt with cash from operations or short-term borrowings, our intended use of the revolving credit agreement, that we expect to continue
to meet the shareholders’ equity covenant, our expectation that we will continue to comply with our long-term debt covenants, that we expect te
use borrowings under the Cadbury Bridge Facility and proceeds from other financing scurces to finance the Cadbury acquisition and to refinance
Cadbury debt, that we expect to refinance or reduce advances under the Cadbury Bndge Facility from preceeds of alternative financing sources
that guarantees do not have, and we do not expect them to have a matenal effect on our hquidity our expectations regarding our aggregate
contractual obligations and our 2010 Qutlook

52

Source KRAFT FOODS ING 10-K February 25 2010 Dot By R 3 Dyonur Beoog ot




These forward-looking statements involve nsks and uncertanties, and the cautionary statements contained in the “Risk Factors” found in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ matenally from those predicted in any such
forward-locking statements Such factors, include, but are not imited to, continued volatility in commodity costs, pricing actions, increased
competition, our ability to differentiate our products from private label products, increased costs of sales, our indebtedness and our abilty to pay
our indebtedness, unexpected safety or manufactuning issues, Food and Crug Adminustration or other regulatory actions or delays, unanticipated
expenses such as htigation or legal settlement expenses, a shift n our product mux to lower margin offerings, nisks from operating globally, our
fallure to successfully integrate the Cadbury business and tax law changes We disclaim and do not undertake any obligation to update or revise
any forward-looking statement in this Form 10-K

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

As we operate globally, we use certain financial instruments to manage our foreign currency exchange rate, commodity price and interest rate
risks We monitor and manage these exposures as part of our overall nsk management program Qur risk management program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to reduce the potentially adverse effects that the volatility of these markets may have on our
operating resuits We mantain foreign currency, commodity price and interest rate risk management pohicies that principally use denvative
instruments to reduce significant, unanticipated earnings fluctuations that may anse from volatility in foreign currency exchange rates, commaodity
pnces and interest rates We also sell commodity futures to unprice future purchase commitments, and we occasionally use related futures to
cross-hedge a commodity exposure We are not a party to leveraged derivatives and, by policy, do not use financial instruments for speculatve
purposes Refer to Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Note 12, Financial Instruments, to the consohdated financial

statements for further details of our foregn currency, commodity prnice and mterest rate nsk management policies and the types of denvative
instruments we use to hedge those exposures

In October 2008, one of our counterparties, Lehman Brothers Commercial Corporation, filed for bankruptcy Consequently, we wrote off an
insignificant asset related to dervatives held with them This did net have a significant impact on our foreign currency nsk management program

Value at Risk

We use a value at nisk ("VAR") computation to estimate 1) the potential one-day toss in the far value of our mterest rate-sensitive financial
nstruments, and 2) the potential one-day loss in pre-tax earnings of our foreign currency and commodity price-sensitive denvative financial
instruments We included our debt, short-term investments, foreign currency forwards, swaps and cptions, and commodity futures, forwards and
options tn our VAR computation Anticipated transactions, foreign currency trade payables and receivables, and net investments in foreign
subsidianes, which the abovementioned instruments are intended to hedge, were excluded from the computation

We made the VAR estimates assuming normal market conditions, using a 95% confidence interval We used a “vanance / co-vanance” model o
determine the observed interrelationships between movements in interest rates and vanous currencies These interrelationships were determined
by observing interest rate and forward currency rate movements over the prior quarter for the caleulation of VAR amounts at December 31 2009
and 2008, and over each of the four prior quarters for the calculation of average VAR amounts dunng each year The values of foreign currency

and commodity options do not change ¢n a one-to-one basts with the underlying currency or commodity, and were valued accordingly n the VAR
computation
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As of December 31, 2009, the estimated potential one-day loss in fair value of our interest rate-sensitive instruments, pnmarily debt, under normal

market conditions and the estimated potential one-day loss in pre-tax earrings from our fareign currency and commodity instruments under normal
market conditions, as calculated in the VAR model, were (in milhons)

Pre-Tax Earnings Impact _ Fair Value Impact
At 12/31/09 Average High Low At 12/31/08 Avarage High Low
Instruments sensitive
to
Interest rates $ 123 % 175 $ 239 § 114
Foreign currency
rates 3 g8 3 11 % 15 % 8
Commodity prices 31 30 36 24
Pre-Tax Earmnings Impact Fair Value Impact
At 12/31/08 Avorago High Low At 12/31/08 Average High Low
Instruments sensitive
te
Interest rates $ 175 8 161 § 216 $ 106
Foreign currency
rates $ 19 % 15 § 21 % 8
Commodity prices 43 &6 91 43

This VAR computation 1s a nisk analysis tool designed 1o statistically estimate the maximum probable daily loss from adverse movements in
interest rates, foreign currency rates and commodity prices under normal market conditions The computation does not represent actual losses in
fair value or earnings to be incurred by Kraft Foods, nor does it consider the effect of favorable changes in market rates We cannot predict actual
future movements in such market rates and do not present these VAR results to be indicative of future movements in such market rates or to be
representative of any actual impact that future changes in market rates may have on our future financial resulls
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Kraft Foods In¢c and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Earnings
for the years ended December 31,

(in milions of dollars, except per share data)

2009 2003 2007
Net revenues $ 40,386 $ 41,932 § 35,858
Cost of sales 25,786 28,088 23 656
Gross profit 14,600 13,844 12,202
Marketing, administration and research costs 9,108 8,862 7,587
Asset impatrment and exit costs (64) 1,024 440
(Gains) / losses on divestitures, net 6 92 (14)
Amaortization of intangibles 26 23 13
Operating income 5,524 3,843 4,176
Interest and other expense, net 1,237 1,240 604
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes 4,287 2,603 3,572
Provision for income taxes 1,259 755 1,080
Earnings from continuing operations 3,028 1,848 2,492
Earnings and gain from discontinued operations, net of
income taxes {(Note 2) - 1,045 232
Net earnings 3,028 2,893 2,724
Nencontrolling interest 7 9 3
Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods 5 3,021 $ 2,884 % 2,721
Per share data
Bastc earnings per share attnibutable to Kraft Foods
Continuing operations $ 204 $ 122 % 156
Discontinued operations - 070 015
Net earnings attnbutable to Kraft Foods $ 204 $ 192 % 171
Diluted earmings per share attributable to Kraft Foods
Continuing operations $ 203 3 121 $ 156
Discontinued operations - 069 014
Net earnings attnbutable to Kraft Foods $ 203 3 190 % 170
Dividends declared $ 116 $ 112§ 104

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Kraft Foods Inc and Subsidranes
Consolidated Balance Sheets, at December 31,
(in milhons of dollars)

ASSETS
Cash and cash egquivalents
Recewvables (net of allowances of $121.n 2009 and $129 1n 2008)
Inventores, net
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill

Intangible assets, net

Prepaid pension assets

Other assets

TOTALASSETS

LIABILITIES
Short-term borrowings
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued marketing
Accrued employment costs
Other current iabilities

Total current habilities

Long-term debt

Deferred income taxes

Accrued pension costs

Accrued postretirement health care costs
Cther liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES
Contingencies (Note 13)

EQUITY
Common Stock, no par value (1,735,000,000
shares issued in 2009 and 2008)
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive losses
Treasury stock, at cost
Total Kraft Foods Shareholders’ Equity
Noncontrolling interest

TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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2009 2008

$ 2101 $ 1,244
5,197 4704
3775 3881

730 804

651 828
12,454 11,461
10,693 9917
28,764 27.581
13,429 12,926

115 56

1,259 1.232

$ 66714 § 63173
$ 453 % 897
513 765

3,766 3,373
2,181 1,803
1,175 951
3.403 3255
11,491 11,044
18,024 18,589
4,508 4,064
1765 2,367
2,816 2678
2,138 2,075
40,742 40,817
23,61 23,563
14,636 13.440
(3,955) {5,994)
(8.416) (8.714)
25,876 22,295

g6 61

25,872 22,356

$ 66,714 § 63173
LU



Balances at January 1 2007
Comprahensive eamings
Net eamings
Other comprehanswe earmings net of
income taxes

Total comprohensive earmngs

Adoption of new income tax gudance
Exercise of stock options and issuance
of other stock awards
Nat settlament of employes stock awards
with Altha Group Inc {Nota 10)
Cash dvidends declared ($1 04 per share}
Acquistiaon of noncontrolling interest
and other activities
Common Stock repurchased
Other

Balances at December 31 2007
Comprehensive earmungs / {losses)
Net earnings
Other comprehansiva losses net of
INCome laxes

Total comprahensive losses

Adoption of new benefit ptan guidance
Exercise of stock options and 1ssuance

of other stack awards
Cash dividends declared ($1 12 per share}
Acquisitions of noncontrolling interast

and other activities
Common Stock repurchased
common Stock tendered (Note 2)

Balances at Dacember 31 2008
Comprehensive eamings
Net earnuings
Other comprehansive aarmings net of
incoma taxes
Total comprehensive earmings
Exercisa of stock options and 1ssuance
of other stock awards
Cash dividends declared {$1 16 per share)
Dividends paid on noncontroling interest
and other activities

Batances at December 31 2009

Kraft Foods Inc and Subsidianes
Consolidated Statements of Equity
{in millions of dollarg, except per share data)

Kraft Foods Shareholders” Equlity

Accumuiated
Other
Comprehensive
Common Addluonal Retained Eamings/ Noncontroliing Total
Stock Paid-in Capltal Earnings {Losses) Treasury Stock Interest Equity

s 23626 § 11,109 § (3069) § {3130) $ 2% 3 28 562
- 27 - - ) 2724

- - 1234 - 2 1236

5 3 960

- 213 - - - 213

a3 (79) - 293 - 247

{179) - - - - (179)

- {1643) - - (1843)

- - - - 7 7
. - . (3687) - (3 687)
(35) - - - - (35)

H 23445 § 12321 % {1835) § 6524) § 38 s 27 445
- 2884 - - g 2893
. - (4 159) - 3 {4 168)
- {1 275)
- 8) - - - {8)

18 81) - 234 - 268
B {1,678) - - - {1 676)

- - - - 23 23

- : . 77 - 777)

. - - (1644) - (1 644)

L 235683 $ 13440 $ {5994) & 8714) $ €1 § 22 35
- 3021 - - 7 3028

- - 2039 - 34 2073

41 5101

49 {110) - 2898 - 237
. {1715} - - - (1715}
) - - - {6) {7}

$ 23611 8§ 14636 § (3,955) $ 8416} $ o6 § 25972

See notes to conschidated financial statements
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Kraft Foods Inc and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the years ended December 31,
(in milhons of dollars)

CASH PROVIDED BY / {USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net earnings
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to operating cash flows
Depreciation and amertization
Stock-based compensation expense
Deferred income tax provision / {benefit)
(Gains) / losses on divestitures, net
Gain on discontinued operations (Note 2)
Asset impairment and exit costs, net of cash pad
Other non-cash expense, net
Change in assets and habilities excluding the effects of
acquisitions and divestitures
Recevables, net
Inventones, net
Accounts payable
Amounts due to Altria Group, Inc and affilates
Other current assets
Other current habllities

Change in penston and postrelirement assets and kabilities, net

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expendiures
Acquisitions, net of cash recewved
Proceeds from divestitures net of disbursements
Other

Net cash used in investing actwvities

CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net (repayment) / issuance of short-term borrowings
Long-term debt proceeds
Long-term debt repaid
Decrease in amounts due to Altna Group, Inc and affilates
Repurchase of Common Stock
Dividends pad
Other

Net cash (used in) / provided by financing activites
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
Increase
Balance at beginning of period

Balance at end of penod

Cash pad
Interest

Income taxes

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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200% 2008 2007
3,028 2893 % 2,724
931 986 886
164 178 136
38 (208) (389)
6 02 (14)
- (926) .
17 731 209
269 87 115
7 (39) (268)
299 (151) (404)
126 29 241
- - (93)
351 (535) 161
1M1 985 186
(239) 19 81
5,084 4,141 3,571
(1330) (1,367) (1.241)
- {99) (7.437)
41 97 216
50 49 46
{1,239) {1320) (8,416}
(446} (5.912) 5,649
3 7.018 6 495
(968) (795} (1,472)
- - (149}
- (777) (3,708)
(1,712) (1,663) (1,638)
(10) 72 (56)
(3 133) (2,057) 5121
145 (87) 52
857 677 328
1244 567 239
2,101 1,244 § 567
1,262 968 $ 628
1,025 964 § 1,366
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Kraft Foods Inc and Subsidiares
Notes to Consoldated Financial Statements

HNote 1. Summary of Sianificant Accounting Policies,

Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation
Kraft Foods Inc was incorporated in 2000 in the Commonwealth of Virginta Kraft Foods Inc , through its subsidharies (collectively “Kraft Foods,”
"we,” “us™ and “our”), sells packaged food and beverage products to consumers in approximately 160 countries

Prior to June 13, 2001, Kraft Foods was a wholly owned subsidiary of Altna Group, Inc (*Altna”} On June 13, 2001, we completed an nitial public
offering of 280,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock (“Common Stock™) In the first quarter of 2007, Altna spun off its rematning interest
(89 0%) n Kraft Foods on a pro rata basis to Altna stockholders in a tax-free transaction Effective as of the close of business on March 30, 2007,
all Kraft Foods shares owned by Altna were distnbuted to Altna's stockholders, and our separation from Altna was completed

Principles of Consolidation

The conschdated financial statements include Kraft Foods, as well as our whaolly owned and majority owned subsidianes Qur domeshic operating
subsidiaries report year-end results as of the last Saturday of the year, and our international operating subsidianes generally report year-end
results two weeks prior to the last Saturday of the year

We account for investments in which we exercise significant influence {20%-50% ownership interest) under the equity method of accounting We
use the cost method of accounting for investments in which we have an ownership interest of less than 20% and in which we do not exercise
significant influence Noncontrolling interest in subsichanes consists of the equity interest of noncontrolling investors in consolidated subsidraries of
Kraft Foods All intercompany transactions are ehiminated

Use of Estimates

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U § GAAP™),
which require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect a number of amounts in our financial statements Significant accounting pohicy
elections, estmates and assumptions include, among others, pension and benefit plan assumptions, lives and valuation agsumptions of goodwill
and intangible assets, marketing programs and ncome taxes We base our estimates on histoncal experience and other assumptions that we
believe are reasonable If actual amounts differ from estimates, we include the revisions in our consolidated results of operations in the pertod the
actual amounts become known Historically, the aggregate differences, if any, between our estimates and actual amounts in any year have not
had a significant mpact on our consolidated finanoial statements

Foreign Currencies

We translate the results of operations of our foreign subsidianies using average exchange rates during each period, whereas balance sheet
accounts are translated using exchange rates at the end of each perod We record currency translation adjustments as a component of equity
Transaction gains and losses are recorded in earnings and were not significant for any of the periods presented

Highly Inflationary Accounting

In the fourth quarter of 2009, the Venezuelan economy was classified as highly inflationary under U S GAAP Effective January 1, 2010, our
Venezuelan subsidiary 1s being accounted for under highly inflationary accounting rules, which principally means all transactions are recorded in
U S dollars Venezuela has three exchange rates the official rate, the consumer staples rate and the secondary (or parallel) rate We have
histoncally used and will continue to use the official rate to translate our Venezuelan operations However, prior to this change in accounting, cash
that we had exchanged into U S dollars using the secondary market was carried at that rate Upon the change to highly inflationary accounting,
we were required to translate our U S dollars on hand using the official rate Additonally, on January 8, 2010, the Venezuelan government
devalued its currency Accordingly, we were required to revalue our net assets In Venezuela and we recorded an insignificant loss, which will be
reflected in our first quarter 2010 results This disclosure does not reflect the impacts of our recent acquisition actity
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include demand deposis with banks and all highly iquid investments with oniginal matunities of three months or less

inventones

Inveniones are stated at the lower of cost or market We record inventory allowances for overstocked and obsolete inventonies due to ingredient
and packaging changes Effective January 1, 2009, we changed our method of valuing our U S inventones to the average cost method In prior
years, pnncipally all U S inventories were valued using the last-in, first-out (“LIFQ”) method We beheve that the average cost method of
accounting for U S inventones 1s preferable and will improve financial reporting by better matching revenues and expenses to current costs, by
better aigning our external reporting with our competilors, and by aligning our external reporting with our tax basis of accounting The financial
statements for all penods presented were conformed to the change tn accounting policy With this change, we value all of our inventories using the
average cost method

The following line items within the statements of earnings were affected by the change n accounting policy

For the Year Ended December 31, 2009

As Computed As Roportod under Favorable /
under LIFQ Average Cost {Unfavarable)
(in millions, except per share data)
Cost of sales $ 25 691 3 25786 % {95)
Provision for income taxes 1,294 1259 35
Earnings from continuing operations 3,088 3ozs (60)

Earnings and gan from discontinued
operations, net of Income taxes - - -
Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods 3,081 3,021 (60)

Basic earnings per share attnbutable
to Kraft Foods

Continuing aperations $ 208 § 204 % (0 04)
Discontinued operations - - -
Net earnings attnbutable to Kraft Foods $ 208 % 204 % {0 04)

Diluted earnings per share attributable
to Kraft Foods

Continuing operations $ 207 % 203 §$ {0 04)
Discentinued operations - - -
Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods $ 207 % 203 8 (0 04)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2008

As Computed As Reported under Favorable /
under LIFO Avorage Cost {Unfavorable}
(tn mithions, except per share data)

GCost of sales $ 28,105 % 28088 3 17
Provision for income taxes 728 755 27)
Earnings from continuing operations 1,858 1,848 (10)
Earnings and gain from discentinued

operations, net of income taxes 1,052 1,045 {7)
Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods 2,901 2 884 (17}

Basic earnings per share attnibutable
to Kraft Foods

Continuing operations 3 123 $ 122 3 (D 01)
Discentinued operations 070 070 -
Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods $ 193 § 192 3 {0 01)

Dnluted earnings per share attnbutable
to Kraft Foods

Continuing operations $ 122 8 121§ {0 01)

Discontinued operations 0 B9 0 69 -

Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods $ 191 3 190 $ (0 01}
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2007

As Computed As Reported under Favorable /
under LIFO Average Cost {Unfavorable)
{in mililons, except par share data}

Cost of sales 3 23864 § 2365 $ 208
Gains on divestitures, net 15 14 (1)
Provision for income taxes 1,002 1,080 (78)
Earnings from continuing operations 2363 2,492 129
Earnings and gamn from discontinued

operations, net of income taxes 230 232 2
Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods 2,590 2,721 131

Basic earnings per share attributable
to Kraft Foods

Conbnuing operations 3 148 % 156 § 008
Discontinued operations 015 15 -
Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods $ 163 3% 171§ 008

Diluted earnings per share attnbutable
to Kraft Foods

Continuing operations $ 148 3% 15 § 008
Discontinued operations 014 014 -
Net earnings attnibutable to Kraft Foods 3 162 § 170 § 008

The following line items within the balance sheets were affected by the change in accounting pohicy

December 31, 2009

As Computed As Reported under Favorable /
under LIFO Avaerage Cost (Unfavorable)
(w millions)
Inventones, net $ 3718 % 3775 % (57)
Deferred income tax asset 752 730 22
Retained earnings 14,601 14,636 35

December 31, 2008

As Computed As Roportod under Favorahle /
under LIFO Average Cost {Unfavorable)
{in millions)
Inventories, net 5 3729 3 3.881 § (152)
Deferred income tax asset 861 804 57
Retained earnings 13,345 13,440 95

As a result of the accounting change, retained earnings as of January 1, 2007, decreased from $11,128 million, as computed using the LIFC
methed, to $11,109 million using the average cost method

There was no impact to net cash provided by operating achivities as a result of this change 1n accounting policy

Long-Lived Assets
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost and depreciated by the straight-ine method over the estimated useful lives of the

assets Machinery and equipment are depreciated over penods ranging from 3 to 20 years and bulldings and building tmprovements over periods
up to 40 years

We review long-lived assets, including amortizable intangible assets, for impairment when conditions exist that indicate the carrying amount of the
assets may not be fully recoverable We perform undiscounted operating cash flow analyses to determine if an impairment exists When testing
assets held for use for impairment, we group assets and habilities at the lowest level for which cash flows are separately identifiable If an
impairment i1s determined to exist, the loss is calculated based on estimated fair value Impairment losses on assets to be disposed of if any, are
based on the estimated proceeds to be recewved, less costs of disposal
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Software Cosls

We capialize certam computer software and software development costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining computer software
for internal use Capitalized software costs are included n property, ptant and equipment and amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the software which do not exceed seven years

Goodwill and intangible Assats

We test goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets at least annually for impairment We have recognized goodwill in cur reporting units whsch
are generally one level below our operating segments We use a two step process to test goodwill at the reporting unit level The first step involves
a companson of the estimated fair value of each reporting unit with ts carrying value Fair value 1s estmated using discounted cash flows of the
reporting unit based on planned growth rates, and estimates of discount rates and residual values If the carnying value exceeds the far value, the
second step of the process 1s necessary The second step measures the difference between the carrying value and impled fair value of goodwili
To test non-amortizable intangible assets for impairment, we compare the farr value of the intangible asset with its carrying value Fair value of
non-amortizable intangible assets 1s determined using our planned growth rates, and estimates of discount rates and royalty rates I the carrying
value exceeds farr value, the intangible asset 1s considered impaired and 1s reduced to fair value Definte-lived intangible assets are amorhzed
over their estmated useful lives

We perform our annual impairment review of goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets as of October 1 each year The basis of our valuation
methodology for estimating the fair value of our 20 reporting units 1s a 20-year projection of discounted cash flows that 1s based on our annual
strategic planning process Estimating the fair value of individual reporting units requires us to make assumptions and estimates regarding our
future plans, ndustry and ecenomic condiions For our reporting units within our Kraft Foods North Amenca and Kraft Foods Europe geographic
units, we used a market-participant, weighted-average cost of capital of 7 5% to discount the projected cash flows of those operations For our
reporting units within our Kraft Foods Developing Markets gecgraphic unit, we used a nsk-rated discount rate of 10 5%

insurance and Self-Insurance

We use a combination of insurance and seli-insurance for a number of nsks., including workers’ compensation, general hability automobile hrability,
product hability and our obligation for employee healthcare benefits Liabiities associated with the nsks are estimated by considenng histoncal
claims expenence and other actuanal assumptions

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues when title and nisk of loss pass to customers, which generally occurs upon shipment or delivery of goods Revenues are
recorded net of consumer incentives and trade promotions and include all shipping and handling charges billed to customers Kraft Foods'
shipping and handiing costs are classified as parn of cost of sales A prowision for product returns and aflowances for bad debts are also recorded
as reductions to revenues within the same period that the revenue 1s recognized

Excise Taxes

Effective January 1, 2009, we changed our classification of certain excise taxes to a net presentation within cost of sates in pror years, excise
taxes were classified gross within net revenues and cost of sales With this change, we report all of our excise and similar taxes using the net
presentation method We made this change to better align our net revenues between vanous countries and to provide betier clanty to net
revenues and marging As a result, we removed $269 million in 2008 and $276 million in 2007 from net revenues, and nettad the amounts within
cost of sales |f we had not made this change, in 2009, net revenues of $40,386 million would have been $40,621 million, and cost of sales of
$25,786 miflton would have been $26,021 millon This change did not have a matenal impact on our net revenues or cost of sales

Marketing, Admirustration and Research Costs

Marketing - We promote our products with advertising consumer incentives and trade promotions These programs include, but are not hmited to,
discounts, coupons, rebates in-store display incentives and volume-based Incentives We expense advertising costs either in the penod the
advertising first takes place or as incurred Consumer incentive and trade promotion activities are recorded as a reduchion to revenues based on
amounts estimated as bemng due to customers and consumers at the end of a penod We base these estmates principally on historical
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uthzation and redemption rates For intenm reporting purposes, advertising and consumer incentive expenses are charged to operations as a
percentage of volume, based on esttmated volume and related expense for the full year We do not defer costs on our year-end consolidated
balance sheet and all marketing costs are recorded as an expense mn the year incurred Advertising expense was $1,648 milion in 2009, $1,639
mihon in 2008 and $1,471 million in 2007

Research - We expense costs as incurred for product research and development Research and development expense was $477 milion in 2008,
$498 muthon 1n 2008 and $442 million in 2007

Environmental Coslts

We are subject to laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment We accrue for environmental remediation obligations on an
undiscounted basis when amounts are probable and can be reasonably esttmated The accruals are adjusted as new information develops or
crcumstances change Recoveries of environmental remediation costs from third parties are recorded as assets when recovery of those costs 1s
deemed probable At December 31, 2009, our subsidianes were involved 1n 71 active actions in the U S under Superfund legislation (and other
similar actions) related to current operations and certamn former or divested cperations for which we retain liability

Based on information currently avalable, we believe that the ultimate resolution of existing environmental remediation actions and our comphance
in general with environmental laws and regulations will not have a matenal effect on our financial results However, we cannot quantify with
certainty the patential impact of future comphance efforts and environmental remegdiation actions

Employee Benefit Plans

In September 2006, new guidance was 1ssued surrounding employers’ accounting for defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans The
new guidance required us to measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the balance sheet date beginning in 2008 We previously
measured our non-U § pension plans (other than certain Canadian and French pension plans) at September 30 of each year On Cecember 31,
2008, we recorded an after-tax decrease of $8 million to retained earnings using the 15-month approach to proportionally allocate the transition
ad)justment required upon adoption of the measurement provision of the new guidance The plan assets and benefit obligations of our pension
plans and the benefit cbligations of our postretirement plans are now all measured at year-end

We provide a range of benefits to our employees and retired employees These include pension benefits, postretirement health care benefits and
postemployment benefits, consisting primarily of severance We prowide pension coverage for certain employees of our non-U 8 subsidianes
through separate plans Local statutory requirements govern many of these plans For salarnied and non-union hourly employees hired in the U $
after January 1, 2009, we discontinued benefits under our 1) S pension plans, and we replaced them with an enhanced company contnbution to
our employee savings plan Additionally, we will be freezing the U S pension plans for current salaned and non-union hourly employees effective
December 31, 2019 Pension accruals for all salaried and non-union employees who are currently earning pension benefits wall end on
December 31, 2019, and continuing pay and service will be used to calculate the penston benefits through December 31, 2019 Our projected
benefit obligation decreased $168 million in 2009, and we incurred a $5 million curtailment charge tn 2009 related to the freeze Our U S and
Canadian subsidiaries provide health care and other benefits to most retired employees Local government plans generally cover health care
benefits for retirees outside the U S and Canada Our postemployment benefit plans cover mast salanied and certain hourly employees The cost
of these plans i1s charged to expense over the working life of the covered employees

Fmancial Instruments

As we operate globally, we use certain financial iInstruments to manage our foreign currency exchange rate, commodity price and interest rate
risks We monitor and manage these exposures as part of our overall nsk management program Our sk management program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to reduce the potentially adverse effects that the volatility of these markets may have on our
operating results We maintain foreign currency, commodity price and interest rate risk management strategies that seek to reduce significant,
unanticipated earmings fluctuations that may anse from volatility in foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and interest rates,
principally through the use of denvative instruments
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Financral mstruments qualifying for hedge accounting must maintain a specified fevel of effectiveness between the hedging instrument and the
tern being hedged, both at inception and throughout the hedged penod We formally document the nature of and relationships between the
hedging instruments and hedged tems, as well as our nsk management cbjectives, strategies for undertaking the various hedge transactions and
method of assessing hedge effectiveness Additionally, for hedges of forecasted transactions the significant charactenstics and expected terms of
the forecasted transaction must be specifically identified, and it must be probable that each forecasted transaction will occur If we deem it
probable that the forecasted transaction will not eccur, we recognize the gain or (035 1n earnings currently

By using derivatives to hedge exposures to changes in exchange rates, commodity prices and interest rates, we have exposure on these
dervatives 1o credit and market sk We are exposed to credst nsk that the counterparty might fail to fuffill its performance obhgations under the
terms of the denivative contract We minimize our credit risk by entenng into transactions with high quality counterparties with investment grade
credit ratings, hmiting the amount of exposure we have with each counterparty and monitonng the financial condition of our counterparties In
October 2008 ane of our counterparties Lehman Brothers Commercial Corporation filed for bankruptcy Consequently, we wrote off an
insignificant asset related to denvatives held with them This did not have a significant impact on our foreign currency sk management program
We also maintain a policy of requiring that all significant, non-exchange traded dernivative contracts with a duration greater than one year be
governed by an International Swaps and Dervatives Association master agreement Market nisk 1s the nisk that the value of the financial
strument nught be adversely affected by a change in foreign currency exchange rates, commodity pnices or interest rates We manage market
risk by incorporating monitoring parameters within our sk management strategy that imit the types of dervative instruments and derivative
strategies we use, and the degree of market nsk that may be undertaken by the use of denvative instruments

We record denvative financial instruments at far value in our consolidated balance sheets as either current assets or current habikties Cash flows
from hedging instruments are classified in the same manner as the affected hedged item in the consolidated statements of cash flows

Commodity cash flow hedges - We are exposed to price nsk related to forecasted purchases of certain commodities that we primarily use as raw
matenals Accordingly, we use commodity forward contracts as cash flow hedges, pnmanly for meat, coffee, dary, sugar, cocoa and wheat
Commodity forward contracts generally qualify for the normal purchase exception under guidance for denivative nstruments and hedging activities,
and therefore are not subject to its provisions We use commodity futures and options to hedge the price of certain input costs, including dairy,
coffee, cocoa, wheat, corn products, soybean oils, meat products, sugar, natural gas and heating oil Some of these dervative instruments are
highly effective and qualify for hedge accounting treatment We also sell commodity futures to unprice future purchase commitments, and we
occasionally use related futures to cross-hedge a commodity exposure We are not a party lo leveraged denvatives and, by policy, do not use
financial instruments for speculative purposes

For those dervative instruments that are highly effective and qualify for hedge accounting treatment, we defer the effective portion of unreahzed
gains and losses on commadity futures and option contracts as a component of accumulated other comprehensive earnings / (losses) We
recognize the deferred portion as a component of cost of sales when the related inventory 1s sold Ineflectiveness 1s directly recorded as a
component of cost of sales For the derivative instruments that we consider economic hedges but do not designate for hedge accounting
{reatment, we recognize gains and losses directly as a component of cost of sales

Foreign cummency cash flow hedges - We use varnous financial instruments to mitigate our expasure to changes in exchange rates from third-party

and intercompany actual and forecasted transactions These instruments include forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign currency swaps and
foreign currency options Based on the size and location of our businesses we use these instruments to hedge our exposure to certain currencies
including the euro, Swiss franc, Briish pound and Canadian dollar

For those dervative instruments that are highly effective and qualfy for hedge accounting treatment, we defer the effective portion of unrealized
gains and losses associated with forward, swap and option contracts as a component of accumulated other comprehensive earnings / (losses)
until the underlying hedged transactions are reported 1n earnings We recognize the deferred portion as a companent of cost of sales when the
related inventory 15 seld or as
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Interest and other expense, net for our hedges of intercompany loans, when the payments are made For those derivative instruments that we
consider economic hedges but do not designate for hedge accounting treatment, we recognize gains and losses directly as a component of cost of
sales or wnterest and other expense, net, depending on the nature of the underlying transaction

Interest rate cash fiow and fair value hedges - We manage interest rate volatiity by modifying the repricing or maturity charactenstics of certan
lhabilities so that the net interest margin 1s not, on a matenal basis, adversely affected by movements in interest rates As a result of interest rate
fluctuations, hedged fixed-rate habilities appreciate or depreciate in market value The effect of this unrealized appreciation or depreciation 15
expected to be substantially offset by our gans or losses on the dervative instruments that are inked to these hedged habiites

We use derivative instruments, including interest rate swaps that have indices retated to the pricing of specific habilities as part of our interest rate
nsk management strategy As a matter of policy, we do not use highly leveraged denvative instruments for interest rate nsk management We use
interest rate swaps to economically convert a portion of our nonprepayable fixed-rate debt into vaniable-rate debt Under the interest rate swap
contracts, we agree with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed-rate and floating-rate interest amounts,
which I1s calculated based on an agreed-upon notional amount We also use interest rate swaps to hedge the vaniability of interest payment cash
flews on a pertion of our future debt obligations Substanhally all of these denvative instruments are highly effective and qualfy for hedge
accounting treatment

For those derivative instruments that are highly effective and qualify for hedge accounting treatment, we either record the impacts in current pernod
earnings or defer the effective portion of unreatized gains and losses as a component of accumulated other comprehensive earnings / {losses),
depending on whether the hedging relationship satisfies the critena for a fair value or cash flow hedge For far value hedges, we record both

() the gains or losses on interest rate swaps and (i) the corresponding changes in fair value of the hedged long-term debt directly as a component
aof interest and other expense, net For cash flow hedges, we recognize the deferred portion as a component of interest and other expense, net
when we incur the interest expense The ineffective portion 1s directly recorded as a component of interest and other expense, net For the
denvative instruments that we consider economic hedges but do not designate for hedge accounting treatment, we recogmize gains and losses
directly as a component of interest and other expense, net

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations - We have numerous investments in foreign subsidiaries The net assets of these subsidianes are
exposed to volatility in foreign currency exchange rates We use foreign-currency-denominated debt to hedge our net investment in foreign
operations against adverse movements in exchange rates We designated our eurc denominated barrowings as a net investment hedge of a
portion of our overall European operations The gains and losses on our net investment in these designated European operations are
economically ofiset by losses and gains on our euro denominated borrowings The change in the debt's fair value 1s recorded In the currency
translation adjustment component of accumulated other comprehensive earnings / (losses)

Guarantees

Authoritative guidance refated to guarantor’s accounting and disclosure requirements for guarantees requires us to disclose certain guarantees
and to recognize a hability for the fair value of the obligation of qualifying guarantee actviies  See Note 13, Commitments and Contingencies for a
further discussion of guarantees

income Taxes

Prior to our spin-off from Altria, we were included n Altna’s consolidated federal income tax return We generally computed income taxes on a
separate company basis, however some of our forengn tax credits, capital losses and other credits could not be used on a separate company
basis To the extent that Altria used our fareign tax credits and other tax benefits in its consolidated federal iIncome tax return, we recognized the
benefit in the calcutation of our provision for iIncome taxes This benefit was approximately $270 milhon in 2007 We made payments to, or were
reimbursed by, Altna for the tax effects resulting from being ncluded in Altna’s tax return As of March 31, 2007, we were no longer a member of
the Altria consolidated tax return group We file our own federat consolidated income tax returns As a result of the spin-off, Altna transferred our
federal tax contingencies to our balance sheet and related interest income of $77 million in 2007 Additionally, during 2007, Altna paid us $305
milion for the federal tax contingencies held by them, less the impact of federal reserves reversed due to the adeption of new guidance, discussed
below, which addressed accounting for the uncertainty in income taxes This amount was reflected as a
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component of the change in other current assets within the net cash provided by operating actvities section of the consolidated statement of cash

flows

tn July 2006, new guidance was 1ssued which addressed accounting for the uncertainty in income taxes We adopted the guidance effective
January 1, 2007 The gudance clanfied when tax benefits should be recorded in the financial statements and provided measurement cntena for
valuing such benefits In order for us to recognize benefits, our tax position must be more likely than not to be sustamned upon audit The amount
we recognize 1s measured as the largest amount of benefit thal is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultmate settlement Before
the implementation of the guidance, we established additional provisions for certain positions that were likely to be challenged even though we

believe that those existing tax pasitions were fully supportable The adoption of this guwidance resulted In an increase to equity as of January 1

2007 of $213 milien

We recognize deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences, operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it 1s more hkely than not that some portion, or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized

Raclassification

In 2009, we separately disclosed other non-cash expense, net within the net cash provided by cperating activities section of the conscolidated
statement of cash flows and made conforming changes to the presentation mn prior years This change did not have an impact on cash provided by
operatmg actvibes for any of the penods presented In 2008, we also changed our cost assignment methodology for headquarter functional costs
across our operating structure As a result, we reclassified $188 milhon in 2008 and $83 million in 2007 from marketing, adrministration and
research costs to cost of sates This change did not have an impact on net earnings for any of the periods presented

New Accounting Pronouncements

In Seplember 2006, new guidance was 1ssued on fair value measurements The guidance defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measurning fair value and expands disclosures about far value measurements The effective date of the guidance for items recognized or
disclosed at fair value on an annual or more frequently recurring basis was January 1, 2008 The effective date of the guidance for all other
nonfinancial assets and liabilities was January 1, 2009 As such, we partially adopted the guidance effective January 1 2008 The partial adoption
of this guidance did not have a matenal impact on our financial statements We adopted the remaining provisions effective January 1 2009 This
adoption affects the way that we calculate farr value for our annual impairment review of goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets, and when
conditions exist that require us to calculate the fair value of long-lived assets however this adoption did not have a matenal impact on our

financial statements

In December 2007, new guidance was 1ssued on business combinations We adopted the guidance effective January 1, 2009 The guidance
requires the acquinng entity in a business combmation to recognize all assets acquired and liabilittes assumed in the transaction, establishes the
acquisthion-date far value as the measurement objective for all assets acquired and habilities assumed, and requires the acquirer to disclose all
information needed by investors to understand the nature and financial effect of the business combination The adoption of this guidance did not

have a matenal impact on our financial statements

In December 2007, new guidance was also 1ssued on noncontrolling interests in conschidated financial statements We adopted the guidance \
effective January 1, 2009 The guidance requires us to classify noncontrolling interests in subsidianies as a separate component of equity instead ‘
of within other habilties Additionally, transactions between an entity and noncontrolling interests must be treated as equity transactions

Therefore, they no longer are removed from net income, but rather are accounted for as equity The adoption of this guidance did not have a

matenal impact on our financial statements

In June 2008, new guidance was issued to assist in deterruning whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are
participating secunties We adopted the gurdance effective January 1, 2009 The guidance considers unvested share-based payment awards with
the nght to receve nonforfetable diwidends, or their equivalents, participating secunties that should be included in the calculation of EPS under the
two-class method Accordingly, our restricted and deferred stock awards are now considered participating units in our calculation of EPS The

adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our financial statements
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In May 2009, new guidance was 1ssued on subsequent events that requires management to evaluate subsequent events through the date the
financial statements are either 1ssued or available to be 1ssued, depending on the company's expectation of whether t will widely distribute its
financial statements to its shareholders and other financial statement users Companies are required to disclose the date through which
subsegquent events have been evaluated We adopted the guidance effective June 30, 2009

In June 2009, new guidance was 1ssued on the consolidation of variable interest entities The provisions are effective for Kraft Foods as of
January 1, 2010 This guidance improves the financial reporting by enterprises involved with vanable interest entities We do not expect the
adoption of this guidance to have a matenal impact on our financial statements

Note 2, Acauisitions and Divestitures,

Cadbury Acquisttion

On January 19, 2010, we announced the terms of our final offer for each outstanding ordinary share of Cadbury plc {*Cadbury”), including each
ordinary share represented by an American Depositary Share (“Cadbury ADS"), and the Cadbury board of directers recommended that Cadbury
shareholders accept the terms of the final offer Under the terms of the offer, we agreed to pay Cadbury shareholders 500 pence in cash and

0 1874 shares of Kraft Foods Common Stock per Cadbury ordinary share validly tendered and 2,000 pence in cash and 0 7496 shares of Kraft
Foods Common Stock per Cadbury ADS validly tendered This valued each Cadbury ordinary share at 8B40 pence and each Cadbury ADS at

£33 60 {based on the closing price of $29 58 for a share of Kraft Foods Common Stock on January 15, 2010 and an exchange rate of §1 63 per
£1 00) and valued the entire 1ssued share capital of Cadbury at £11 9 bilion {approximately $19 4 billion) on January 15, 2010, the last trading day
before the publication of our final offer The combination of Kraft Foods and Cadbury will create a globat powerhouse 1n snacks, confectionery and
quick meals with a rnich portfolio of iIconic brands

On February 2, 2010, all of the conditions to the offer were satisfied or vatdly waived, the initial offer penod expired and a subsequent offer penod
mmediately began At that point, we had received acceptances of 71 73% of the outstanding Cadbury ordinary shares, including those
represented by Cadbury ADSs The subseguent offer period remains open untll further notice and at least 14 days of notice will be gven If Kraft
Foods decides to close the offer As of February 15, 2010, we had receved acceptances of 1,262,356,520 shares representing 91 02% of the
outstanding Cadbury ordinary shares, including those represented by Cadbury ADSs As we have receved acceptances of over 90% of Cadbury
shares, we are n the process of acquinng the remaining Cadbury ordinary shares that are not tendered in the offer including those represented by
Cadbury ADSs, through a compulsory acquisition pracedure under the United Kingdom Companies Act of 2006, as amended Additionally, as a
conditton of the EU Commission's approval of the Cadbury acquisition, we are required to divest confectionary operations in Poland and Romania
As part of our acquisitton of Cadbury, we expensed approximately $40 million n transaction related fees in 2009 as we incurred them, and we also
ncurred $40 milhon in financing fees in 2009 related to the acquisition

The accounting for our Cadbury acquisition was incomplete at the tme we 1ssued our financial statements Accordingly, it 1s iImpracticable for us 10

make certain business combination disclosures At the time of filing, it was impracticable for us to A) Complete a reconcihation of Cadbury's IFRS i
financial statements to U S GAAP Accordingly, we were unable to present the acquisition date fair value of assets acquired and liabiliies

assumed, or assets and liabiliies ansing from contingencies B} Calculate the amount of goodwil! and intangibles acquired and the total amount of
goodwill that 1s expected to be deductible for tax purposes C) Provide proforma segment disclesures And D) present supplemental proforma

combined information on a U S GAAP basis for the most recent penod presented

Pizza Divestiture

On January 4, 2010, we entered into an agreement to sell the assets of our North Amenican frozen pizza business (“Frozen Pizza") to Nestlé USA,
In¢c (“Nestlé”) for total consideration of $3 7 billen Qur Frozen Pizza business 1s a component of cur U'S Convenient Meals and Canada & North
Amenca Foodservice segments The sale, which 1s subject to customary conditions, including regulatory clearances, includes the DiGiorno,
Tombstone and Jack's brands in the U S , the Dehissto brand in Canada and the Calfornia Pizza Kitichen trademark license It also includes
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two Wisconsin manufacturing facilities (Medford and Little Chute) and the leases for the pizza depots and delivery trucks It 1s estimated that
approximately 3,400 of our employees will transfer with the business to Nestlé We anticspate that the transaction will close in the first quarter of
2010

At December 31, 2009, the Frozen Pizza business did not meet the cntena to be considered held-for-sale Beginning in the first quarter of 2010,
the results of the Frozen Pizza busmess will be presented as a discontinued operation in our consolidated financial statements and prior penods
will be restated in a consistent manner The following reflects the summary resuits for the Frozen Pizza business that will be treated as a
discontinued operation going forward

_____Forthe Years Ended Decomber 31,
2009 2008 2007
{in millions)

Net revenues 3 1632 3 1,440 & 1,278
Earnings from operations before

income taxes 341 267 237
Provision for ncome taxes {123) {97) (87)
Net earnings from operations of

the Frozen Pizza business $ 218 § 170 % 150

Earnings from operations before iIncome taxes as presented exclude stranded overheads of 3108 mullion in 20098 $112 millien in 2008 and
$1141 rmulhion in 2007

Past Cereals Spiit-off

On August 4, 2008, we completed the spiit-off of the Post cereals business into Ralcorp Holdings, inc (“Ralcorp”), after an exchange with our
shareholders Accordingly, the Post cereals bustness prior penod results were reflected as discontinued operations on the consolidated
statement of earnings The exchange was expected to be tax-free to participating shareholders for U $ federal income tax purposes

In this splt-off transaction, approximately 46 1 millon shares of Kraft Foods Common Stock were tendered for $1,644 million Qur
shareholders had the option to exchange some or all of their shares of Kraft Foods Common Stock and receive shares of common stock of
Cable Heldeo, Inc ("Cable Holdco™) Cable Holdco was our wholly owned subsidiary that owned certain assets and habilities of the Post
cereals business In exchange for the contribution of the Post cereals business, Cable Holdco 1ssued approximately $665 million in debt
secunties, 1ssued shares of its common stock and assumed a $300 million credit faciity Upon closing, we used the cash eguivalent net
proceeds, appraximately $960 million, to repay debt

The Post cereals business included such brands as Honey Bunches of Oats, Pebbles, Shredded Wheat Selects, Grape-Nuts and
Honeycomb Under Kraft Foods, the brands in this transaction were distnbuted primanly in North Amernica tn addition to the Post brands, the
transaction included four manufacturing facilities, certan manufacturing equipment and approximately 1 230 employees who joined Ralcorp
as part of the transaction

Pursuant to the Post cereals business Transition Services Agreement, we provided certain sales, co-manufacturing, distnbution, information I
technology and accounting and finance services to Ralcorp through 2009

Summary results of operations for the Post cereals business through August 4, 2008, were as follows

For the Years Ended December 31,

2008 _ 2007
{tn millions}

Net revenues b 666 § 1107
Earnings before income taxes 188 368
Prowvision for ncome taxes (70) {137)
Gamn on discontinued operations, net of

Income taxes 926 -
Earnings and gain from discontinued

operations, net of ncome taxes $ 1,045 § 232

I
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The following assets of the Post cereals business were included in the Post split-off (in millions)

Inventores, net $ 94
Property, plant and equipment, net 425
Goodwill 1,234
Other assets 1
Other habilities (3)
Dustributed assets of the Post cereals

business 3 1,761

LU Biscuit Acquisition

On November 30, 2007, we acquired the Groupe Dancne S A global LU biscutt business (*LU Biscutt™) for € 5 1 bilhon (approximately $7 6 billion)
in cash The acquishion included 32 manufacturing faciities and approximately 14,000 employees During 2008, we repaid Groupe Danone S A
for excess cash recewved upon the acquisition LU Biscuit reports results from operations on a one month lag, accordingly, there was no effect on
our 2007 operating results On a proforma basis, LU Biscut would have contributed net revenues of $2 8 bilion dunng 2007, and LU Biscurt’s
contribution 1o net earnings would have been insignificant to Kraft Foods

Other Divestitures

In 2009, we receved $41 million in net proceeds and recorded pre-tax losses of $6 millon on the divestitures of our Balance bar operations in the
U S, ajuice operation in Brazil and a plant in Spain We recorded after-tax gains of $58 million on these divestitures, primarily due to the diffening
book and tax bases of our Balance bar operations

In 2008, we received $153 million In net proceeds, and recorded pre-tax losses of $92 milhon on divestitures, primarily related te a Nordic and
Battic snacks operation and four operations in Spain We recorded after-tax losses of $64 mullion on these divestitures

Included in the 2008 dwestitures were the following, which were a condition of the EU Commuission’s approval of our LU Biscuit acquisition

. We divested a biscuit operation in Spain From this divestiture, we received $86 mullion in net proceeds and recorded pre-tax losses of
$74 million

* We divested another biscuit operation in Spain and a trademark in Hungary that we had previously acquired as part of the LU Biscunt
acquisition As such, the impacts of these divestitures were reflected as adjustments to the purchase price allocations

In 2007, we received $216 mudlion In net proceeds and recorded pre-tax gains of $14 million on the divestitures of our hot cereal assets and
trademarks, our sugar confectionery assets n Romania and related trademarks and our flavored water and juice brand assets and related
trademarks, including Veryfine and Fruit20Q We recorded an after-tax loss of $5 million on these dvestitures to reflect the differing book and tax
bases of our hot cereal assets and trademarks dvestiture

These gains and losses on divestitures do not reflect the related asset mpairment charges discussed in Note 5, Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The aggregate operating results of the divestitures discussed above, other than the divestiture of the Post cereals business, were not matenal to
our financiat statements in any of the periods presented Refer to Note 16, Segment Reporting, for details of the gains and losses on divestitures
by segment
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Note 3, Inventores.

Inventories at December 31 2009 and 2008 were

2008 2008
{in millions)
Raw materals $ 1,410 $ 1,568
Finished product 2,365 2,313
Inventones, net $ 3,775 3 3831
Note 4, Property. Plapt and Equipment,
Property plant and equipment at December 31, 2009 and 2008 were
2009 2008
(in mullions)
Land and land improvements $ 492 $ 462
Buildings and building equipment 4,231 3,913
Machinery and equipment 13,872 12,590
Construction in progress 828 850
19,423 17 815
Accumulated depreciation (8,730) (7,898)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 10693 $ 9917

Refer to Note 5, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, for asset impairment charges taken aganst property, plant and equipment

Note 5. Goodwill and Intangible Asgets,
At December 31, 2009 and 2008, goodwlll by reporiable segment was

2009 2008
{in millions)
Kraft Foods North America
U S Beverages $ 1,290 3 1,290
U S Cheese 3,000 3,000
U S Convenent Meals 1,460 1,460
U S Grocery 3,046 3046
U S Snacks 6,548 6,965
Canada & N A Fagdservice 2,340 2,306
Kraft Foods Europe 8,756 5,803
Kraft Foods Developing Markets 3,924 3,621
Total goodwill $ 28,764 $ 27 581

1) This segment was formery known as European Union

As discussed in Note 16, Segment Reporting, we implemented changes to our operating structure in 2009 As a result of these changes, we
aligned the reporting of our Central Europe operations into our Kraft Foods Developing Markets segment and moved $1 534 milion of goodwill
from Kraft Foods Europe to Kraft Foods Developing Markets
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Intangible assets at December 31, 2009 and 2008 were

2009 2008
{in millions)
Non-amertizable intangible assets 3 13,262 § 12,758
Amortizable intangible assets 278 254
13,540 13,012
Accumulated amortization (11) (86)
intangible assets, net $ 13,429 § 12,926

Non-amortizable intangible assets consist principally of brand names purchased through our acquisitions of Nabisco Holdings Corp , LU Biscunt
and the Spanish and Portuguese operations of United Biscuits Amortizable intangible assets consist prnimanly of trademark licenses,
customer-related intangibles and non-compete agreements

The movements in goodwill and intangible assets were

2009 2008
Intangible tntangible
Goodwill Agsets, at cost Goodwill Assets, at cost
{in milhons)

Balance at January 1 $ 27581 3 13012 % 31,193 § 12,262
Changes due to

Forewgn currency 1,200 544 (1,062) (516}

Acquisitions - - (1,187) 1,356

Divestitures {(17) - (1,272) (37)

Asset impairments - (12} (35) (53)

Other - 4 (56) -
Balance at December 31 3 28,764 % 13,540 % 27,581 § 13,012

Changes to goodwill and intangible assets during 2009 were

. Divesthitures - We reduced goodwill by $17 million due to the divestiture of our Balance bar operations in the U S

. Asset impairments - Dunng our 2009 review of goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets, we recorded a $12 million charge for
the impairment of intangible assets in the Netherlands

Changes to goodwill and intangible assets during 2008 were

. Acquisitions - We decreased goodwill by $1,187 milien and increased intangible assets by $1,356 milhon pnmarily due to refinements
of prebminary allocations of the purchase price for our acquisition of LU Biscuit The allocations were based upon appraisals that were
finalzed in the third quarter of 2008

. Divestitures - We reduced goodwill by $1,234 milhon due to the split-off of our Post cereals business, and we reduced goodwill by $38
million and intangible assets by $37 million due to the dwestiture of an operation in Spain

. Asset impairments - We recorded asset impairment charges of $34 million to goodwill and $1 million to intangible assets in connection
with the divestiture of a Nordic and Baltic snacks operation We also recorded asset impairment charges of $1 million to goodwill and
$8 milhon to intangible assets in connection with the anticipated divestiture of a juice operation in Brazil In addition, during our 2008
review of goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets, we recorded a $44 million charge for the impairment of intangible assets in
the Netherlands, France and Puertc Rico

. Other - We reduced goodwi!l by $56 million primarily related to a reconciliation of our inventory of deferred tax items that also resulted
In a wnte-down of our net deferred tax habiities

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $26 million in 2009, $23 million in 2008 and $13 milion in 2007 We currently estimate
amortization expense for each of the next five years to be approximately $15 million or less
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Annual Impairment Review & Asset impawrment Charges

As a result of our 2009 annual review of goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets, we recorded a $12 million charge for the impairment of
intangible assets in the Netherlands In addition, during 2009, we recorded a $9 million asset imparment charge to write off an tnvestment in
Nomway We recorded the aggregate charges within asset impairment and exit costs During our 2009 imparment review, we also noted that the
folfowing three reporting unils were the most sensitive to near-term changes i our discounted cash flow assumptions

Percentage of

Exceass Fair October 1, 2009
Value over Carrying Value
Carrying Value of Goodwill
{10 millions)
U S Salty Snacks 1% $ 1,186
N A Foodservice 22% 861
Europe Biscuits 1% 2,555

Dunng the fourth quarter of 2008, we completed the annual review of goodwill and non-amortizable intangible assets and recorded a $44 million
charge for the impaiment of mtangible assels i the Netherlands, France and Puerto Rica Dunng our 2008 impairment review, we determined
that our Europe Biscuits reporting unit was the most sensitive to near-term changes in our discounted cash flow assumptions, as it contains a
significant portion of the goodwll recorded upon our 2007 acquisition of LU Biscutt In addition, in December 2008, we reached a prehminary
agreement to divest a Juice operation in Brazil and reached an agreement to sell a cheese plantin Austraba In anucipation of divesting the juice
operation in Brazil, we recorded an asset impairment charge of $13 mullion in the fourth quarter of 2008 The charge pnmarily included the write-off
of associated intangible assets of $8 million and property, plant and equipment of $4 million in anticipation of selling the cheese plant i Austraha,
we recorded an asset imparrment charge of $28 mullion to property, plant and equipment in the fourth quarter of 2008 Additicnally, In 2008, we
divested a Nordic and Baltic snacks operation and incurred an asset impairment charge of $55 mullion in connection with the divestiture This
charge primanly included the wnte-off of associated goodwill of $34 million and property, plant and equipment of $16 millon We recorded the
aggregate charges within asset impairment and exit costs

In 2007, we divested our flavored water and Juice brand assets and related trademarks 1n recognition of the divestiture we recorded a $120

milllon asset impairment charge for these assets The charge primarily included the write-off of associated intangible assets of $70 million and
property, plant and equipment of $47 million and was recorded within asset impairment and exit costs

Note §. Restructuring Costs,

Cost Savings Initiatives

We incurred costs associated with our Cost Savings intiatives of $318 million in 2008 These charges were recorded in operations, prmanly within
the segment operating income of Kraft Foods Europe with the remainder spread across all other segments The Kraft Foods Europe charges were
largely a result of the recrganization of our European operations discussed below Cost Savings Iniiatives include exit, disposal and
implementation costs Even though implementation costs were dwectly attnbutable to exit and disposal costs, they did not qualify for special
accounting treatment as exit or disposal activities In 2009, our Cost Savings Inthatives pnmarily mcluded severance charges for benefits receved
by terminated employees associated benefit plan costs and other related activities

2004-2008 Restructunng Program

In 2008, we completed our five-year restructuring program (the "Restructunng Program”) The Restructuring Program's objectives were to leverage
our global scale, realign and lower our cost structure, and optimize capacity As part of the Restructuring Program, we

. incurred $3 0 billion in pre-tax charges reflecting asset disposals, severance and implementation costs,
. announced the closure of 35 facilities and announced the ehmination of approximately 18,600 posihons, and

. will use cash to pay for $2 0 bilion of the $3 0 bidlion in charges
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In 2008, we reversed $85 rmilhon of previously accrued Restructuning Program charges Those reversals related to the following

. We sold a plant in Spain that we previously announced we would close under our Restructuring Program Accardingly, we reversed
$35 rmillion in Restructuring Program charges, pnmarily related to severance, and recorded a $17 mullion loss on the divestiture of the
plant in 2008 The reversal occurred m our Kraft Foods Europe segment

. We alsc reversed $50 mullion in Restructuning Program charges, pnmarily due to planned position eliminations that did not occur
These were pnmartly the result of redeployment and natural attrntion The majority of these reversals occurred in our Kraft Foods
Europe segment, with the remainder spread across all other segments

We incurred charges under the Restructuning Program of $989 million in 2008 and $453 mdhon in 2007 Since the inception of the Restructuning
Program, we have paid cash of $1 7 billion of the $2 0 bidhon i expected cash payments, including $176 million paid in 2008 At December 31,
2009, we had an accrual of $270 million, and we had eliminated approximately 17,300 positions under the Restructuring Program

In 2008, we implemented a new operating structure built on three core elements busmess units, shared services that leverage the scale of our
global portfolio, and a streamlined corporate staff Within the new structure, business units now have full P&L accountability and are staffed
accordingly This also ensures that we are putting our resources closer to where we make decisions that affect our consumers and customers Qur
corporate and shared service functions streamlined their organizations to focus on core activities that can more efficiently support the goals of the
business units The intent was to simplify, streamiine and increase accountability, with the ultmate goal of generating reliable growth for Kraft
Foods [n total, we elminated approximately 1,400 positions as we streamhned our headquarter functhions

The reorgamization of our European operations to function on a pan-European centralized category management and value chain model was
compteted in 2009 for our Chocolate, Coffee and Cheese categones Significant progress was made in 2009 related to the integration of our
Europe Biscuits business, and we expect the integration to be completed by mid-2010 The European Principal Company ("EPC") will manage the
European categories centrally and make decisions for all aspects of the value chan, except for sales and distnbution The European subsidianes
will execute sales and distribution locally, and the local production companies will act as toll manufacturers on behalf of the EPC The EPC legal
entity has been incorporated as Kraft Foods Europe GmbH in Zurich, Switzerdand As part of the reorganization, we tncurred $32 mullion of
severance costs, $25 million of implementation costs and $56 million of other non-recurnng costs duning 2009, we incurred $16 million of
restructuring costs $39 milton of implementation costs and $11 million of other non-recurning costs duning 2008, and we incurred $21 million of
restructuring costs, $24 milhon of implementation costs and $10 million of other non-recurring costs duning 2007 Through 2009, we have incurred
aggregate charges of 5241 million related to our Kraft Foods Europe Reorganization, and we expect to incur approximately $40 million in
additional charges in 2010 to compiete the integrauon of the Europe Biscuits business In 2008, these charges were recorded within cost of sales
and marketing, administration and research ¢osts The 2008 and 2007 restructuning and implementation costs were included in the total
Restructuring Program charges Other non-recurnng costs relating to our Kraft Foods Europe Reorganization were recorded as marketing,
administration and research costs Management believes the disclosure of implementation and cther non-recurring charges provides readers of
our financial statements greater transparency to the total costs of our Kraft Foods Europe Reorganization
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Rastructunng Casts i
Under the Restructuring Program, we recorded asset impaument and exit costs of $884 milion dunng 2008 and $332 million duning 2007
Restructuning hability activity for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was

Assat
Severance Writo-downs Qther Total
{in millions)

Liability balance January 1, 2008 3 154 § - 8 16 § 170
Charges 590 195 99 884
Cash (spent) / receved {255) 33 (71) (293)
Charges aganst assets (30) (214) 2 {242)
Currency (15) {14} (1) (30)

Liability balance, December 31, 2008 444 - 45 489
Reversal of charges ) (4) 4) (85)
Cash (spent) / received {162) 1 {15) (1786)
Currency 40 3 {1) 42

Liability balance December 31, 2009 $ 245 § - % 25 § 270

Our 2009 activity was related to the aforementioned reversal of $85 million and cash outflows on prior year Restructuning Program charges Qur
prior year severance charges included the cost of benefits receved by terminated employees Severance charges against assets primanly related
to ncremental pension costs which reduced prepaid pension assets Asset impairment write-downs were caused by plant closings and related
actvity Cash recewved on asset write-downs reflected the higher than anticipated net proceeds from the sales of assets previously written-down
under the Restructunng Program Qther prior year costs related primarily to the renegotiation of supplier contract costs workforce reductions
associated with facility closings and the termination of leasing agreements

implementation Costs

Implementation costs were directly attributable to exit and disposal costs, however, they did not qualify for special accounting treatment as exit or

disposal activities These costs primarnly included the discontinuance of certain product lines, iIncremental expenses related to the closure of '
facilities and the reorganization of our European operations discussed above Management believes the disclosure of implementation charges
provides readers of our financial statements greater transparency to the total costs of our Restructuring Program

Implementation costs associated with the Restructuring Program were

2008 2007
{in millions)
Cost of sales $ 38 3 67
Marketing, administration and
research costs 57 60
Total implementation costs $ 105 § 127
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Total Restructunng Program Costs

We included the asset rnpairment, exit and implementation costs discussed above, for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 In segment
operating ncome as follows

For the Year Ended Decembar 31, 2008

Restructuring Implementation
Costs Costs Total
{in miltions)

Kraft Foods North Amernica

U S Beverages $ 59 § 8 % 67

U S Cheese 3 7 38

U S Convenent Meals N 7 38

U S Grocery 36 5 1

U S Snacks 12 9 81

Canada & N A Foodservice 100 10 110
Kraft Foods Europe 418 56 474
Kraft Foods Developing Markets 137 3 140
Total - continuing operations 884 105 989

Discontinued operations - - -
Total 3 884 $ 1056 § 989

For the Year Ended Dacember 31, 2007

Restructuring Implementation
Costs Costs Total
{in millions)
Kraft North America
U S Beverages 3 12 % 7 % 19
U S Cheese 50 25 75
U S Convenient Meals 20 15 35
US Grocery 25 7 32
U S Spacks 17 15 32
Canada & N A Foodservice 50 2 52
Kraft Foods Europe 108 44 152
Kraft Foods Developing Markets 38 12 50
Total - continuing operations 320 127 447
Discontinued operations 12 - 12
Total 3 332 % 127 % 459
Note 7. Debt and Borrowing Arrangements,
Short-Term Borrowings
At December 31, 2009 and 2008, our short-term borrowings and related average interest rates consisted of
2009 2008
Amount Average Amount Average
QOutstanding Year-End Rate Outstanding Year-End Rate
{in mill:ons} {in milliona}
Commercial paper $ 262 05% § 606 26%
Bank loans 191 10 5% 291 13 0%
Total short-term borrowings 3 453 $ 897

The fair values of our short-term borrowings at ODecember 31, 2009 and 2008, based upon current market interest rates, approximate the amounts
disclosed above

Bomrowing Armmangements
On Novemnber 30, 2009, we entered into a revolving credit agreement for a $4 5 billion three-year senior unsecured revolving credit faciity The
agreement replaced our former revolving credit agreement, which was terminated upon
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the signing of the new agreement We intend to use the revolving credit faciity for general corporate purposes, including for working capttal
purposes, and to support our commercial paper issuances No amounts have been drawn on the facility

The revolving credit agreement requires us to maintain a mintmum total shareholders’ equity, excluding accumulated other comprehensive
earmings / (losses), of at least $23 0 bilhon Upon the completion of our acquisition of Cadbury, this covenant will increase by 75% of any increase
th our total shareholders’ equity as a direct result of a) our Issuance of certain types of equity secunties to finance the acquisition, or b) our
refinancing certain ndebtedness At December 31, 2009, our total shareholders’ equity, excluding accumulated other comprehensive earnings /
{losses), was $29 8 billon We expect to continue to meet this covenant The revolving credit agreement also contains customary representations,
covenants and events of default However, the revolving credit facility has no other financial covenants, credit rating triggers or provisions that
could require us to post collateral as secunty

In addition to the above, some of our international subsidianies maintain primarly uncommitted credit lines to meet short-term working capital
needs Colleclively, these credit ines amounted to $1 5 bilhon at December 31, 2009 Borrowings on these nes amounted to $191 million at
December 31, 2009 and $291 million at December 31, 2008

On November 9, 2009, we entered into an agreement for a £5 5 bilion {approximately $8 9 billion) 364-day senior unsecured bridge facility (the
“Cadbury Bndge Facility”) On January 18, 2010, we amended the agreement to increase the Cadbury Bridge Facility to an aggregate of

€7 1 bilion On February 11, 2010, after the issuance of $8 5 billion of semor unsecured notes, we amended the agreement again tc decrease the
Cadbury Bridge Facility to an aggregate of £1 3 billon We expect to use borrowings under the Cadbury Bridge Facily and proceeds from other
financing sources to finance the Cadbury acquisibion and to refinance certain indebtedness of Cadbury and its subsichanes With centain
restnctions, borrowings under the Cadbury Bndge Facility are also avallable for our general corporate purposes

The Cadbury Bndge Facilty agreement includes the same minimum shareholders’ equity requirement as in our $4 5 bilhon revolving credit
agreement in addition in the event that our long-term senior unsecured indebtedness Is rated below nvestment grade by either Moody's o
Standard & Poor's, the Cadbury Bridge Facity agreement requires us to maintain a net debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio of not more than 4 25 to

1 00 At December 31 2009, we continued to maintain our mvestment grade debt rating, and our net debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio was 2 64 The
Cadbury Bridge Facility agreement also contains customary representations covenants and events of default and requires the prepayment of
advances and / or the permanent reduction of commitments under the facility with the net cash proceeds recewved from certain disposals, debt
issuances and equity capital markets transactions No amounts were drawn on the facility at December 31, 2009

Subject to market conditions, we expect to refinance or reduce advances under the Cadbury Bridge Facility from proceeds of alternative financing
sources

Long-Term Debt
On February 8, 2010, we issued $9 5 billon of senior unsecured notes at a weighted-average effective rate of 5 364% and are using the net
proceeds (39,379 million) to finance the Cadbury acquistion and for general corporate purposes The general terms of the $9 5 billkion notes are

. $3 75 billion total principal notes due February 10, 2020 at a fixed, annual interest rate of 5 375% Interest 1s payable semannually
beginming August 10, 2010

. $3 00 billion total principal notes due February 9, 2040 at a fixed, annual interest rate of 6 500% Interest s payable semiannually
beginning August 9, 2010

. $1 75 tullion total principal notes due February 9, 2016 at a fixed annual interest rate of 4 125% Interest is payable sermiannually
beginming August 9, 2010

. $1 00 bilion total pnncipal notes due May 8, 2013 at a fixed, annual interest rate of 2625% Interest 1s payable semiannually beginning
November 8, 2010

On December 19, 2008 we 1ssued $500 millicn of senior unsecured notes and used the net proceeds ($498 mullion) for general corporate
purposes, including the repayment of outstanding commerciai paper The general terms of the $500 million notes are $500 milhon tota! prncipal
notes due February 19, 2014 at a fixed, annual interest rate of 6 750% Interest 1s payable semmannually and began on February 19 2009
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On May 22, 2008, we 1ssued $2 0 billion of semicr unsecured notes and used the net proceeds ($1,967 million) for general corporate purposes,
including the repayment of borrowings under the 364-day brndge faciity agreement we used to acquire LU Biscuit and other short-term borrowings

The general terms of the $2 0 billion notes are

$1,250 million total principal notes due August 23, 2018 at a fixed, annual interest rate of 6 125% Interest 1s payable semiannually,

and began February 23, 2009

$750 million total principal notes due January 26, 2039 at a fixed, annual interest rate of 6 875% Interest s payable semiannually, and

began on January 26, 2009

On March 20, 2008, we 1ssued €2 85 billion {approximately $4 5 billion) of senior unsecured notes and used the net proceeds {approximately
$4,470 million) to repay a portion of the 364-day bndge facility agreement we used to acquire LU Biscuit The general terms of the €2 85 billion

notes are

€2 0 billion (approximately $3 2 billion) total principat notes due March 20, 2012 at a fixed, annual interest rate of 5 750% Interest s

payable annually, and began March 20, 2009

€850 million (approximately $1 3 billion} total principal notes due March 20, 2015 at a fixed, annual interest rate of 6 250% Interestis

payable annually and began March 20, 2009

The notes from the above issuances include covenants that restnct our ability to incur debt secured by liens above a certain threshold We are
also required to offer to purchase these notes at a pnce equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the

date of repurchase, If we experience both of the following

)]
(0]

We expect to continue to comply with our long-term debt covenants

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, our long-term debt consisted of (interest rates were as of December 31, 20089}

As of December 31, 2009, aggregate matunties of long-term debt were (in millions)

a “change of control” tnggenng event, and

a downgrade of these notes below an investment grade rating by each of Moody's, Standard & Poor's and Fitch within a specified

penod

Notes, 0 77% to 7 55% (average effective rate 6 23%), due through 2039
Euro notes, 5 75% to 6 25% (average effective rate 5 98%), due through 2015
7% Debenture (effective rate 11 32%), $200 milhion face amount, due 2011
Other foreign currency obligations
Capital leases and other

Total long-term debt
Less current portion of long term debt

Long-term debt

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
Thereafter

2009 2008
{tn millions}
$ 14,395 $ 15,130
4 072 3,870
- 182
5 "
65 61
18,537 16,354
{513) (765)
] 18,024 5 18,589
$ 513
2,014
4,373
1,656
506
9,640

On September 3, 2009, we redeemed our November 2011, 7% $200 million debenture at par value Upon redemption, we recorded a loss of $14
million within interest and other expense, net which represented the wrte-off of the remaining discount On November 12 2009, we repaid $750
million i notes, and on Oclober 1, 2008, we repaid $700 milkon in notes These repayments were pnmarily financed from commercial paper
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Source KRAFT FOODS INC 10-K February 25 2010

Poweiea b, i o 1 ngstar Cocument R

escarcn ¥




Fawr Value
The aggregate fair value of our long-term debt, based on quoted prices In active markets for identical liabilities, was $19,769 million at
December 31, 2009 and $19,629 millon at December 31, 2008

The aggregate fair value of our third-party debt, based on market quotes, at December 31, 2009 was $20 222 million as compared with the
carrying value of $18,990 milkon The aggregate fair value of our third-party debt at December 31, 2008, was $20,526 million as compared with
the carrying value of $20,251 milhan

interest and Other Expense
Interest and other expense was

For the Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
(in mithons}

Interest and other expense, net

Interest expense, external debt 3 1,260 L] 1,272 % 739

Interest income, Altria and affihates - - (74)

Other income, net {23) (32} (61)
Total interest and other expense, net $ 1237 $ 1240 3 604

Note 8, Capital Stock,

Our articles of incorporation authanize 3 0 billion shares of Class A common stock, 2 0 bilhion shares of Class B common stock and 500 million
shares of preferred stock Shares of Class A common stock issued, repurchased and outstanding were

Shares Shares
Shares Issued Repurchased Qutstanding

Balance at January 1, 2007 §55,000,000 {99,027 355) 455,972 645
Repurchase of shares - {111,516,043) (111,516,043)
Exercise of stock options and issuance of other

stock awards - 9,321,018 9,321,018
Convarsion of Class B common shares to

Class A common shares 1,180,000 000 - 4 180 000,000
Balance at December 31, 2007 1,735,000,000 (201,222,380) 1,533,777,620
Repurchase of shares - (25,272,255) (25,272, 255)
Shares tendered (Note 2) - {46,119,899) (46,119,899}
Exercise of stock options and issuance of other

stock awards - 6,915,974 6,915,974
Balance at December 31, 2008 1,735,000,000 {265,698,560) 1,469 301,440
Exercise of stock options and 1ssuance of other

stock awards - 8 583,463 8,683,463
Balance at December 31, 2009 1735 000,000 {257,115,097) 1,477,884 803

Effective on the date of our spin-off, Altna converted ali of its Class B shares of Kraft Foods common stock into Class A shares of Kraft Foods
common stock Following our spin-off, we only have Class A commen stock outstanding There were no Class B commeon shares or preferred
shares 1ssued and cutstanding at December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

On August 4, 2008, we completed the split-off of the Post cereals business In this transaction, approximately 46 1 mullion shares of Kraft Foods
Common Stock were tendered for $1,644 millton

At December 31, 2009, 146,863 809 shares of Common Stock were reserved for stock options and other stock awards

In 2010, we expect to issue approximately 260 mifllon additional shares of our Common Stock as part of the Cadbury acquisition
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Qur Board of Directors authonzed the following Commen Stock repurchase programs Our $5 0 billion share repurchase authonty expired on

March 30, 2009 We did not repurchase any shares in 2009

Share Repurchase Program
Authorized by the Board of Directors

Authonzed / completed penod for repurchase

Aggregate cost of shares repurchased in 2008
(millions of shares)

Aggregate cost of shares repurchased in 2007
{millions of shares)

Aggregate cost of shares repurchased life-to-date under program
(mullions of shares)

$5 0 bulhon $2 0 bitlion
Apnl 2007 - March 2006 -
March 2009 March 2007
$777 million
(25 3 shares)
$3 5 billion $140 milkon
(105 & shares) (4 5 shares)
$4 3 bilhon $1 1 bilhon

{130 9 shares) {34 7 shares)

In total, we repurchased 25 3 million shares for $777 million 1in 2008 and 110 1 million shares for $3,640 mullion 1n 2007 under these programs We

made these repurchases of our Common Stock in open market transactions

In March 2007, we repurchased 1 4 million additional shares of our Common Stock from Altria at a cost of $46 5 milion We paid $32 085 per
share, which was the average of the high and the low price of Kraft Foods Common Stock as reported on the NYSE on March 1, 2007 This

repurchase was in accordance with our Altna spin-off agreement
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Note 9. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Earni L

The components of accumulated other comprehensive earnings / {(losses) were

Currency Derivatives
Translation Pansgion and Accounted for
Adjustments Other Benefits as Hedges Total
{in millions)
Balances at January 1, 2007 $ (723) 3 (2,342) § @ 3 (3,069)
Other comprehensive earmngs /
(losses) net of ncome taxes
Currency translation adjustments 672 {78) - 594
Amortization of experience losses
and prior service costs - 154 - 154
Settlement losses - 45 - 45
Net actuanal gain ansing during
period - 410 - 410
Change in farr value of cash
flow hedges - - 3 31
Total other comprehensive earnings 1,234
Balances at December 31, 2007 3 {(81) % (1,811 % 27 % (1.,835)
Other comprehensive earnings /
{losses), net of income taxes
Currency transiation adjustments (2,348) 114 - (2,234)
Amortization of expernence losses
and pricr service costs - 98 - 98
Settlement losses - 48 - 48
Net actuanal ioss ansing during
penod - (2,021) - (2,021)
Change in farr value of cash
flow hedges - - (50) (50)
Total other comprehensive losses (4,159)
Balances at December 31, 2008 $ {2.399) 3 (3,572) % (23) & (5,994}
Other comprehensive earnings /
(losses), net of ncome taxes
Currency translation adjustments 1,893 {116} - 1,777
Amertization of expenence losses
and prior service costs - 126 - 126
Settlement losses - 76 - 76
Net actuanal loss ansing during
period - (64) B (64)
Change n farr value of cash
flow hedges - - 124 124
Total other comprehensive earmings 2,039
Balances at December 31 2009 3 (506} § {3,550} § 101§ {3,955)
Note 10, Stock Plans,

At our 2009 annual meeting, cur shareholders approved the Kraft Foods Inc Amended and Restated 2005 Performance Incentive Plan (the "2005
Plan") The 2005 Plan includes among other provisions a mit on the number of shares that may be granted under the plan, vesting restrictions
and a prohibition on stock ophion repricing  Under the 2005 Plan, we may grant to eligible employees awards of stock options, stock appreciation
nghts restricted stock, restricted and deferred stock units, and other awards based on our Common Stock, as well as performance-based annual
and long-term incentive awards We are authonized to 1ssue a maximum of 168 0 million shares of cur Common Stock under the 2005 Plan As of
the effective date of the amendment, there were 92 1 milhon shares available to be granted under the 2005 Plan, of which no more than

27 5 million shares may be awarded as restricted or deferred stock In addiion, under the Kraft Foods 2006 Stock Compensation Plan for
Non-Employee Directors (the "2006 Directors Plan™), we may grant up to 500,000 shares of Common Stock to members of the Board of Directors
who are not our full-ttme employees At December 31, 2009, there were
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93,740,465 shares available to be granted under the 2005 Plan and 372,097 shares avallable to be granted under the 2006 Directors Plan
Restnicted or deferred shares available for grant under the 2005 Plan at December 31, 2009, were 27,984,072

In 2008, we changed our annual and long-term incentive compensation programs to further align them with shareholder returns Under the annual
equity program, we now grant equity in the form of both restricted or deferred stock and stock options The restncted or deferred stock continues
to vest 100% after three years, and the stock options vest in three annual instaliments beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date
Additonally, we changed our long-term incentive plan from a cash-based program to a share-based program These shares vest based on varying
performance, market and service conditions

All stock awards are 1ssued to employees from treasury stock We have no specific policy to repurchase Comman Stock to mitigate the dilutive
impact of aptions, however, we have historically made adequate discretionary purchases, based on cash availability, market trends and other
factors, to satisfy stock option exercise activity

Stock Options

Stock options are granted at an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying stock on the grant date, generally bacome exercisable
in three annual instaliments beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date and have a maximum term of ten years Prior to 2008, we had not
granted stock options through a broad-based program since 2002

We account for our employee stock options under the fair value method of accounting using a modified Black-Scholes methodelogy to measure
stock option expense at the date of grant The fair value of the stock options at the date of grant is amortized to expense over the vesting period
We recorded compensation expense related to stock options of $31 million in 2009 and 518 million in 2008 The deferred tax benefit recorded
related to this compensation expense was $11 million in 2009 and $6 million in 2008 The unamortized compensation expense related to our stock
options was $48 millicn at December 31, 2009 and 15 expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of two years Our
weighted-average Black-Scholes fair value assumptions were as follows

Risk-Frea Expected Expected Fair Value
Interest Rate Expected Life Volatility Dividend Yield at Grant Date
2009 2 46% 6 years 21 36% 490% 3 268
2008 308% 6 years 21 04% 366% $ 4 49

The nsk-free interest rate represents the rate on zero-coupon U § government issues with a remaining term equal to the expected life of the
options The expected life 1s the period over which our employees are expected to hold their options [t 1s based on the simplified method from the
SEC's safe harbor guidehnes Volatility reflects historical movements in our stock price for a period commensurate with the expected life of the
options Dividend yield is estimated over the expected life of the options based on our stated dividend policy

Stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2009 was

Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Shares Subject Average Contractual Intrinsic
to Option Exercise Price Term Value
Balance at January 1, 2009 38,485,552 % 24 74
Qptions granted 16,310,380 2364
Options exercised (5.891,471) 14 08
Options cancelled (2,176,771) 27 76
Balance at December 31, 2009 46,727 697 25 66 Gyears § 149 million
Exercisable at December 31, 2009 22,848,549 25 41 2years § 91 million

In February 2009, as part of our annual equity program, we granted 16 3 million stock options to eligible employees at an exercise price of $23 64
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In February 2008, as part of our annual equity program, we granted 13 5 million stock options to eligible employees at an exercise price of $29 49
We also granted 0 1 milhon offcycle stock options dunng 2008 at an exercise price of $30 78

On May 3 2007, our Board of Directors approved a stock optian grant to our CEO to recogrize her election as our Chairman She receved
300 000 stock options, which vest under varying market and service conditions and expire ten years after the grant date The grant had an
insignificant impact on earnings in 2007

The total intnnsic value of options exercised was $72 million tn 2009, $76 million in 2008 and $30 mullion in 2007 Cash recewved from options
exercised was $79 milion 1n 2009, $80 milion in 2008 and $124 million in 2007 The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deduct:ons from the
oplion exercises totaled $52 milhen n 2009, $44 million in 2008 and $35 million 1n 2007

Restricted and Deferred Stock

We may grant shares of restricted or deferred stock to ehgible employees, giving them tn most instances all of the rights of shareholders, except
that they may not sell, assign, pledge or otherwise encumber the shares Shares of restncted and deferred stock are subject to forfelture if certan
employment conditions are not met Restncted and deferred stock generally vest on the third anniversary of the grant date

Shares granted in connection with our long-term incentive plan vest based on varying performance, market and service condiions The unvested
shares have no voting nghts and do not pay dividends

The farr value of the restricted and deferred shares at the date of grant 1s amortized to earnings over the restriction penod We recorded
compensation expense related to restricted and deferred stock of $133 milhion in 2008, $160 millon in 2008 and $136 million in 2007 The
deferred tax benefit recorded related to this compensation expense was $44 million 1n 2008, $53 milhon in 2008 and $47 mullion in 2007 The
unamortized compensation expense related to our restnicted and deferred stock was $149 millign at December 31, 2009 and 1s expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of two years

Our restncted and deferred stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2009 was

Weighted-Average

Number Grant Date Fair

of Shares Value Per Share
Balance at January 1, 2009 15,250,805 § 3146
Granted 5,778,201 24 68
Vested (6,071,661) 3012
Forfeited (1,102,392) 3057
Balance at December 31, 2009 13,854,953 29 30

In January 2009, we granted 1 5 million shares of stock in connection with our long-term incentive plan, and the market value per share was

$27 00 on the date of grant In February 2009, as part of our annual equity program, we 1ssued 4 1 million shares of restricted and deferred stock
to elgible employees, and the market value per restrnicted or deferred share was $23 64 on the date of grant We also 1ssued 0 2 milion off-cycle
shares of restricted and deferred stock during 2009, and the weighted-average market value per restricted or deferred share was $25 55 on the
date of grant

In January 2008, we granted 1 4 millien shares of stock in connection with our long-term incentive plan, and the market value per share was

$32 26 on the date of grant In February 2008, as part of our annual equity program we 1ssued 3 4 million shares of restricted and deferred stock
to eligible employees, and the market value per restricted or deferred share was $29 49 on the date of grant We also 1ssued 0 2 million off-cycle
shares of restricted and deferred stock duning 2008, and the weighled-average market value per restnicted or deferred share was $30 38 on the
date of grant The total number of restricted and deferred shares 1ssued in 2008 was 5 0 million

In January 2007, we 1ssued 5 2 mihon shares of restncted and deferred stock to eligible employees as part of our annual equity program, and the
market value per restricted or deferred share was $34 655 on the date of grant
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Additionally, we 1ssued 1 0 million off-cycle shares of restricted and deferred stock dunng 2007, and the weighted-average market vatue per
restricted or deferred share was $34 085 on the date of grant The total number of restricted and deferred shares issued in 2007 was 9 2 milhon,
including those 1ssued as a result of our spin-off from Altna (discussed below)

The weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted and deferred stock granted was $143 million, or $24 68 per restricted or deferred share, in
2009, 3151 milhon, or $30 38 per restricted or deferred share, in 2008 and $310 mdion, or $33 63 per restricted or deferred share, in 2007 The
vesting date fair value of restncted and deferred stock was $353 mullion in 2009, $196 million 1in 2008, and $153 milhon in 2007

Bifurcation of Stock Awards Upon Spin-Off from Altna

Effective cn the date of our spin-off, Altria stock awards were modified through the 1ssuance of Kraft Foods stock awards, and accordingly, the
Altria stock awards were split into two instruments Holders of Altria stock options received 1) a new Kraft Foods option to acquire shares of Kraft
Foods Common Stock, and 2) an adjusted Altnia stock option for the same number of shares of Altna common stock previously held, but with a
proportionally reduced exercise price For each employee stock aption outstanding, the aggregate intrinsic value immediately after our spin-off
from Altna was not greater than the aggregate intrinsic value immediately prior to it Holders of Altria restricted stock or stock nghts awarded
before January 31, 2007 retained thewr existing awards and received restncted stock or stock rights in Kraft Foods Commaon Stock Recipients of
Altria restricted stock or stock nghts awarded on or after January 31, 2007 did not receive Kraft Foods restricted stock or stock nghts because
Altria had announced the spin-off at that ime We reimbursed Altna $179 million for net settlement of the employee stock awards We determined
the fair value of the stock options using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, and adjusted the fair value of the restricted stock and stock
fights by the value of projected forfeitures

Based upon the number of Altria stock awards outstanding upon our spin-off, we granted stock options for 24 2 milhon shares of Kraft Foods
Common Stock at a weighted-average price of $15 75 The options expire between 2007 and 2012 In addition, we 1ssued 3 0 million shares of
restricted stock and stock nghts The market value per restricted share or nght was $31 66 on the date of grant Restnctions on the majonity of
these restricted shares and stock nghts lapsed in the first quarter of either 2008 or 2009
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Note 11, Benefit Plans.

Pension Plans

Obhigations and Funded Status

The projected benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of our pension plans at December 31 2009 and 2008 were

Benefit obligation at January 1
Service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Setllements pad
Curtaitment gain
Actuanal (gains) / losses
Currency
Other

Benefit obligation at December 31

Fair value of plan assets at January 1
Actual return on plan assets
Centnbutions
Benefits paid
Settlements pad
Currency
Other

Fair value of plan assets at December 31

Net pension hability recognized at
Decermnber 31

U5 Plans Non-U S Plans
2009 2008 2009 2008
{in mulhians)

3 6,133 $ 5,952 5 321 $ 4,275

152 149 67 107

369 n 215 257
{310) {314) (225) {269)
(187) (331) (14} (16)

{168) - - -
203 306 618 {542)
- . 510 (710)

3 - 18 109

6,195 6,133 4,401 3,21

4,386 7,006 2,618 4,041
1,180 (2,028) 400 (761)
427 53 209 180
(310) (314) (225) (269)
{187) (331) (14) (16)
. - at4 (615)

- - (5) 58

5 496 4 386 3 397 2,618
$ (599) $  {1,747) $  {1,008) 5 (593)

Our projected benefit obhgation decreased $168 milion in 2009 due to the freeze of certain of our U S pension plans

The accumulated benefit obligation, which represents benefits earned to the measurement date, was $5,673 milion at December 31, 2008 and
$5,464 million at December 31, 2008 for the U S pension plans The accumulated benefit oblgation for the non-U S pension plans was $4,115

mithen at December 31, 2009 and $3,024 milhon at December 31, 2008

The combined U S and non-U S pension plans resulted m a net pension bability of $1,703 million at December 31, 2009 and $2,340 mifhon at
December 31, 2008 We recognized these amounts in our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2009 and 2008 as follows

Prepaid pension assets
Other accrued habilities
Accrued pension costs

Source KRAFT FOODS INC 13-K February 25 2010

2009 2003
{in mulhons)
$ 115 3 56
{53) (29)
(1 765) (2,367)

$ (1,703) $ (2,340)
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Certain of our U S and nen-U S plans are under funded and have accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets For these plans,
the projected benefit obhgations, accumulated benefit obligations and the farr vatue of plan assets at December 31, 2009 and 2008 were

U S Plans Nondl S Plans
2009 2008 2008 2008
{1n rulhong)
Projected benefit obligation  § 4666 § 6,133 $ 3,703 § 1,740
Accumulated benefit
oblhgation 4,166 5,464 3,478 1,664
Fair value of plan assets 3.932 4,386 2,629 1,144

We used the following weighted-average assumptions to determine our benefit obligations under the pension plans at December 31

US Plans Non-U § Plans
2009 2008 2009 2008
Discount rate 593% 6 10% 521% 6 41%
Expected rate of return on
plan assets 8 00% 8 00% 7 26% 7 25%
Rate of compensation
Increase 4 00% 4 00% 3 08% 308%

Year-end discount rates for our U S and Canadian plans were developed from a mode! portfolio of high quality, fixed-income debt
instruments with durations that match the expected future cash flows of the benefit obligations Year-end discount rates for our non-U §
plans (other than Canadian plans) were developed from local bend indices that match local benefit obligations as closely as possible
Changes in our discount rates were primanly the result of changes in bond yields year-over-year We determine our expected rate of return
on plan assets from the plan assets’ histoncal long-term investment performance, current asset allocation and estimates of future long-term
returns by asset class

Components of Net Pension Cost
Net pension cost consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2008 and 2007

U S Plans Non-U $ Plans
2009 2008 2007 2003 2008 2007
fin mitions)

Service cost $ 152§ 149 § 159 8 67 § 91 3 101
Interest cost 369 371 365 215 222 194
Expected return on plan

assets {486) (526) (523) (242) (285) (251)
Amortization

Net loss from expenence

differences 160 85 138 23 k| 66

Prior service cost 6 7 5 6 7 9
Qther expenses 112 74 68 8 16 4
Net pension cost $ 313§ 180 % 212§ 77 3 82 % 123

The following costs are included within other expenses above Severance payments related to our Cost Savings iniiatives and Restructuring
Program, and retired employees who elected lump-sum payments resulted in settlement losses for our U S plans of $107 million in 2008,

$74 rmullion in 2008 and $68 milkon in 2007 In addition, we incurred a $5 million curtallment charge in 2009 related to the freeze of certain of our
U S pension plans Non-U S plant closures and early retirement benefits resulted in curtailment and settlement losses of $8 million in 2009,
$16 muthon in 2008 and $4 million in 2007

Forthe U S plans, we determine the expected return on plan assets component of net penodic benefit cost using a calculated market return value
that recognizes the cost over a four year period For our non-U § plans, we utihze a similar approach with varying cost recognition penods for
some plans, and with others, we determine the expected return on plan assets based on asset farr values as of the measurement date
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As of December 31 2009 for the combined U S and non-U S pension plans, we expected {¢ amortize from accumulated other comprehensive

earnings / {fosses) into net penodic pension cost durnng 2010

+  an estimated 5244 million of net loss from expenence differences, and

» an estimated $12 milllon of prior service cost

We used the following weighted-average assumptions to determine our net pension cost for the years ended December 31

U S Plans _ — Non-i) 5 Plans
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Discount rate 610% 6 30% 5 90% 641% 544% 467%
Expected rate of return

on plan assets 8 00% 8 00% 8 00% 7 25% 743% 753%
Rate of compensation

Increase 4 00% 4 00% 4 00% 309% 313% 300%

Plan Assels
The fair value of pension plan assets at Decermber 31, 2009 was determined using
Quoted Prices Significant
In Active Market Other Significant
for Identical Ohservable Unobservable
Total Assots Inputs Inputs
Fair Value (Level 1) {Lavel 2) {Level 3)
Asset Category {in millions}

U S equity securities $ 289 % 289 % - 3 -
Naon-U 5 equity secunties 1,991 1,988 2 1
Pooled funds - equity securities 3,014 - 3.014 -
Total equity secunties 5294 2277 3,016 1
Government bonds 1,037 931 106 -
Pooled funds - fixed inceme secunties 945 - 945 -
Corporate bonds and other fixed

income securities 988 54 932 2
Total fixed income securities 2,970 985 1,983 2
Real estate 131 22 109 -
Other 326 322 2 2
Total $ 8721 & 3,606 $ 5110 § 5

We excluded $172 millien of plan assets from the above table related to certain insurance contracts as they are reported at contract value, In
accordance with authontative guidance U $ and non-U § equity securnities and government bonds are prnmarnily classified as level one and are
valued using quoted prices in active markets Corporate bonds and other fixed income securites are prmarily classified as level two and are
valued using independent observable market inputs, such as matnx pricing, yield curves and indices Pooled funds, including assets in real estate
pooled funds. are primanly classified as level two and are valued using net asset values of participation units held in common collective trusts. as
reported by the managers of the trusts and as supported by the unit prices of actual purchase and sale transactions Level three assets are valued
using uncbservable inputs that reflect the plans’ own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use 1n pricing the assets,
based on the best information avaitable, such as mvestment manager pncing for imited partnerships using company financial statements relevant

valuation multiples and discounted cash flow analyses
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The percentage of fair value of pension plan assets at December 31, 2009 and 2008 was

U S Plans Non-U S Plans
Asset Category 2009 2008 2009 2008
Equity secuntes 68% 65% 50% 45%
Debt secunties 28% 5% 43% 45%
Real estate - - 4% 4%
Other 4% - 3% 6%
Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

Qur investment strategy 1s based on our expectation that equity secunties will outperform debt secunties over the long term Accordingly, the

composition of our U S plan assets is broadly charactenzed as a 70% / 30% allocation between equity and debt securties The strategy uses

indexed U S equity secunties, actively managed international equity securidies and actively managed U S and international investment grade debt
securities (which constitute 80% or more of debt secunties) with lesser allocations to high yield debt securities The other asset balance of our |
U S plans at December 31, 2002 primarily related to a $200 midlion voluntary cash contnbution we made on December 31, 2009

For the plans cutside the U S, the investment strategy 1s subject to local regulations and the asset / iabdity profiles of the plans in each individual
country These specific circumstances result in a level of equity exposure that 1s typically less than the U S plans In aggregate, the asset
allocation targets of our non-U S plans are broadly charactenzed as a mix of 50% equity secunties, 40% debt secunties and 10% real estate /
other

We attempt to maintain our target asset allocation by rebatancing between equity and debt asset classes as we make contributions and monthly
benefit payments We intend to rebalance our plan portfolios by mid-2010 by making contnbutions and monthly benefit payments

We make contnbutions to our U S and non-U S pension plans, primarly, to the extent that they are tax deductible and do not generate an excise
tax lability Based on current tax law, we plan to make contributions of approximately $40 million to our U S plans and approximately $200 million
to our non-UJ S plans in 2010 Our estimated pension contributions do not include anbcipated contributions for our newly acquired Cadbury
business We will update this figure in future filings to reflect these anticipated contnibuttons However, our actual contributions may be different
due to many factors, including changes 1n tax and other benefit laws, or significant differences between expected and actual pension asset
performance or interest rates

Future Benefit Payments
The estimated future benefit payments from our pension plans at December 31, 2008 were

U S Plans Non-U S Plans
{in millions)
2010 $ 473 5 246
2011 453 246
2012 443 253
2013 450 256
2014 440 260
2015-2019 2 557 1,419

Other Costs

We sponsor and contribute to employee savings plans These plans cover eligible salarned, non-union and union employees Our contributions

and costs are determined by the matching of employee contributions, as defined by the plans Amounts charged to expense for defined

contribution plans totaled $34 milhon in 2009, $93 milion in 2008 and $83 million in 2007 I

We also made contributions to muliemployer pension plans totaling $29 million m 2008, $27 millien 1n 2008 and $26 million in 2007
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Postretirement Benefit Plans

Obfigations
Qur postretirement health care plans are not funded The changes in the accrued benefit ebligation and net amount accrued at December 31,
2009 and 2008 were

2009 2008
{in millions)
Accrued postretirement benefit
obligation at January 1 $ 2889 § 3.063
Service cost 35 44
Interest cost 174 183
Benefits pad (210) (206)
Plan amendments - (84)
Currency 25 (30}
Assumption changes 157 {28}
Actuanal gamns {48) (43)
Accrued postretirement health care costs
at December 31 $ 3032 $ 2,899

The current portion of our accrued postretirement health care costs of $216 million at December 31, 2009 and $221 milhion at December 31, 2008
was Included in other accrued habibities

We used the following weighted-average assumplions to determine our postretirement benefit obligations at December 31

US Plans Canadian Plans
2009 2008 2009 2003

Discount rate 5 70% 6 10% 525% 7 60%
Health care cost trend rate assumed

for next year 7 00% 7 00% 8 00% 9 00%
Ultimate trend rate 5 00% 5 00% 6 00% 6 00%
Year that the rate reaches the ulimate

trend rate 2014 2014 2016 2015

Year-end discount rates for our U § and Canadian plans were developed from a model portfolie of high quality, fixed-inceme debt instruments
with durations that match the expected future cash flows of the benefit obhgations Changes in our U S and Canadian discount rates were
primarily the result of changes in bond yields year-over-year Our expected health care cost trend rate 1s based on histoncal costs

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant impact on the amounts reporied for the health care plans A one-percentage-point change
in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects as of December 31 2009

Cne-Percentage-Point

Increase Dacrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost 12 3% (10 2%)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 9 8% {8 3%)
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Components of Net Postretirement Health Care Costs
Net postretirement health care costs consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2008 and 2007

2009 2008 2007
{tn millions)

Service cost $ 35 $ 44 3 48
Interest cost 174 183 177
Amartization

Net loss from expenence differences 44 55 58

Prior service credit (32) (28) (26)
Other expense - - 5
Net postretirement health care

costs $ 221 $ 254 $ 260

As of December 31, 2009, we expected to amartize from accumulated other comprehensive earnings / (Josses) into net postretirement health care

costs duning 2010

+ an estimated $50 milhon of net loss from experience differences, and
* an estimated $31 milllon of prior service credit

We used the following weighted-average assumptions to deterrmine our net postretirement cost for the years ended December 31

U S Plans Canadian Plans
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
Discount rate 6 10% 6 10% 590% 7 60% 5 80% 5 00%
Health care cost trend rate 7 00% 7 50% 8 00% 9 00% 9 00% 8 50%

Future Benefit Payments
Our estimated future benefit payments for our postretirement health care plans at December 31, 2009 were

Canadian
U S Plans Plans
(in millians)
2010 $ 206 % 10
201 209 10
2012 208 10
2013 208 "
2014 207 1
2015-2019 1,026 62
Other Costs
We made contnbutions to multiemployer medical plans totaling $35 rmullion in 2009, $33 mullion in 2008 and $33 million in 2007
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Postemployment Benefit Plans

Obligations

QOur postemployment plans are not funded The changes in the benefit obligations of the plans and net amount accrued at December 31, 2008 and
2008 were

2009 2003
{in mitlions}

Accrued benefit obhigation at January 1 3 560 3 254
Service cost 8 6
Interest cost 8 7
Severance 125 560
Benefits paid (215) (280)
Assumption changes 26 12
Acluariat gains (7) (2)
Currency 41 (15)
Other - 18

Accrued postemployment costs at December 31 $ 546 $ 560

The accrued benefit obligation was determined using a weighted-average discount rate of 6 5% n 2009 and 7 1% 1n 2008, an assumed ultimate
annual turnover rate of 0 5% in 2009 and 2008, assumed compensation cost increases of 4 0% in 2009 and 2008, and assumed benefits as
defined in the respective plans Postemployment costs ansing from actions that offer employees benefits in excess of those specified in the
respective plans are charged to expense when incurred

Components of Net Postemployment Costs
Net postemployment costs consisted of the following for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007

2009 2008 2007
{in millions)
Service cost $ 8 3 6 $ 4
Interest cost 8 7 8
Amortization of net (gains) / losses 2 (2} (2)
Other expense 125 560 132
Net postemployment costs 3 143 $ 571 3 140

The following costs are included within other expense above

. we incurred severance charges of $32 million related to our Kraft Foods Europe Reorganization and $170 milhon related to other Cost
Savings lnitiatives in 2009

. we reversed $77 milion in severance charges in 2009 related to our Restructurning Program as discussed in Note 6, Restructurning
Costs, and

. we incurred severance charges of $560 million in 2008 and $132 million in 2007 refated to workforce reduction imitiatives announced
under the Restructunng Program

As of December 31, 2009, the estimated net loss for the postemployment benefit plans that we expected to amortize from accumulated other
comprehensive earnings / (losses) into net pestemployment costs dunng 2010 was insignificant
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2 F alins ents

Fair Value of Denvative Instruments

The farr vatues of derivative instruments recorded in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2009 were

December 31, 2009

Assat Liability
Derivatives Darivatives
(tn millions)
Denvatives designated as
hedging instruments
Foreign exchange contracts 3 8 3 158
Commodity contracts 25 14
Interest rate contracts 153 -
$ 186 3 172
Derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments
Foreign exchange contracts $ 2 $ -
Commodity contracts 71 62
5 73 $ 62 ‘
Total farr value $ 259 $ 234

We include the fair value of our asset derivatives within other current assets and the farr value of our llability denvatives within other current

habilities

The farr values (asset / (hability)) of our denvative instruments at December 31, 2008 were determined using

Quoted Pnces in Significant Significant
Active Markets for Other Observable Unohservable
Identical Assats Inputs Inputs
TJotal Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) {Level 3) )
{un millions)
Foreign exchange contracts 3 (148) 3 - 8 (148) % -
Commodity contracts 20 1 8 1
Interest rate contracts 153 - 153 -
Total derivatives $ 25 & 1 § 13§ 1
Cash Flow Hedges
Cash flow hedges affected accumulated other comprehensive earnings / (losses), net of Income taxes, as follows ‘
2009 2008 2007
{in mullions)

Accumulated gain / {loss) at beginming

of penod {23y % 27 § (4)
Transfer of realized (gains) / losses in

fair value to earnings 111 26 (10)
Unrealized gain / {loss) in fair value 13 (76) 41
Accumulated gain / {loss) at

December 31 $ 101 $ (23) $ 27

Source KRAFT FOODS INC 10-K, February 25 2010
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The effect of cash flow hedges for the year ended December 31, 2009 was

Foreign exchange contracts -
intercompany loans
Foreign exchange contracts -
forecasted transactions
Commodity contracts
Interest rate contracts

Total

Foreign exchange contracts -
intercompany loans
Foreign exchange contracts -
forecasted transactions
Commodity contracts
Interest rate contracts

Totai

Gain / (Loss)

Recognized in OCI

(Gain) / Loss
Reclassified from
AQCI into Earnings

{in millions)
$ {(12) & -
{40) (27)
{27) 138
92 -
3 13 3 1M1
Gain / (Loss) on
Gain / {Loss) on Amount Excluded
Ineffactivaness from Effectivenoss
Recognized Testing Recogmized
in Earnings in Earnings
{in millions)
3 - 3 -
12 1
$ 12 3 1

We record (1) the gain or loss reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive earnings / (losses) into earnings {n) the gan or loss on
ineffectiveness, and () the gain or loss on the amount excluded from effectivenass testing in

.

cost of sales for commodity contracts,

cost of sales or marketing, administration and research costs for foreign exchange contracts related to forecasted transactions,

depending on the type of transaction, and

interest and other expense, net for interest rate contracts and foreign exchange contracts related to intercompany loans

As of December 31, 2009, we expected to transfer unrealized losses of $2 mifiion (net of taxes) for commodity cash flow hedges and unreabkzed
gains of $5 million (net of taxes) for foreign currency cash flow hedges to earnings dunng the next 12 months

Hedge Coverage
As of December 31, 2009, we had hedged forecasted transactions for the following durations

Source KRAFT FOODS INC 10-K February 25 2010

commodity transactions for penods not exceeding the next 19 months,

interest rate transactions for penods not exceeding the next 33 years and 1 month, and

foreign currency transactions for periods not exceeding the next 24 months, and excluding intercompany loans, we had hedged
forecasted foreign currency transactions for penods not exceeding the next 12 months
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Fair Value Hedges
The effect of far value hedges for the year ended December 31, 2009 was

Gain / (Loss) Galn / {Loss)
Recognized Recognized
in Income on in Income cn
Denvatives Borrowings
(i mitlions)
Interest rate contracts 3 7 3 (7}

We include the gain or loss on hedged long-term debt and the offsetting loss or gain on the related interest rate swap n interest and other
expense, net

Hedges of Net Investments in Forewgn Operations
The effect of hedges of net investments in foreign operations for the year ended December 31, 2009 was

Location of

Gain f (L.oas) Gain / (Loss)

Recogrnized in Recorded in
OCl AOCI

{in millions}
Currency Translation

Euro notes 3 (65} Adjustment

Our currency translation adjustment included gans of $83 milkon for the year ended December 31, 2008 and $28 mullion for the year ended
December 31, 2007 related to the euro denomunated borrowings

Economic Hedges
The effect of economic hedges, derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments, for the year ended December 31, 2009 was

Location of
Gain / (Loss) Gain / {Loss)
Recognized in Recognized
Eamings In Earnings
{in millions)
Foreign exchange contracts - intercompany
loans and forecasted interest payments $ {10} Interest expense
Foreign exchange contracts - forecasted
transactions {10) Cost of sales
Commodity contracts 37 Cost of sales
Total 5 17

For commodity contracts not designated as hedging instruments, the impact to earnings was insignificant in 2008, and we recognized net gains of
$56 millron in 2007 For foreign exchange contracts not designated as hedging instruments, we recognized net losses of $50 million in 2008 and
$231 million 1n 2007 The majonity of these losses were attributable to hedges of intercompany loans and were ecanomnically offset with foreign
currency gains from the intercompany receivable
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Vofume
As of December 31, 2009 we had the following outstanding hedges

Notional
Amount
{in millions)
Foreign exchange contracts -
intercompany loans $ 1376
Foreign exchange contracts -
forecasted transactions 631
Commaodity contracts 1,832
Interest rate contracts 2,350
Net investment hedge - euro notes 4,081

Note 13, Commitments and Contingencies,

Legal Proceadings

We are involved, from time to time, in legal proceedings, claims, and governmental inspections or nvestigations, ansing in the ordinary course of
our business While we cannot predict with certainty the results of these matters, we do not expect that the ultimate costs to resolve these matters
will have a matenal effect on our financial results

In 2009, we recorded an addiional $50 million of charges for legal matters related to certain of our European operations See Part | tem 3 Legal
Proceedings for a description of these matters In 2008, we recorded charges of $72 million for legal matters related to certain of our U S and
European operations, including U S coffee operations

Third-Party Guarantees

We have third-party guarantees primarnly covenng the long-term obligations of our vendors As part of those transactions, we guarantee that third
parties will make contractual payments or achieve performance measures At December 31, 2009, the carrying amount of our third-party
guarantees on our consolidated balance sheet and the maximum potental payment under these guarantees was $29 milion Substantially all of
these guarantees expire at vanous times through 2018

Leases
Rental expenses were $505 milion n 2009, $505 million in 2008 and $433 million 1n 2007 As of December 31, 2009, minimum rental
commitments under non-cancelable operating leases in effect at year-end were (in milions)

2010 $ 306

2011 243

2012 185

2013 103

2014 76

Thereafter 212
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4 mea Taxes

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes and the provision for income taxes conststed of the following for the years ended
December 31, 2009 2008 and 2007

2009 2008 2007
{in millions)
Earnings from continuing operations
before income taxes
United States 3 2,323 $ 1,341 5 2,325
Qutside United States 1,964 1,262 1,247
Total $ 4,287 3 2,603 $ 3,572
Provision for income taxes
United States federal
Current $ 425 $ 392 $ 649
Deferred 108 {(13) (270)
533 379 379
State and local
Current 95 62 175
Deferred (39) (21) (69)
56 41 106
Total United States 589 420 485
Outside United States
Current 701 507 649
Deferred {31) (172) (54)
Total outside United States 670 335 595
Total provision for income taxes $ 1,259 $ 755 3 1,080

Additionally, the 2008 earnings and gain from discontinued operations from the split-off of the Post cereals business mcluded a net tax benefit of
$104 million

As of January 1, 2009, our unrecognized tax benefits were $807 millon If we had recognized all of these benefits, the net impact on our income
tax provision would have been $612 milhlon Our unrecognized tax benefits were $829 milion at December 31, 2009, and if we had recognized all
of these benefits, the net impact on our iIncome tax provision would have been $661 millon We do not expect a significant change in our
unrecognized tax benefits duning the next 12 months As this disclosure was made as of December 31, 2009, #t does not reflect the impacts of our
recent acquisition and divestiture activity We include accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in our tax provision We had
accrued interest and penalties of $238 million as of January 1, 2009 and $210 million as of December 31, 2009 Our 2009 prowisicn for income
taxes included a $26 million net benefit for interest and penaltes as reversals exceeded expense accruals during the year, due to agreements
reached with the IRS on specific matters, settlements with various foreign and state tax authonties and the expiration of the statutes of imitations
tn various junisdictions We also paid interest and penalties of $10 mullion dunng 2009
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The changes in our unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 were (iIn milions)

2009 2008 2007
January 1 $ 807 § 850 $ 667
Increases from positions taken duning pnor penods 90 17 131
Decreases from positions taken dunng prier penods {205) (90) (23)
Increases from positions taken dunng the current penod 146 98 34
(Decreases) f ncreases from acquisition adjustments - (22) 72
Decreases relating to settlements with taxing authorities {26) (8) (38)
Reductions resulting from the lapse of the apphcable
statute of hmitatiens {14) (13) (6)
Currency / other 31 (25) 13
December 31 $ 829 § 807 $ 850

We are regularly examined by federal and vanous state and foreign tax authorties The U S federal statute of limitations remains open for the
year 2000 and onward Dunng 2009, we reached an agreement with the IRS on specific matters related to years 2000 through 2003 Qur returns
for those years are stll under examination, and the IRS recently began its examinatien of years 2004 through 2006 In addition, we are currently
under examination by taxing authorties in vanous U S state and foreign junsdictions U S state and foreign junsdictions have statutes of
Imitations generally ranging from three to five years Years still open to examination by foreign tax authonties in major junsdictions include
Germany (1999 onward), Brazil (2003 onward), Canada (2003 onward) Spain (2002 onward) and France (2006 onward)

At December 31 2009 applicable U S federal iIncome taxes and foreign withhelding taxes had not been provided on approximately 35 7 bilion of
accumulated eamings of forergn subsidiaries that are expected to be permanently reinvested It 1s impractical for us to determune the amount of
unrecognized deferred tax habiities on these permanently reinvested earnings

The effective iIncome tax rate on pre-tax earnings differed from the U 8§ federal statutory rate for the following reasons for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2008 and 2007

2009 2008 2007
U S federal statutory rate 35 0% 35 0% 35 0%
Increase / (decrease) resulting from
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax
benefit excluding IRS audit impacts 19% 26% 28%
Benefit principally related to reversal of federal and
state reserves on IRS audit settlements (2 8%) - -
Reversal of other tax accruals no longer required (0 3%) (1 7%) (14%)
Foreign rate differences, net of repatnation impacts (2 1%) (5 2%) (5 2%)
Other (2 3%) (1 7%) (1 0%)
Effective tax rate 29 4% 29 0% 30 2%

Our 2009 effective tax rate included net tax benefits of $225 million, primarily due to an agreement we reached with the IRS on specific matiers
settiements with various foreign and state tax authonties, the expiration of the statutes of imitations n various junsdictions and the divestiture of
our Balance bar operations inthe U S
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Our 2008 effective tax rate included net tax benefits of $222 million from discrete tax events Of the total net tax benefits, approximately $50
midhion related to fourth quarter corrections of state, federal and fareign tax habilities and a third quarter reconcihation of cur mventory of deferred
tax tems that resulted in a wnte-down of our net deferred tax habilities The remaining net tax benefits pnmarily related to the resolution of vanous
tax audits and the expiration of statutes of imitations in vanous junsdictions Other discrete tax benefits included the impact from divestitures of a
Nordic and Baltic snacks operation and several operations in Spain and the tax benefit from impairment charges taken in 2008 In addition, the
2008 tax rate benefited from foreign earnings taxed below the U S federal statutory tax rate and from the expected tax benefit of 2008
restructunng expenses These benefits were only partially offset by state tax expense and certam foreign costs

Our 2007 effective tax rate included net tax benefits of $184 million, pnmanly including the effects of dividend repatriation benefits, foreign joint
venture earnings, and the effect on foreign deferred taxes from lower foreign tax rates enacted in 2007 The 2007 tax rate also benefited from
foreign earnings taxed below the U S federal statutory tax rate, an increased domestic manufacturing deduction and the divestiture of our flavored
water and juice brand assets and related trademarks These benefits were partially offset by state tax expense, tax costs associated with the
divestiture of our hot cereal assets and trademarks and interest income from Altna related to the transfer of our federal tax contingencies
discussed in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Polcies

The tax effects of temporary differences that gave nise to deferred income tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following at December 31,
20085 and 2008

2009 2008
{in millions)

Deferred income tax assets

Accrued postretirement and post employment benefits $ 1472 % 1,467

Accrued pension costs 456 703

Other 1997 2,324
Total deferred income tax assets 3,925 4,494 ‘
Valuation allowance (97} (84)
Net deferred mcome tax assets 3 3.828 § 4,410
Deferred income tax habilities

Trade names $ (4431) $ (4,431)

Property, plant and equipment (2,029} {1,862)

Other (1,055} {1,239)
Total deferred income tax habilities (7,515) {7,532)
Net deferred income tax babilities $ (3687) $ {3,122)
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Note 15, Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted EPS from continuing and discontinued operations were calculated using the following

For the Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
{in millions, except per share data}
Earnings from continuing operations $ 3,028 8 13848 $ 2,492
Earnings and gain from discontinued
operations net of ncome taxes - 1,045 232
Net earnings 3.028 2,893 2,724
Noncontrolling interest 7 9 3
Net earnings attributable to Kraft
Foods 3 3,024 3 2,884 3 2721
Weighted-average shares for basic EPS 1,478 1,505 1.591
Plus incremental shares from assumed
conversions of stock options and
long-term incentive plan shares 8 10 9
Weighted-average shares for diluted EPS 1,486 1,515 1,600
Basic earnings per share attributable
to Kraft Foods
Centinuing operations $ 204 $ 122 % 156
Discantinued operations - 070 015
Net earnings attributable to Kraft
Foods $ 204 $ 192 $ 171
Dituted earnings per share attributable to \
Kraft Foods ‘
Continuing operations $ 203 3 121 $ 156
Discontinued operations - 069 014
Net earnings attnbutable to Kraft
Foods ] 203 5 190 $ 170

We exclude antidilutive Kraft Foods stock options from our calculation of weighted-average shares for diluted EPS We excluded 23 0 million
antidslutive options for the year ended December 31, 2009 and 11 3 milhon antidilutive options for the year ended December 31, 2008 We

excluded an insignificant number of antidilutive options for the year ended December 31, 2007

Note 16, _Segment Reporting,

Kraft Foods manufactures and markets packaged food products, including snacks, beverages, cheese, convenient meals and vanous packaged
grocery products We manage and report operating results through three geographic units Kraft Foods North Amenica, Kraft Foods Europe and
Kraft Foods Developing Markets We manage the operations of Kraft Foods North America and Kraft Foods Eurcpe by product category, and we
manage the operations of Kraft Foods Developing Markets by location Our reporiable segments are U S Beverages, U S Cheese, U S

Convenient Meals, U S Grocery, US Snacks, Canada & N A Foodservice, Kraft Foods Ewope (formerly known as European Umion) and Kraft |

Foods Developing Markets
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Effective January 2008, we began implementing changes to our operating structure based on our Organizing For Growth initiative and the Kraft
Foods Europe Reorganization In Line with our strategies, we are reorganizing our European operations to function on a pan-European centralized
category management and value cham model, and we changed how we work in Europe in two key ways

*  We transitioned our European Biscuit, Chocolate, Coffee and Cheese categones to fully integrated business units, further
strengthening our focus on these core categornies To ensure decisions are made faster and closer to our customers and consumers,
each category 15 fully accountable for its financial results, including marketing, manufacturing and R&D Category leadership, based in
Zunch, Switzerland, reports to the Kraft Foods Europe President These business units now comprise the Kraft Foods Europe
segment

+ We aligned the reporting of our Central Europe operations into our Kraft Foods Developing Markets segment to help build cntical scale
in these countries We operate a country-led model in these markets |

Management uses segment operating income to evaluate segment performance and allocate resources We believe it 1s appropnate to disclose
this measure to help investors analyze segment performance and trends Segment operating income excludes unrealized gains and fosses on
hedging activities (which are a component of cost of sales), certain components of our U § pension plan cost (which 1s a component of cost of
sales and marketing, administration and research costs), general corporate expenses (which are a component of marketing, administration and
research costs) and amortization of intangibles for all penods presented In 2009, we began excluding certain components of our U S pension
plan cost from segmeant aperating income bacause we centrally manage pension plan funding decisions and the determination of discount rate,
expected rate of return on plan assets and other actuarial assumptions Therefore, we allocate only the service cost component of our U S
penston plan expense to segment operating income We exclude the unrealized gains and losses on hedging activities from segment operating
income In order to provide better transparency of our segment operating results Once realized, the gains and losses on hedging activities are
recorded within segment operating results Furthermore, we centrally manage interest and other expense, net Accordingly, we do not present
these items by segment because they are excluded from the segment profitability measure that management reviews We use the same
accounting policies for the segments as those descnibed in Note 1, Summary of Sigmificant Accounting Policies

Segment data were

For the Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
{in millions)
Net revenues
Kraft Foods North America
U S Beverages $ 3057 & 3,001 $ 2990
U S Cheese 3,605 4,007 3,745
U S Convenient Meals 4,496 4,240 3,905
U S Grocery 3,453 3,389 3,277
U S Snacks 4,964 5,025 4,879
Canada & N A Foodservice 4,087 4,294 4080
Kraft Foods Europe 8,768 9,728 7.007
Kraft Foods Developing Markets 7,956 8,248 5,975
Net revenues 3 40386 % 41932 % 35,858
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For the Yearg Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
{in millions)
Earnings from continuing operations
before income taxes
Operating income
Kraft Foods North America
U S Beverages $ 511 5 381 $ 346
U S Cheese 667 563 487
U S Conventent Meals 510 339 319
U S Grocery 1,146 1,009 1,022
U S Snacks 723 638 716
Canada & N A Foodservice 527 448 443
Kraft Foeds Europe 785 182 455
Kraft Foods Developing Markets 936 815 588
Unrealized gains / (losses) on
hedging activities 203 (205) 16
Certain U S pension plan costs (165) - -
General corporate expenses (293) (304) {203}
Amortization of intangibles (26) (23) {13}
Operating mcome 5,524 3,843 4176
Interest and other expense, net {1,237) (1,240) (604)
Earnings from centinuing operations
before income taxes 3 4287 $ 2,603 $ 3,572

Our largest custormer, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc and its affiliates, accounted for approximately 16% of consolidated net revenues in 2009, 16% in 2008
and 15% in 2007 These net revenues occurred pnmanly in the Kraft Foods North Amenca segments

In 2009, unreakzed gains on hedging activities of $203 million primarily resulted from the 2008 unreahzed losses on energy denvatives becoming
realized in 2009 In 2008, unreahzed losses on hedging activities of $205 million were primarily related to energy dervatives, including heating ol
(used pnmanly to hedge transportation costs) and natural gas contracts In 2009, general corporate expenses included $50 miliion of charges for
legal matters related to certain of our European operations (see Part | tem 3 Legal Proceedings for a descnption of these matters) In 2008, we
recorded $72 million in charges for legal matters related to certam of our U S and European operations, including U S coffee operations and
represented the prnmary reason general corporate expenses increased $101 million in 2008

We incurred costs associated with our Cost Savings Imtatives of $318 milion 1n 2009 These charges were recorded i operations, primarily within
the segment operating income of Kraft Foods Europe with the remainder spread across all other segments [n 2009 we also reversed $85 million
of Restructuning Program costs with the majority relating to our Kraft Foods Europe segment while the remainder was spread across all other
segments We mcurred Restructuning Program costs of $989 mithon in 2008 and $459 million in 2007 Refer to Note 6, Restructuring Casts, for a
breakout of the 2008 and 2007 charges by segment We also incurred asset impairment charges of $21 millon in 2009 related to our Kraft Foods
Europe segment, $140 rmillion 1n 2008 related to our Kraft Foods Europe and Kraft Foods Developing Markets segments and $120 mullion in 2007
related to our U § Beverages segment Refer to Note 5, Goodwilf and Infangible Assets, for further details of these charges

100

Source KRAFT FOODS ING 10-K February 25 2010 Fu-gaa oy Moingetar Document Ra-arg »5M



As descnibed in Note 2, Acquisttions and Divestitures, we divested several operations, and recorded net gains / {losses) on these divestitures in
segment operating income as follows

For the Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007
{in millions)

Kraft Foods North Amenca
U S Beverages $ - 3 1) 3 (6)
U S Cheese - )
U S Convenient Meals - - -
U S Grocery - - -
U S Snacks 11 - 12
Canada & N A Foodservice - -
Kraft Foods Europe {17) (91) -
Kraft Foods Developing Markets - -

Gains / (losses) on divestitures, net $ {6} $ (92) $ 14

Total assets, depreciation expense and capital expenditures by segment were

2009 2008
(in millions)
Total assets
Kraft Foods North America
U S Beverages $ 2,382 $ 2,257
U S Cheese 4 589 4,599
U S Convenient Meals 3,063 2,857
US Grocery 5 565 5,500
U S Snacks 16,418 16,384
Canada & N A Foodservice 5,061 4,888
Kraft Foods Europe 16,073 14,346
Kraft Focds Developing Markets 11,087 9,487
Unallocated assets 2,486 2,855
Total assets $ 66,714 3 63,173

(1) Unallocated assets consist pnmanly of cash and cash equivalents, deferred income taxes centrally held property plant and equipment, prepaid pension assets
and denvative financial instrument balances

For the Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2067
{in mallions)
Depreciation expense
Kraft Feods North America
U S Beverages $ 69 $ 68 5 57
US Cheese 66 66 62
U S Convenient Meals 84 78 81
U S Grocery 82 78 63
US Snacks 127 129 140
Canada & N A Foodservice 83 93 96
Kraft Focods Europe 237 265 215
Kraft Foods Developing Markets 157 160 115
Total - continuing operations 905 937 829
Discontinued operaticns - 25 44
Total depreciation expense $ 905 $ 963 $ 873
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Net revenues by consumer sector, which includes Kraft macarom and cheese dinners n the Convenient Meals sector and the separation of
Canada & N A Foodservice, Kraft Foods Europe and Kraft Foods Developing Markets into sector components, were

Capital expenditures
Kraft Foods North America
U S Beverages
U S Cheese
U S Convenient Meals
U S Grocery
U S Snacks
Canada & N A Foodservice
Kraft Foods Europe
Kraft Foods Developing Markets

Total - continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Total capital expenditures

For the Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
(in millions)

$ a2 $ 110 $ 90
72 97 15
196 200 207
85 87 99
190 122 136
94 a8 83
292 285 207
319 368 274
1330 1,367 1.21%
- - 30
3 1330 § 1,367 § 1.241

For the Year Ended December 1, 2009

Kraft Foods
Kraft Foods Kraft Foods Developing
North Amaerica Europe Markets Total
{In millions)
Snacks $ 5929 § 4776 % 4,337 15,042
Beverages 3,545 2,380 2,094 8,029
Cheese 4 980 972 844 6,796
Grocery 3.136 369 566 4,071
Convenient Meals 6,072 261 115 6 448
Tota! net revenues 3 23,662 $ 8,768 $ 7,956 40,386
For the Year Ended December 11, 2008
Kraft Foods
Kraft Foods Kraft Foods Developing
North America Europe Markets Total
{in millions)
Snacks L3 5,951 $ 5,291 $ 4,668 15,910
Beverages 3,509 2625 2,081 8,215
Cheese 5,525 1,108 828 7.462
Grocery 3,211 394 567 4,172
Convenient Meals 5 760 309 104 6,173
Total net revenues $ 23956 $ 9728 § 8,248 41,932
For the Year Ended Dacember 31, 2007
Kraft Foods
Kraft Foods Kraft Foods Devoloping
North America Europe Markets Total
(in millions})
Snacks 3 5,704 3 2,833 $ 2 824 11,361
Beverages 3,499 2,456 1,830 7,785
Cheese 5,189 1,018 710 6,928
Grocery 3138 363 518 4,020
Convenient Meals 5,336 336 92 5,764
Total net revenues $ 22876 § 7007 8§ 5,975 35,858
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Geographic data for net revenues, long-hved assets and total assets were

For the Years Ended Decamber 31,

2009 2008 2007
{in millions}
Net revenues
United States $ 21,165 § 21,436 § 20,540
Europe 11,472 12,870 9,105
Other 7,749 7,626 6,213
Total net revenues 8 40,386 § 41,932 § 35,858
2009 2008
{in milions}
Long-lived assets
United States 3 31,773 % 31,571
Europe 16,077 14 133
Other 6,410 6,008
Total long-lived assets $ 54,260 § 51,712
Total assets
United States 3 35816 § 36,279
Europe 21,915 18,761
Qther 8,983 8,133
Total assets % 66,714 $ 63,173

Note 17, Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited),

2009 Quarters

First Second Third Fourth
{in millions, except per share data)
Net revenues $ 9,396 § 10,162 § 9,803 § 11,025
Gross profit $ 3,265 § 3665 § 3541 § 4,129
Earnings from continuing operations $ 662 $ 829 & 826 § n
Earmings and gain from discontinued
operations, net of tncome taxes - - - -
Net earnings 662 829 826 711
Noncentrolling interest 2 2 2 i
Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods $ 660 $§ 827 % 824 § 710
Weghted-average shares for diluted EPS 1,483 1,484 1,487 1,487
Per share data
Basic EPS attributable to Kraft Foods
Continuing operations 3 045 3§ 056 $ 056 $ 048
Discontinued operations - - - -
Net earnings attnbutable to Kraft Foods $ 045 § 056 § 056 $ 048
Diluted EPS attnbutable to Kraft Foods
Continuing operations $ 045 § 056 § 055 % 048
Discontinued operations - - - -
Net earnings attnbutable to Kraft Foods 3 045 § 056 % 055 § Q48
Dividends declared $ 029 § 029 $§ 029 § 029
Market price - high $ 2984 3 2724 % 2911 8 27 84
- low $ 2081 § 2184 § 2547 § 2572

Basic and diluted EPS are computed independently for each of the penods presented Accordingly, the sum of the quarterly EPS amounts may not
equal the total for the year
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During 2009, we recorded the following pre-tax charges / {gains) in earnings from cantinuing operations

2009 Quarters
First Sacond Third Fourth
{in millions}
Asset impairment and exit costs $ - % (26) $ - % {38)
(Gains} / losses on divestitures, net - 17 - {11)
$ - § 9 % - 3 (49)
2008 Quarters
First Second Third Fourth
{in millions, axcept per share data}
Net revenues $ 10,046 $ 10,804 § 10401 § 10,681
Gross profit $ 3301 % 3868 $ 3305 % 3,370
Earnings from cantinuing operations $ 547 $ 678 % 520 % 103
Earnings and gamn from discontinued
operations, net of income taxes 54 69 845 77
Net earnings 601 747 1,365 180
Noncontrolling interest 2 2 3 2
Net earnings attnbutable to Kraft Foods 5 599 § 745  § 1,362 $ 178
Weighted-average shares for diluted EPS 1,542 1532 1,503 1,481
Per share data
Basic EPS attnibutable to Kraft Foods
Continuing operations $ 035 § 044 $ 034 § 007
Discontinued operations 004 005 057 0 05
Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods $ 039 § 049 § 091 § 012
Diluted EPS attributable to Kraft Foods
Continuing operations 3 035 § 044  $ 034 % 007
Discontinued operations 004 005 0 57 0 05
Net earnings attributable to Kraft Foods $ 039 § 049 § 091 § 012
Cwvidends declared $ 027 § 027 % 029 § 029
Market price - high $ 3285 § 3299 % 3497 % 34 05
- low 3 2863 § 2833 § 2804 § 24 75

Basic and diluted EPS are computed independently for each of the penods presented Accordingly, the sum of the quarterly EPS amounts may not
equal the total for the year

During the fourth quarter of 2008, we increased our gain on discontinued operations by $77 million to correct for a deferred tax hability related to
the spht-off of the Post cereals business As such, our gain from the split-off of the Post cereals business was $926 million

Dunng 2008, we recorded the following pre-tax charges / (gains} in earnings from continuing operations

2008 Quartors

First Second Third Fourth
{n milhons)
Asset impairment and exit costs $ B0 § 103 % 23 $ 718
(Gans) / losses on divestitures, net 18 74 1 (1)
$ 98 % 177 8 124 % 717

Note 18, Subseguent Events,

We evaluated subsequent events through February 16, 2010 and included afl accounting and disclosure requirements related to subsequent
events In our financial statements
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management, together with our CEQ and CFO, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclesure contrels and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rule 13a-15(e)) as of the end of the perod covered by this report Based upon that evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective

Changes in internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management, together with our CEO and CFO, evaluated the changes in our internal controf over financial reparting during the quarter ended
December 31, 2009, and noted the following significant changes

. In 2008, we began implementing “Catalyst,” a business initiative to simplify and harmonize our systems processes This multi-year
program includes the delivery of SAP enterpnise scftware applications and business solutions During the quarter ended December 31,
2009, we transiioned some of our processes and procedures into the SAP control environment As we migrate to the SAP
environment, our management ensures that our key controls are mapped to applicable SAP controls, tests transition controls prior ta
the migration date of those controls, and as appropriate, maintains and evaluates controls over the flow of information to and from
SAP We expect the transition period to be completed in 2011

We determined that there were no other changes in our interna! control over financial reporting duning the quarter ended December 31, 2008, that
have matenally affected, or are reasonably likely to matenally affect, our internal control over financial reporting
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Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended OQur internal control over financial reporting 1S a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the rehabifity of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes In
accordance with accounting pnnciples generally accepted in the United States of Amenca Our internal control over financial reporting includes
those wnitten policies and procedures that

. pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of assets,

. provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,

. provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures are being made only In accordance with management and director
authonzation, and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tmely detechion of unauthorized acquisibon, use or disposition of
assets that could have a matenal effect on the consolidated financial statements

Interna! control over financial reporting includes the controls themselves, monitonng and internal auditing practices and actions taken to correct
deficiencies as dentified

Because of its inherent imitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future penods are subject to the nsk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of comphance with the policies or procedures may detenorate

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal contro! over financial reporting as of Decemnber 31 2009 Management based this
assessment on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in Internal Control—Integrated Framework 1ssued by the
Committee of Sponsonng Organizations of the Treadway Commussion ("COSO™) Management's assessment included an evaluation of the design
of our internal control over financial reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting

Management reviewed the results of our assessment with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors Based on this assessment, management
determined that, as of December 31, 2009, we maintained effective internal control over financia! reporting

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP independent registered public accounting firm who audited and reported on the consolidated financial statements
included i this report, has audited our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009

February 16, 2010
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kraft Foods Inc

In our opinion, the consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of earnings, of equity and of cash fiows appearing in item
8 present fairly, n all matenal respects, the financial position of Kraft Foods Inc and its subsidianes at December 31, 2009 and December 31,
2008, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009 in conformity with
acceunting pnnciples generally accepted in the United States of Amenca Also in our opimion, the Company maintained, in all matenal respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on cntenia established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
1ssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQO) The Company's management is responsible for
these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Report of Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our
responsibility 1s to express opiions on these financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our
integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
maternial misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all matenal respects Our audits of the
financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing
the accounting pnnciples used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentaton Cur
audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exsts, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk
Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary In the circumstances We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our apinions

As discussed 1n Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for uncertain tax positions
and the timing of its annual goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets impairment tests in 2007, the manner in which it accounts for defined
benefit pension and other postretirement plans in 2008, and the manner in which it accounts for inventories and noncontrolling interests in 2009

A company's internal control over financial reporting 1s a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles A
company's internal contro! over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the mamtenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company, (1) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authonizations of management and
directors of the company, and (in) prowide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthonzed acguisition, use, or
cdisposition of the company’'s assets that could have a materal effect on the financiai statements

Because of its inherent imitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the nisk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may detenorate

s/ PricewaTErRHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Chicago, llinois
February 16, 2010
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Item 9B Other Information

None

PART Il
ltem 10 Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Information required by this Item 1015 included under the headings “Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” “Nominating and Governance
Committee Matters,” “Audit Committee Matters” and “Section 16{a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Comphance” in our definitive Proxy Statement
for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders scheduled to be held on May 18, 2010 (*2010 Proxy Statement”) All of this information 1s incorporated by
reference inte this Annual Report

The information on our website 1s not, and shall not be deemed to be, a part of this Annual Report or incorporated into any other fiings we make
with the SEC

On June 16, 2009, we filed our Annual CEQ Certification as required by Section 303A 12 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Information required by this Item 111 included under the headings “Compensation Committee Matters,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis”
and “Executive Compensation Tables" in our 2010 Proxy Statement All of this information 1s incorporated by reference into this Annual Report

item 12 Secunty Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The number of shares to be issued upon exercise or vesting of awards issued under, and the number of shares remaining available for future
1ssuance under our equity compensation plans at December 31, 2009 were ‘

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of Securities
Rermaining Avatlable far

Number of Secunties to

be lssued Upon Exercise Weightod Average

of Qutstanding Exorcise Price of Futura Isauance under
Options, Warrants Outstanding Options, Equity Compensation
and Rights {1} Warrants and Rights Plans
Equity compensation plans
approved by secunty holders 52,751,247 % 25 56 94,112 562

(1) Includes vesting of deferred and leng-term incentive plan stock

Information related to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management 1$ 1n our 2010 Proxy Statement under the heading
*Ownership of Equity Secunties,” which 1s incorporated by reference into this Annual Report

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information about certain relationships and related transactions 1s in our 2010 Proxy Statement under the heading “Certain Relationships and
Transactions with Related Persons” and information about director independence 1s 1n our 2010 Proxy Statement under the heading “Corporate
Governance - Director Independence " All of this information 1s incorporated by reference into this Annual Report

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information about our prnincipal accountant fees 1s in our 2010 Proxy Statement under the heading “Audit Committee Matters - Independent
Auditors’ Fees " and information about the Audit Committee's pre-approval policies and procedures 1s in our 2010 Proxy Statement under the
heading “Audit Committee Matters - Pre-Approval Policies ™ All of this information 1s incorperated by reference into this Annual Repornt
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

{a} index to Consohdated Financial Statements and Schedules

Page
Consolhdated Statements of Earnings for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 95
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 and 2008 56
Consohdated Statements of Equity for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 57
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 58
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 59
Report of Managament on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 106
Report of Independent Reqistered Public Accounting Firm 107
Report of Independent Registered Public Accaunting Firm on Financial Statement Schedule 5-1
Financial Statement Schedule-Valuatton and Qualifying Accounts S-2

Schedules other than those listed above have been omitted either because such schedules are not required or are not applcable

(b)

21

22

31

32

33

41

42

101

102

103

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report

RMT Transaction Agreement, among the Registrant, Cable Holdeo, Inc, Ralcorp Hotdings, Inc and Ralcorp Mailman LLC, dated as of
November 15, 2007 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2 1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
November 20, 2007)

Master Sale and Purchase Agreement, between Groupe Danone S A and Kraft Foods Glebal, Inc , dated October 29, 2007
{incorparated by reference to Exhibit 10 4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2007) *

Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form
S8-1 (Reg No 333-57162) filed with the SEC on March 16, 2001)

Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 2 to the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg No 333-57162) filed with the SEC on March 16, 2001)

Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form
8-K filed with the SEC on December 22, 2009)

The Registrant agrees te furnish copies of any instruments defining the nights of holders of long-term debt of the Registrant and its
consolidated subsidianes that does not exceed 10 percent of the total assets of the Registrant and its consclidated subsidianes to the
SEC upon request

Indenture, by and between the Registrant and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas (as successor trustee to The Bank of New York
and The Chase Manhattan Bank), dated as of October 17, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 1 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-3 (Reg No 333-86478) filed with the SEC on Apnl 18, 2002)

Acquisition and Refinancing Bridge Credit Agreement, by and among the Registrant, the initial lenders named therein, Citibank, NA |
Deutsche Bank AG Cayman Islands Branch, and HSBC Secunties (USA) Inc, dated as of November 9, 2009 {incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 89 9 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 4, 2009)

Amendment No 1 to Acquisiion and Refinancing Bridge Credst Agreement, among the Registrant, Citibank, N A and the lenders
named therein, dated as of January 18, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99 1 to the Registrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on January 19, 2010}

Amendment No 2 te Acquisition and Refinancing Bridge Credit Agreement, amang the Registrant, Citibank, N A and the lenders
named therein, dated as of January 29, 2010
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104

105

106

107
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1013

1014

1015

1016
1017

1018

1019

1020

1021
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$4 5 Bilion 3-Year Revolving Credit Agreement, by and among the Registrant, the inthial lenders named therein, Deutsche Bank AG
New York Branch, Citibank, N.A , HSBC Securittes (USA) Inc, Credit Suisse Securties {USA) LLC, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A
dated as of November 30, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 92 10 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on December 4, 2009)

Agreement Relating to United Biscuits Southern Europe, among Kraft Foods International, Inc and United Biscutts Group {Investments)
Urmited, Deluxestar Limited, UB Overseas Limited, UB investments (Netherlands) B V and Nabisco Eurc Holdings LTD, dated as of
July 8, 2006 (iIncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 13
20086)

Master Professional Services Agreement, among Kraft Feods Global, Inc , EDS Information Services L L C and Electronic Data
Systems Corporation, dated as of Apnl 27, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 25 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the guarter ended June 30, 2006) *

Tax Shanng Agreement, by and between the Registrant and Altna Group, Inc , dated as of March 30, 2007 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10 3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 30, 2007)

Kraft Foods Inc Amended and Restated 2005 Performance Ingentive Plan, amended as of December 31, 2009 +
Form of Kraft Foods Inc Amended and Restated 2005 Performance Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Agreemant +
Form of Kraft Foods Inc Amended and Restated 2005 Performance Incentive Plan Non-Qualfied US Stock Option Award Agreement +

Kraft Foods Inc Supplemental Benefits Plan | including First Amendment adding Supplement A) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10 7 to the Registrant's Amendment No 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on May 2, 2001) +

Kraft Foods Inc Supplemental Benefits Plan Il incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 8 to the Registrant's Amendment No 1 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on May 2 2001) +

Form of Employee Grantaor Trust Enroliment Agreement (incorporated by reference te Exhibit 10 26 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K
of Altna Group, Inc for the year ended December 31, 1995) +

Kraft Foods Inc 2006 Stock Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, amended as of December 31, 2008 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10 14 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2009) +

Kraft Foods Inc 2001 Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, amended as of December 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference
to Extubit 10 15 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2008) +

Kraft Foods Inc Change m Control Plan for Key Executives, amended as of December 31, 2009 +

Kraft Executive Deferred Compensaticn Plan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Farm 8-K
filed with the SEC on June 30, 2008) +

Kraft Executive Deferred Compensation Plan Adoption Agreement, amended as of November 3, 2008 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10 18 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27 2009) +

Offer of Employmant Letter, between the Registrant and Irene B Rosenfeld, dated June 26, 2006 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10 29 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006) +

Amendment to Offer of Employment Letter, between the Registrant and Irene B Rosenfeld, amended as of December 31, 2008
{incorporaled by reference to Exhibit 10 20 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2009) +

Offer of Employment Letter, between the Registrant and Timothy R MclLevish, dated August 22, 2007 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10 3 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007) +
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10 22

1023

10 24

1025

10 26
10 27

10 28

1029

10 30

10 31
121

231

311

312

321

1011

Amendment to Offer of Employment Letter, between the Registrant and Timothy R MclLevish, amended as of December 31, 2008
{iIncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 22 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2009) +

Offer of Employment Letter, between the Registrant and Sanjay Khosla, dated December 1, 2006 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10 23 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2009) +

Amendment to Offer of Employment Letter, between the Registrant and Sanjay Khosla, amended as of December 31, 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 24 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2009) +

Offer of Employment Letter, between the Registrant and Michael Osanloo, dated March 10, 2008 {(incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10 25 to the Registrant’'s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2009) +

Amendment to Offer of Employment Letter, between the Registrant and Michael Osanloo, amended as of December 31, 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 26 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2009) +
Offer of Employment Letter, between the Registrant and Michael A Clarke, dated as of December 11, 2008 {incorporated by reference
to 10 27 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2009) +

Form of Indemnsfication Agreement for Non-Emptoyee Directors {incorporated by reference to 10 28 to the Registrant's Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2009) +

Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and Irene B Rosenfeld, dated January 27, 2009 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10 1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 2, 2009) +

Offer of Employment Letter, between the Registrant and W Anthony Vernon, dated June 17, 2009 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10 2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 5, 2008) +

Amendment to Offer of Employment Letter, between the Registrant and W Anthony Vernen, amended as of November 23, 2009 +
Computation of Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Subsidianes of the Registrant

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Certification of the Registrant’'s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14{a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Registrant's Chief Financia! Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certifications of the Registrant's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U S C 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The following matenats from Kraft Foods' Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 20089, formatted in XBRL
(eXtensible Business Reporting Language) () the Consolidated Statements of Earmings, (n) the Consolidated Statements of Equity, {m)
the Consohdated Balance Sheets, (v} the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, {v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
tagged as blocks of text, and (vi) document and entity information

Pursuant to a request for confidential treatment, portions of this exhibit have been redacted from the publicly filed document
and have been furnished separately to the SEC as required by Rule 24b-2 under the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authonzed

KRAFT FOODS INC

By £ R L
(Timothy R McLewish,
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer)

Date February 25, 2010

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, this repert has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and 1n the capacities and on the date indicated

Signature Title Date
{s! |ReNE B. ROSENFELD Director, Chairman and Chief Executive February 25, 2010
{Irene B Rosenfeld) Officer
s/ Tivotny R, McLevisH Executive Vice President and Chief February 25, 2010
{Timothy R McLevish) Ftnancial Officer
fs! Kim Harris JONES Senior Vice President and Corporate February 25, 2010
{Kim Harns Jones) Controller
S B Director February 25 2010
(Ajaypal S Banga)
M, H, Director February 25, 2010
(Myra M Hart)
Director February 25, 2010
{Lois O Juliber)
D, K Director February 25 2010
(Mark D Ketchum)
{s!_RicHarD A, LErnER, M.D, Director February 25 2010
(Richard A Lerner M D)
{s!_Mackey J, McDonalp Director February 25 2010
{(Mackey J McDonald)
{sf_Jonn C. Pope Director February 25, 2010
{John C Pape)
/s! Frepric G. REYNOLDS Director February 25, 2010
(Fredne G Reynolds)
i/ Jean-Francois M.L, van BoXMEER Director February 25, 2010
{Jean-Frangois M L van Boxmeer)
{s{_DesoraH G WrIGHT Director February 25, 2010
(Deborah C Wnght)
{s! Franx G, ZARB Director February 25, 2010
{Frank G Zarb)
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kraft Foods Inc
Our audits of the consolidated financial statements and of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting referred to in our report
dated February 16, 2010 appeanng in the 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K of Kraft Feods Inc also included an audit of the financial statement

schedule hsted in Item 15(a) of this Form 10-K In our opimion, this financial statement schedule presents farrly, in all matenal respects, the
information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements

s/ PricewaTerHouseCooPers LLP

Chicago, lincis
February 16, 2010
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